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PROLOGUE
A

Obi-Wan!* Anakin Skywalker exclaimed when the hologrammic image of Jedi Knight Obi-Wan Kenobi
appeared before him. Anakin had been pacing in his quarters, brooding over why was he consstently
being passed by for his Jedi Trids, the chance to prove he was afull Jedi Knight. The welcome sight of
his teacher lifted Anakin’s mood.

“Anakin,” Obi-Wan said, greeting his Padawan with asmile. “How are you settling in?’
Anakin shrugged. “All right, | guess.”
Obi-Wan' s smile turned wan. They had returned to Coruscant only two standard days earlier, but he

was fully aware of how long two days without action could seem to Anakin. He knew his Padawan
would not be pleased by the news he was about to break. “1 just returned to my quarters from ameeting
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with the Jedi Council,” he said.
Anakin's eyes brightened: ameseting with the Jedi Council must mean anew mission.
“| have an assgnment—"

“Already?’ Anakin interrupted, excited. “We haven't even been debriefed from the last one yet! Must
be im-portant.” He turned away to begin reassembling his gear and clothing.

“Anakin—"

“I’ve barely begun to unpack—I can meet you at the spaceport in an hour.”
“Anakin!” Obi-Wan tried again. “ Anakin!”

Anakin didn’t turn around. “Where should | meset you?’

“ ANAKIN!”

Obi-Wan's shout findly caught Anakin’s attention and he spun about, taken aback by the unusudly
harsh tone. “Master?’

“Sorry | shouted, but you weren't hearing me.”
“Mager?’m ligtening.” Anakin used dl his self-control to stand till and wait.

“Jhave amisson, Anakin. Not us. The Jedi Council issending me done. It' san individua assignment, a
quick in-and-out.”

Anakin was clearly trying not to frown, “What am | supposed to do in the meantime?’ he couldn’t help
asking.

“You'll be debriefed on our last mission, for onething. I’ m trusting that to you.” Obi-Wan sighed.
“When | get back, I’ [l suggest to the Council that you' re ready to begin your trids.”

“Don’'t you mean suggestagain 7’

Ohbi-Wan shook his head. “Firg there was no point, and then there was no time. But as soon as | return,
I'llmake the time—and the Council will listen.”

“Why will they listen then, when up until now they haven’t even wanted to hear?’

“Becausewhile |’ m gone, you' re going to be the modd Jedi Knight. Y ou'll allow them to debrief you,
and then, if I’'m not back yet, you'll hit the archives, looking for any strategiesthat can be deployed in
planning our upcoming battles. Y ou’ re going to show them that you are skilled in aKnight’smost basic
role, aswell asin combat,” Obi-Wan said confidently.

“Study.” Anakin'svoicewasflat. “All right, I'll study.”

“I’ve got confidence in you, Anakin—you know that.”



“Yes” Anakin's expression softened. “1 know you do, Obi-Wan. May the Force be with you.”

Three days later, Anakin Skywalker flipped his data-pad off. He' d spent the time since Obi-Wan had
left in the library studying the campaigns and battles of the Clone Wars—and had discovered afew
possibilities. He headed for the training area. Maybe he could find someone to spar with, to balance his
inactivity.

Thewar was asevere drain on the Jedi resources, and nearly every physically able Jedi was avay from
Coruscant on amission or campaign. Anakin found only one Jedi in thetraining area, Ngjaa Halcyon,
drilling with hislightsaber.

Anakin had met Halcyon once before and found him to be not only intelligent and witty, but dso a
tacticaly sound Jedi. Obi-Wan had assured him hisimpression was accurate. And yet Master Halcyon
had been living in agtate of semi-disgrace after losing his ship,Plooriod Bodkin , to arogue ship’'s
captain he' d been sent to apprehend. Anakin could only wonder how Halcyon had blundered so badly
that his starship was stolen by the rogue he was supposed to arrest; he hadn’t felt right about asking.

Moving with tota focus and concentration, Halcyon was a pleasure to watch. Loath to interrupt him,
Anakin remained on the Sde, waiting for him to pause.

At last Halcyon thumbed hislightsaber off and stood erect. He glanced over at Anakin and grinned.
“Anakin Skywaker! Looking for asparring partner?’

Anakin started briefly. “Y ou honor me,” he said with adight bow.

Ha cyon laughed. “Honor you? That means either you' re surprised | remember your name, or you're
surprised that a Jedi Master is so readily willing to spar with a Padawan he barely knows.”

“Perhaps both?” Anakin grinned back at the older man.

“Of course | remember your name. There are so few Jedi here these days, it’ s easy to remember
everyone. And of course I’'m happy to spar with you. Y ou're freshly out of combat, your reactions are
sharp. I’ ve been gtting idle for quite awhile—I need thetest.” He gestured an invitation, and Anakin
entered the sparring circle.

They faced each other and sa uted, then took position and thumbed their lightsabersto life.

Anakin made the first move, athrust that started high before plunging downward to dip under an
anticipated high parry. The blades of the lightsabers sizzled as Ha cyon easily deflected the thrugt,
laughing when he danced aside.

“You surpriseme,” Halcyon said mock-serioudly.

“That' s such abasic move. I’ d have thought you' d have some new onesfrom being in combat.” He
launched aflurry of thrusts and dices of hisown; Anakin easily parried or deflected al of them.

“Magter Halcyon,” Anakin said when they stepped back, “in afight, one ssldom hastimeto invent new
maneuvers. The tried-and-true movements are usually the most effective.” He reached out with his
lightsaber to touch Halcyon's, then spun thetip of the blade in an unorthodox backhand that would have
cut through Halcyon' sleft shoulder had he not stopped short—and had Halcyon failed to fal back out of
theway intime.



“Very good, Padawan.” Hacyon nodded with approval. “ That was so close I’ m not sure whether or not
it counts asatouch.”

Anakin grinned. “Y ou don’t have timeto invent in afight—but sometimes you have to improvise.”

Then they settled into serious sparring.

Thetwo Jedis' lightsabers flashed and sizzled when the blades struck in thrust and parry. When first one,
then the other found hisway through the other’ s defense, the shimmering light stopped just short of
griking. The two Jedis voicesrang with pleasure a each skillful move,

After an hour of sparring, they stopped by unspoken mutua agreement. Both gleamed with swest. Both
werelaughing.

“Ah, yes,” Halcyon said happily, “a parring partner makes the workouts much, much better.” He eyed
Anakin. “Y ou'revery skillful for someone so young.”

Anakin's eyes sparkled. “Magter Halcyon, | must compliment you onyour skill, which isremarkable for
such an old man who has been sitting idle for so long.”

“Ungrateful pup!” Hacyon snarled, and immediately laughed. “ Shal we do it again tomorrow?’
“Sounds gresat.”

“Sametime, same place.”

“With pleasure.”

Jedi Master and Padawan saluted each other before heading their separate ways to bathe the sweat and
sdtsfrom their tired bodies.

Chapter 1
d 4L

There was no word from General Khamar.

Ice-cold prickles of fear shot up the back of RejjaMomen’sarmsto her scap and then down her spine.
She shivered, then shifted uncomfortably. Thisis no time to panic , she thought.

Everyone else was |ooking to her to remain cam. So she' d come out into the garden early, to relax, to
gather her thoughts and compose hersdlf before meeting with her staff. But it wasn’t working. The
carefully tended little garden nestled peacefully in acourtyard protected from the eements by the
surrounding buildings and a solar dome that could be opened in good weather. Today the dome was
open, letting in fresh air that should have been invigorating, but her nerves were strung too tight. Her staff
were afraid; they thought no news from the south boded ill.
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Eyes closed, Reijatried thinking of home. In five more years, her contract would be up, and she would
head back to Alderaan. Maybe. A breeze wafted in through the dome. It carried with it the aroma of the
native grasses that grew in such profusion on the mesawhere the Intergal actic Communications Center
was located. During the first months of her contract she had thought she was dlergic to the sagebrush,
coughing and sneezing profusdly whenever she emerged from the control complex to ingpect the outlying
facilities, but gradualy she had become accustomed to the pervasive scent. Now she found it pleasant.
Physically, at least, she' d never felt better. It had become a pet theory of hers, not yet verified by medical
science, that prolonged exposure to the grasses of Praesitlyn was good for human physiology.

ReijaMomen had accepted the job as chief adminigtrator of the Intergal actic Communications Center on
Praesitlyn because she liked the work—the handsome salary counted only as a nice bonus. Someone
elsein her position would likely have been thinking of the end of her contract, comfortable retirement
back on Alderaan, perhaps even starting afamily. Though middle-aged, she was still young enough to
think about settling down someday, and she was attractive enough in a handsome, matronly way. But she
was content in her job. With her warm heart, good sense, and solid manageria skills, she had quickly
established afine rgpport with her mixed staff of human and Sluiss technicians. She was the type of
adminigtrator, rare in any gender or species, who exercised her authority as amatter of responsbility, not
out of any sense of pleasure. She worked hard and well because she enjoyed work asan end in itsdlf,
and she treated the people under her more as partnersin ajoint enterprise than as subordinates. And
unlike so many busy bureaucrats, consumed by their sense of self-importance, she knew when and how
to relax.

Start afamily? Well, for dl practica purposes, her staff on Praesitlyn had been her family for the past
seven years, they loved her and they cdled her “MommaMomen.”

Go home? Shewas dready home! I’ Il renew my contract , shethought.If | live that long .

A labor droid, modified to tend the trees and shrubs in the garden, rooted among rumsy bushes nestled
under the stunted kaha treesimported from Talasea years earlier by aprevious chief administrator.
Ordinarily the sound of the droid’ s rustling about in the foliage would have been comforting, but not
today. Reija shifted her position again. She opened her eyes and sighed. Relaxation was out of the
question. Members of her staff were dready filtering into the garden and finding placesto sit—not to
enjoy theinforma midday luncheon that had become atradition in the years she had been chief
adminigtrator, but to get the news, to get their orders. Reijafet abrief flash of anger that their routine was
being interrupted. Not that their luncheons were anything specid—just friends and colleagues enjoying
each other’ s company and engaging in easy conversation over their food—Dbut they were as enjoyable to
the staff astheir regular off-duty tripsto SuisVan.

Today everyone spoke in worried whispers, al earsfor any news from the south. What could shetell
them? Not knowing what was going on there was worse than bad news. Severa standard hours earlier
aninvason fleet had landed approximately 150 kilometersto the southwest of the center.

“Midress,” General Khamar had said in hislast re-port, “two of our starfighters on aroutine patrol over
the ocean just off the coast have engaged alarge number of hostile craft. The arborne control ship that
was monitoring the patrol has been shot down, but before we lost contact with it, the crew reported a
large droid army landing. The invaders don’t appear to be as numerous as my own command, but they
may be just an advance party preparing afoothold for alarger force. Either way, we have to destroy
them without delay. I’'m taking my main force overland to attack them.”

“How bigistheir fleet?” she had asked.



“Severd transports and capitd ships, nothing we can’'t handle. Should we need reinforcements, which |
doubt, SuisVan will supply them.”

“Wouldn't it be prudent to call for them now, just in case?”’

Khamar grunted. “We shdl if we need to, but it wouldn’t be good tacticsto cal for reinforcements
before we know the extent of the enemy threst. I'll leave a detachment here under Commander Llanmore
to provide security for the center.” A gruff Cordllian, Khamar was a professond soldier, and Reija
trusted hisjudgment. The young Commander Llanmore she especidly liked; she couldn’t help smiling at
theair of military punctiliousness he adopted when in her presence. She saw right through him, of course.
To her hewas one of the many sons she had never had.

But for the past hour she had received no word from General Khamar. If thiswas an dl-out attempt by
the Separatists to seize the communications center, her comfortable little world on Praesitlyn was coming
to an end.

The solar dome that roofed the garden dammed shut without warning. Therewasabright flash and a
deafening roar. Heart in her throat, Reijajumped to her feet and ran back inside the main control room.
Slith Skadl, the Suiss chief of the communications aff, Sdled up beside her. She had never seen the
methodical cresture move so quickly or look so worried.

“IsKhamar returning?’ Reljaasked hesitantly. She glanced about the control room. Normally it wasa
place of quiet confidence, techniciansworking intently at their stations, droids quietly going about their
tasks. But not now.

“No, Migtress” Slith answered. “It isstrangers.” He swayed nervoudy. “I believeit isanother invasion
force. | ordered the dome closed when the first ship landed. | beg your forgivenessif you were startled.
What are your orders?’

Reljahad grown very fond of Slith over the yearsthey’ d been together on Praesitlyn. Under hiscam,
unruffled exterior lived adevoted and compass onate being. And she knew she could count on him now.
The control room was in chaos. Technicians babbled among themsalves, working their instruments
franticaly. A deep-throated roar rumbled through the facility. She could fed the vibrationsin the floor

pandls.

“A large number of shipsare landing below the mesa,” atechnician said with an edge to hisvoice that
told Reija he was on the verge of panic.

“Quiet, everybody! Listento me,” she cdled loudly and firmly. It wastime to make order out of this
confusion. “Everyone take your places and listen.” Her cam, controlled demeanor had the desired effect.
Peo-ple stopped babbling and took their seats. “Now,” she said, turning to Slith, “send an dert to
Coruscant and—"

“| dready have,” the Suiss answered. “ The transmission was blocked.”

“That’ snot possible!” she said, startled.

“Evidently itis,” Slith answered matter-of-factly. He wasjust reporting the fact, not debating it. “What
areyour orders, please?’ he repeated.



Reijawas slent for amoment. “ Commander LIanmore?’

“I am here, Migtress.” Llanmore, wearing hisbody armor and fully armed, stepped up and drew himsalf
to attention beside her.

“What is hgppening out there?” The control room had gone completely slent, al eyes saring intently at
the two.

“A large droid force has landed below the mesa,” Llanmore answered in precise, clipped tones. “We
cannot hope to hold out againgt them without immediate reinforcement, and—" He hesitated. “—that will

not happen.”
“Any word from Generd Khamar?’

“No, Migtress, and—" Llanmore' s voice caught. “We must assume that he is—he has been defeated.”

Reljaconddered for amoment. “Very well then. Somehow the invaders are blocking our transmissions.
Generd Khamar cannot help us. We cannot resst. Listen to me, everyone! We cannot |et this complex
fdl into theinvaders hands.” She paused for amoment to gather hersalf before announcing an order
she' d never dreamed she' d haveto give. “ Destroy your equipment.”

Quickly she began ingructing individua technicians, directing them to disable specific pieces of
equipment first. But it would take time; they had never prepared for such an emergency, nor did they
have the meansto ensure the rapid and total destruction the Situation now dictated. “ Commander.”

“Yes, Mistress?’

The only signthat Reijawasat al nervouswasasmal rill of perspiration dowly escaping from under her
hair by the side of her right eyebrow. “ Can you delay the invaders? All we need isafew minutes.”

“I cantry.” Llanmore was dso perspiring faintly, but he turned sharply on his hed and left the control
room. Thelast she saw of him was his ramrod-straight back as he marched steadfastly back to his
command. Shewas afraid she' d just sent the young man off to his death.

“Get busy!” she ordered the technicians, many of whom had stopped to listen to her conversation with
LIanmore. Why, she thought, had no one ever made any emergency destruction plansfor a contingency
like this? The Intergd actic Communications Center was vital to the Republic, and itsfacilities could not
be dlowed to fal into enemy hands.

From outside on the mesa came the crashing roar of weaponry. Llanmore was engaging the invaders.
Rejafelt arisng sense of despair. Her comfortable world was at an end.

Chapter 2

Count Dooku wishes a status report, Tonith.*

The Muun commander of theinvasion force, Admira Pors Tonith, quietly spped his dianogan teaand
smiled, ostensibly ignoring the disrespect clear in the way Commander Asgjj Ventress addressed him.
“He has the complete battle plan, Ventress,” hereplied easily, showing her the exact samelevel of
disrespect. He st his cup on anearby sideboard. “| gave it to him before | left. He knowsthat oncel
have developed aplan | carry it out. That iswhy he chose meto lead this campaign.” He smiled amiably,



purple-stained lips parting to reveal matching purple teeth and black gums—an effect of thetea. The
temporary stain was an indignity Tonith waswilling to suffer in order to savor the exquidte aroma, flavor,
and mildly narcotic effect of the tea brewed from achemica substance found in the spleens of the
dianoga. Besides, he was commander of avast invasion fleet: no sentient being would dare laugh at him,
and droids had no sense of the ridiculous.

Ventress sexpression didn’t change, but her dark eyes flashed through the HoloNet transceiver like two
burn-ing cods. “A planisnot astatus report,” shereplied, her voice even. She was not used to being
talked down to, especidly not by thisbloodless financier suddenly turned military commander.

Tonith sighed dramaticaly. He considered the assassin an interloper in strategic affairs that were beyond
her primitive grasp of thered art of military command and planning. But she was Dooku'’ s protegee, and
he had to tread carefully. “Redly, | cannot command this expedition if | am to be interfered with
by—by...” He shrugged and reached for histeacup.

“Thereport?’ sheingsted.
“I am extremely busy just now.”

“Make your report. To me. Now.” Her voice cut through the vast distances like the lightsabers she was
reputed to wield so expertly.

Tonith sat up straight and folded his handsin hislap. Actudly, hefound this V entress woman rather
attractive. He felt they had something in common: she, aruthlesswarrior; he, aruthless planner and
schemer. When Tonith thought of women, which was not often, he preferred them with ahead of hair,
but Ventress s baldness was not totally unattractive. She radiated power and confidence, even viathe
transceiver. He respected that. “\We would make agood team,” he said. “1 could use your help.”

She sneered. “Little one, if | were to come out thereit wouldn't be to help you, it would be to replace
you as commander. But the Count has more important businessfor me just now. Stop wasting my time
and make that report.”

Tonith shrugged languidly and bowed to the in-evitable. “ Aswe speak, afleet of one hundred twenty-six
ships,” he said, “seventy-five of them capitd ships, isinvesting SuisVan to block any reinforcements
from that sector. | am at this very moment landing aforce of fifty thousand bettle droids on Praesitlynina
feint to divert the garrison from the I nterga actic Communications Center. When that operation isfully
under way, | will land the main force, composed of, give or take, amillion battle droids, crush the
defendersin a containment maneuver, and capture the center intact. | have two hundred shipsin my
invasion flegt. This operation cannot possibly fail. | guarantee you that within twenty-four standard hours
of the commencement of Operation Case White, Praesitlyn will be ours. Wewill it firmly astride the
communications link that connects the worlds of the Republic. Our forceswill be poised at this strategic
crossroads to strike without warning at any of the Republic’ salies. Most important, our control of
Praesitlyn will be avibroblade thrust directly at Coruscant itself.” He stabbed hisarm forward ashe
spoke. “Thisisthe move that will win thewar for us,” he concluded, aconfident smirk on his
purple-stained lips. “ They’ll never know what hit them, those technicians down there and their security
forces. They’ll soon al be dead—or be assets belonging to us.” He sat back and sipped at histea.

Ventress did not seem impressed. “ The electronic countermeasures suite?”

“Fully operationd. The center tried to dispatch a pan-galactic distress signa abrief while ago, but it was
successfully blocked.” He smiled, showing his purple teeth and black gums.



“The gedth suite? Y our fleet is undetected? Y ou have achieved tactica surprise?’
“Yes. Not just tactical surprise, but strategic surprise, not to put too fineapoint on it.”

“Very well. Count Dooku will require regular updates as your campaign progresses. Y ou will make them
to me, 0 get used to it now.”

“Yes” Tonith answered, hisvoice tinged with false resgnation, making clear that he thought he was
succumbing to a nuisance he could do without. He had never met Ventressin person, but he had heard
she was adeadly opponent in individua combat. That didn’t worry him in the least. Only stupid people
lost fights. He was not stupid. Where awarrior like Ventress could cut down an opponent with lightning
gpeed, Tonith cut down his enemies by outsmarting them. That was why Count Dooku had given him this
command. Hewouldn't waste histimein individua combat or expose himsalf to possible harm—that was
what droids were for. He would command and he would win.

“By theway, I’m impressed by your interesting dental work,” Ventress said.

Caught completely off guard, Tonith didn’t immediately know how to reply. Was shefooling with him or
was she serious? He might haveto reevauate his estimation of her leve of intelligence. “I thank you,” he
sad at last, bowing at the hologram. “And | compliment you on your unusud choice of hairstyle.”

Ventress nodded, and her image vanished.

Pors Tonith was one of the most successful products of one of the InterGalactic Banking Clan’s most
ruthless families. For him, life was constant struggle and competition. He approached business asif it
werewar. For generationsit had been hisfamily’ s practice to consummate hostile takeovers of
companies, wholeworldsif need be, by the use of force. Tonith had reduced these unpleasant maneuvers
to an at—amilitary art.

Tonith did not present avery warlike figure. His height—he was over two meterstal—and his painfully
thin physique and sallow complexion gave him a corpsdike gppearance; hislong, equine face and blazing
black eyes st in a skull-like head heightened this cadaverous aspect so that meeting him suddenly ina
darkened companionway aboard theCor pulentus , hisflagship, often gave his crew quite astart.

Count Dooku had picked Tonith to lead the force against Praesitlyn because of his proven ability asa
planner. Commanding an army of droidswas more like playing a game than engaging in actual combet.
Living soldiers bled and died, had to be fed, experienced morale problems, knew fear and all the other
emotions common to beings who could think. And though some might fed that using adroid army to
inflict pain and degth on aforce composed of sentient beings was another matter, Tonith not only looked
upon a battlefield dry-eyed, but found sustenance, meaning, and sublime purpose in the destruction of his
enemies,

Pors Tonith not only looked like a corpse, but deep down inside him, where other beings had
consciences, he was dead.

Chapter 3



4L

Nejaa Ha cyon was doing stretching exercises when Anakin Skywalker walked into the training area.

“I hope you're ready for aworkout,” Halcyon said in greeting.

“After the workout I’ ve been giving my brain, I'’m more than ready for aphysical workout, Master
Halcyon,” Anakin replied. “I fed the need to take it out on somebody.”

Halcyon laughed and gave alast stretch before drawing hislightsaber from hisbelt. “Before you try to
take anything out on anybody, you' d better loosen up, or you' re going to be in too much pain to defend
yourself.” He grinned. “ Or maybe that’ swhat you want, to be too uncomfortable tomorrow to go back

tothelibrary.”
“I did my stretching on theway here,” Anakin said as he put his cloak aside and drew hislightsaber.

Ha cyon sparred better than he had the first day, but so did Anakin. In the end, the Jedi Master bowed
to the Padawan.

“You do very well. | need a sparring partner even morethan I’d realized.” He shook his head sadly.

“Who would have believed that a mere Padawan could best me with alightsaber?’” Then he smiled.
“Shdl wedo it again tomorrow?’

“I look forward to it even more than | looked forward to today,” Anakin answered with abroad grin.

They sparred again the next day, and the next, and the day after that. Each day, each improved, and
each surprised the other with new moves and tricks.

After thefirg few daysthey didn't immediately part company when their sparring was over, but sat and
talked. The next day they talked for alonger time. And the day after that, they dined together.

“Ohi-Wan speaks highly of you, you know,” Halcyon commented as they were relaxing over dessert.

“Y ou know Obi-Wan?’ Anakin asked, surprised.

“We'reold friends,” Halcyon said, nodding. “He sagreat one, Obi-Wan is. And very powerful in the
Force. | believe he'll become amember of the Jedi Council one day. Y ou' re fortunate to have him as

your Magtex.”

Anakin's chest swelled with pride, then deflated just as quickly. “Maybe he’ stoo great.”

Ha cyon cocked his head. “What do you mean?’

“Hethinks my progress sometimes seemsto be dow. Perhaps he’ stoo grest, too busy to properly train
rre”

Ha cyon barked out alaugh that made nearby diners turn to look—but when they saw that hewasa


file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_2
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#contents
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_4

Jedi, their expressions of disgpprova vanished and they returned to their own meals and conversations.

“Maybe you' re too impatient. But mostly, your progressisn’t asfast asit might be because you' re too
busy fighting inawar. What you need isfor thiswar to end. Then you'll be surprised at how rapidly your
progressis recognized.”

“Doyouredly think so?’

“Assureas| know that nobody has ever impressed Obi-Wan with their potential as much asyou have.”
Anakin shook hishead. “Then why am | gtill a Padawan? WEe re fighting amgjor war, and | could do
moreto help winit! I'm good enough to go on small missions, I’ m good enough to fight under someone

else’'scommand, but they think I’m not good enough to handle my own command!”

“Oh, you' re good enough,” Halcyon said. “I’ ve watched you and listened to you these past few days,
and | definitdy think you' re good enough.”

Anakin reached out with his prosthetic hand and clamped onto Halcyon’ s forearm. “Would you speak
to the Council for me, Master Halcyon?’ he asked earnestly.

Hacyon’ s shoulders dumped. “ Anakin, right now, the only way the Council would listen to meisto
decide againgt whatever | recommend.” He shook his head again. “No, having me speak to them for you
would be counterproductive.” He cleared histhroat. “1’m sure the Council isaware of your abilities.
You'll begin your Trialswhen you are ready, Anakin.”

“We Il see,” Anakin Skywalker replied, unconvinced.

Chapter 4
d 4L

Luck, good or bad, isthe great unknown factor in war. Often the outcome of battles, the fate of entire
worlds, isdetermined by luck.

It was luck of one sort or the other that placed Lieutenant Erk H’ Arman of the Praesitlyn defense force
and his Torpil T-19 starfighter on patrol along the southern coast of the continent on which the

I nter-gal actic Communications Center was located, about 150 kilometers from the center itself, when the
inva-son began. He and hiswingmate were cruising at aleisurely 650 kilometers per hour at twenty
thousand meters. For the Torpil T-19, 650 kph was dmost standing till.

“Looks like abig sandstorm down there,” Erk’ swingmate, Ensign Pleth Strom, commented. Neither
pilot bothered to scan the terrain beneath the raging storm with his onboard surveillance suite. A sormis
agsormisastorm—nothing they hadn’t seen many times before. “ Hate to have to do aforced landing in
that suff.”

Starfighter pilots considered atmospheric flying the worst possible waste of their skills, and both men
claimed at every possible opportunity that their tour with the Praesitlyn defense force was aform of
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punishment for some unspecified transgression. It wasn't, of course, but rather the luck of the assgnment
system: their numbers had come up, that was dl, asthey knew perfectly well. But if hotshotslike Erk and
Pleth weren't showing what they could do by taking on the entire Separatist fleet, they complained about
being misused by their commanders.

Flying a high-performance fighter in an atimospheric environment was alot different from piloting the
same machine in the vacuum of space and, in truth, required arange of skillsno lessimpressive. Inan
atmosphere, a pilot was subjected to g forces, air drag on hisor her machine, and fatd mafunctions
caused by high-flying creatures that got sucked into afighter’ s power system and gummed it up, not to
mention what would happen if aflock of the things penetrated a cockpit while the craft wastraveling a a
thousand kph.

The worst aspect of combat in an atmospheric environment was that the great speed and
maneuverability of their craft often could not be used, because most of their combat missonswould bein
acloseair-support role for ground forces. Even the gaudy paint jobs that aces tended to affect on their
craft had to be abandoned for ground-support missions. While al kinds of stealth measureswere
availablefor usein space, in an atmosphere the fighters had to be invisible to the naked eye; they were
coated with a sdf-camouflaging substance so that to ground observers or fliers at higher dtitudes they
blended in with the sky above or the ground below.

Erk and Pleth were more than just good pilots who could fly in al conditions. Others might also be good
pilots, able to master thescience of flight, make the same number of landings as takeoffs, exercise good
reflexes, and remain in touch with their shipswhilein flight, attuned to every nuance of their onboard
systems. But pilots like Erk and Pleth were greet pilotswho “wore” their shipslike comfortable old
boots, or asecond skin, using their machines as an extension of their own bodies and wills. In short, they
had mastered theart of flight.

“I hate to land anywhere on thisblasted rock,” Erk said with alaugh. He consulted his planetary
navigational chart. “Nothing here even hasaname! That's‘ Area Sixty-two, South Continent.” You'd
think someone would have taken the trouble to give the places names. Now down there could be * Desert
Delite;” and back at base it could be—"

“Jenth Grek Five One, cut the chatter. Thisisacombat patrol. And please, get off the guard channe!!
Go to eight-point-six-four.” A thousand kilometers avay, high over the ocean—another geographic
feature that had no name—"“Waterboy,” the petite ensign on board JG51’ s airborne control ship, smiled.
She knew both Erk and Pleth well and knew they were talking over the open channe just so she would
butt in. Channel 8.64 was the discreet encrypted frequency, a scrambled freq that hopefully no potentia
enemy could intercept. Regulations gtrictly forbade pilots to go to an open channel when on acombat
mission, except in an emergency, but there never were any emergencies, because nothing ever happened
on Praesitlyn. And because duty there was so boring, commanders turned adesf ear to the shenanigans
of hotshots like Erk and his wingmate when they violated military protocol.

“Copy, switching to eight-point-six-four,” Erk said laconicaly, “and begging you to have abeer with us
tonight, Waterboy.”

“She said, cut the chatter, JG Five One,” a strong male voice interrupted.

“Copy thet, r,” Erk replied, trying—and failing— to inject the gppropriate inflection of contrition into
hisvoice.

“... gpproaching!” the female voice shouted in the next ingtant.



“Waterboy, repest that transmission,” Erk requested, frowning. In switching channels he had missed the
first part of her message, but he thought he' d heard anote of panic in the controller’ svoice.

“Marks, lots of them!” Pleth shouted at the same instant Erk’ swarning system buzzed.

Now Erk saw them, aswarm of tri-droids emerging at great speed from that cloud of “dust” on the
surface. Ingtantly Erk became afunctioning component of hisfighter. “Arming,” he reported casudly.
“Break to starboard,” he ordered Pleth. He put his machine into ahaf roll and commenced asteep dive
to port. The T-19 could reach atop velocity of twenty thousand kph, but he knew he would not need
that much speed to perform the maneuver that instantly came to mind.

Erk’ sfighter flashed through the approaching formation of enemy ships. Severd fired a him asheroared
groundward. At two thousand meters, with the enemy ships now far above him and no targetsin his
sghts,

Erk threw his ship into astegp climb. His anti-g couch successfully protected him from losing
consciousness. As soon as histarget acquisition system ranged in on the enemy fighters, his blaster
cannons began pumping lethd boltsinto their underbellies as he gpproached from astern. He had less
than a second to acquire and fire at atarget, and still enemy ships exploded al around him as he flew
through their formation and soared far aboveit. Herolled his ship to starboard and plummeted through
the fighters again, blossoming severd into bright balls of flame. He had lost sght of Pleth.

Confused by Erk’slightning attack, the tri-droids quickly formed a protective circle at fifteen thousand
meters. Erk laughed out loud. He came up under them again, firing at very close range asthefird target
vanished beneath the nose of hisfighter. He continued his climb, rolled inverted, and came down behind
another target, which aso disgppeared in aball of flame.

“Your six!” Pleth warned suddenly. High-energy bolts lanced past Erk’ s cockpit from astern. Either
some fighters had broken away from the defensive circle, or another flight had come up to join thefirg.
Erk ingtantly went into an inverted roll, pulled hard into avertical dive, and pulled out in the opposite
direction from his attackers. He climbed back up and took them from astern. Both exploded.

“Too many of them!” Pleth shouted.

“Copy that,” Erk replied camly.

“... break... Waterboy...”

“Say again, Waterboy,” Erk said in response to the garbled call from the controller aircraft. He switched
to the guard channel. “Waterboy, say again your last transmission on guard.” He knew someone on the
ship would be monitoring the guard channel.

“...goingin,” afemae voicereplied camly, and then there was nothing but Setic.

Erk switched back to the scrambled frequency. “Head for home, Pleth. Waterboy is down, repest,
Waterboy isdown.”

Since they were only 150 kilometers from base, Erk descended to within meters of the surface, where
the enemy craft would have difficulty tracking them againgt the ground clutter, and gave hisengines
power. They would be back at base in less than sixty seconds, muster the rest of the squadron, and



return to do per-manent damage to theinvaders fighter screen and the landing party. At last, something
was happening on Praesitlyn!

Erk had accounted for ten of the enemy fightersin adogfight that lasted only one minute from beginning
to end, an impressive score for any pilot. But Lieutenant H' Arman was bold when he had to be and
cautious when caution was caled for, and now caution was being caled for loud and clear. It wastimeto
head back to the farm, rearm, and return in force. He had been so involved in the dogfight, however, that
he' d had no time to gather useful intelligence on the strength of the enemy force or itsintentions.

“Bad luck about Waterboy,” Pleth said. They were both thinking of that young ensign.
Yeah, Erk thought,very bad luck. * * *

Skill, not luck, had brought Odie Subu and her speeder bike undetected to a spot just behind the crest
of aridge where she could observe the enemy landing force deploying on the plain below. Shewasa
member of areconnaissance platoon General Khamar had spread out before hisarmy to develop
intelligence about the enemy landing force. The orbita surveillance system had been destroyed or was
being dectronicaly jammed, and the recon drones the defense force had sent out earlier had failed to
report. Even communications with the army’ s main force were being successfully jammed— only
short-range, line-of-sight transmissions viatactical communications nets were possible. So Generd
Khamar wasforced to rely exclusively on hisliving recon detachments.

Odielay prone beside her speeder, just below the military crest of theridge. Shelifted her faceplate to
wipe perspiration from her forehead. Her face was burned a dark red from constant exposure to wind,
sun, and sand, but the area around her eyes, protected from the elements by the faceplate, had remained
perfectly white. She ran thetip of her tongue over her parched lips. Water? No, no timefor that now.

Inside her helmet atiny voice whispered, “Droids.” It was another soldier from her squad, deployed
somewhere farther down the ridge from her position. The recon trooper was too excited by what he saw
to use proper comm procedure and, because of the distortion caused by al the jamming equipment in
use, shedidn’t recognize hisvoice. Probably Tami, she thought. But they were al excited. Except for
Sergeant Makx Maganinny, the recon squad leader, thiswould be their first taste of combat. Evidently
Tami had aready been able to bring his electrobinoculars to bear and was directly observing the
assembling army below the ridge. From her position, Odie could clearly hear the roar of landing ships
and the rumble of heavy equipment rolling into position.

Cautioudy she crawled to the top of the ridge and deployed her eectrobinoculars, making delicate
adjustments. Suddenly a sharp image of thousands and thousands of battle droids leapt into view. The
screen readout indicated arange of 1,250 meters. Odie’ s TT-4 binocs, the only pair in the squad, began
recording images that would be invaluable to General Khamar when she got back—ifshe got back—to
the main body. Given the cost of the data cards that recorded the hologram images, only one set of
TT-4s had been issued to each squad. Sergeant Maganinny had given her this pair because shewasthe
best rider he had.

“It'll probably never happen,” he had told her, “but if the comm bresks down or getsjammedina
tactical gtuation, we'll need someone who can ride like the wind to get the word back to battalion, and
that’ s you, young soldier.” The old noncom had smiled and rested his hand on her shoulder. “ Remember
this. In real war the best plan evaporates soon asthefirst shot’ sfired. Could be you on that speeder of
yours could save the whole army one day.”

“Lotsof them!” Tami whispered.



Odi€' s heart began to besat faster. She had never seen redl fighting machines up this close. Rills of
nervous perspiration rolled down from her forehead and dripped off thetip of her nose. She felt
nauseated, but she kept the el ectrobinoculars steadily focused on the scene below, dowly sweeping back
and forth as she' d been trained to do.

“Use proper procedure and keep the comm open!” Sergeant Maganinny grunted.

Every second any portion of Odi€’ s head remained exposed above the ridgeline upped the chance that
an enemy survelllance device would spot her and she' d befired at. Her heart wasracing like abeamdrill.
Another ship landed on avast plume of fire and smoke. Huge clouds of dust roseinto the air to obscure
the craft. She increased magnification to reved any markings on the landing ship.

Ker-whump! Aconcussion wave like the side of aWookiee' s hand dgpped up against the left side of
Odie' shdmet from ahit ahundred meters down the ridge from her position. Momentarily theimagein
her electrobinoculars blurred. A huge cloud of dust rose up from the impact area, and even thisfar avay
shewas pdted with faling dirt and stones. Other hits began impacting al around her and then shewas
being buffeted left and right. Her body shook like arag; the concussions were so powerful, the breath
whooshed out of her lungs. The entire ridgeline exploded in huge gouts of fire and dirt. Thetactical
channd insde her hemet erupted with screams and shouts. Someone began to wail in a high-pitched
wavering screech, and suddenly Odieredlized it was her! But she never took the el ectrobinoculars from
her eyes. Even if she couldn’t see anything, they could till record valuable data. She could fed moisture
gathering ingde her suit. Wasit blood or—?

Someone cursed foully over the comm. Only Sergeant Maganinny talked like that. “ Get out!” he yelled.
Thetransmission ended in apainful grunt. That was dl Odie needed to get going. She dithered back
down theridge, carefully put the precious e ectrobinoculars with their invaluable recordings ingde their
case, and righted her speeder. It had been knocked over by the explosions but was otherwise

undameged.

The speeders used by the recon squad were not made for military purposes, but were acivilian version
that the military techs on the Praesitlyn defense force had modified—yet another economy measure that
the force had been required to adopt. If the enemy had speeder scouts riding 74-Zs and they came after
her she would bein trouble—her speeder was no match for the 74-Z with its high maneuverability,
speed, armor plate, and onboard wegpons. All she had with which to defend herself was ahand blaster.
But Odie knew the ground between here and Generad Khamar’ sarmy, and she could use that to
advantage if she were pursued by ground troops, or even by aircraft.

She dso had another advantage: she could outride almost anyone in the galaxy. When Odie mounted a
Speeder she turned into someone else. Often, traveling at top speed in training exercises, she could not
even remember making course corrections, they came so naturaly to her. Her comrades marveled at her
skill asarider. In the many long months she had been assigned to the defense force on Praesitlyn she had
honed her naturd skillsto afine point. Armiestrain and train some more to keep their fighting skills sharp.
Soldiers complain about their training bitterly, even asthey go through the sequences they know will save
their livesin combat. But Odie loved every moment of it.

The run she was about to attempt was what she lived for.
Using the ridge behind her as cover, she roared off at top speed, 250 kph, hugging the ground contour,

lessthan ameter aboveit. At that speed, S0 close to the ground, even the dightest mistake could spell
disaster. About akilometer from the ridgeline she drove into a deep arroyo and reduced her speed.



Suddenly her heart froze: just above her but out of sight over the lip of the canyon she heard the roar of
another speeder bike. Her practiced ear told her the bad news: it was not one of hers. Shepulledto a
stop in the deep shadows beside the canyon wall and took off her helmet to hear better. The only sound
was the pulsing of the blood in her own veins. the other speeder had stopped.

Carefully, she eased her blaster out of its holster. Because of her very small hands, Odie had asked army
ordnance technicians to modify the weapon for her grip. They’ d removed the scope and emitter nozzleto
permit aquicker draw and reduced the length of the barrel, which lightened the weapon considerably.
They’ d narrowed the grip and installed a smaller power pack so her fingers could get a better hold on the
wegpon. A three-dot iron sight system replaced the cumbersome scope.

All this made the blaster much lighter and easier to draw, but its effective range in the hands of an
ordinary shooter was reduced from twenty-five meters to only ten—but Odie was no ordinary shooter.
The other members of her platoon had good-naturedly ribbed

Odie about her “popgun” because the smaller power pack reduced the number of shotsit could fire, and
they ddightedly pointed thisfact out to her. But an old ordnance sergeant had told her, “If the first shot
counts, you don't need dl that firepower the bigger models have. Let those guys blast avay with their
hand cannons.”

The techs had proudly described their reworked blaster asa* belly gun,” to be used only at very close
range. Even firing it one-handed, however, Odie had learned to hit targets out to Sixty meterswith
impressive accuracy and after that display her comrades’ jibes had turned to respect. Accurate shooting
with a hand weapon requires good hand-eye coordination, and that was atalent Odie had plenty of. But
reconnai ssance troops weren't intended to engage the enemy in firefights anyway, and the modified pistol
wasjust what she needed to travel light and fast.

Odie dung her helmet behind her. She shook out her short brunette hair. It was damp with perspiration
and gritty with sand. From here on she' d need 360 degrees of visibility, and since she was now probably
completely on her own, communications didn’t matter. Safety off her blaster and her finger off the trigger,
she drove her speeder with one hand, easing it forward cautioudy. Ahead, the ground rose steeply. She
paused, looking up the dope, over ajumble of falen rock, to where the canyon rose to the surface.

She came out of the canyon at two hundred kph. A trooper sat on aspeeder bike right in front of her.
She snapped one shot at his center of mass but didn’t wait to see the bolt dam into him and knock him
completely off his speeder. Ingtantly she wondered if she should return and take hisvehicle, but her
training took over, and that saved her life. She zigged sharply to the left and then back to theright just as
ahigh-energy bolt zapped over her shoulder, fired by a second trooper she hadn’t seen off to one side.
He roared after her. With its superior speed his machine shot past in ablur of speed. He made atight
turn and came charging straight back at her. She stopped abruptly and fired, but missed as he flashed by.
The trooper’ s shot went far wide. She could have sworn he grinned as he passed her.

A hundred meters ahead rose ajagged rock formation weathered into ajumble of bantha-sized boulders
that extended severd kilometersin the direction Odie wanted to travel. She had noted the formation on
the way out from the main body of the army. She drove her speeder into it and hid behind ahuge
boulder, waiting to ambush the trooper if he was stupid enough to comein after her. Hewasn't.
Something flashed overhead. It was the military speeder, traveling at top speed about twenty-five meters
above the rocks—too fast for her to get off ashot.

The shadows had begun to lengthen. She glanced at her wrist chrono. Not too long until sunset. If she
could stay concealed among the rocks until full dark, her chances of getting out would be somewhat



improved. But that was not an option. The intelligence she had gathered had to get back to headquarters
quickly. She had to operate on the assumption that she was the only rider to have survived the attack.
She' d have to chance making another bresk for it. It would already be dark by the time she made it
back.

She moved farther forward into the rock formation, cautioudly edging her speeder ahead at dow speed.
A series of huge boulders blocked her path. She could see no way around them and dared not take a
chance of going over even if her speeder could make the height. The only way through wasviaagap
about fifteen meterswide. It was very dark inside the passageway. She hesitated. Ambush alley , she
thought. The hairs on the backs of her arms bristled and a cold chill worked itsway down her backbone.
She took a deep bresth and entered the narrow declivity.

The shadows deepened into twilight between the rocks, plunging some areas into near-total darkness.
Odie considered putting her helmet back on so she could take advantage of its night-vision function, but
regjected that idea. She just felt encumbered wearing it. Slowly, she moved farther into the darkness,
carefully skirting or riding over obstructions.

Her heart suddenly skipped a beat. Wasthat anoise off to the left in that patch of darkness? She froze
and reached for her blaster.

“Freezel” avoice commanded. The trooper stepped out of the shadows, holding ablaster aimed directly
a her chest. “Don’t move,” he ordered.

Odie leaned forward, preparatory to making abreak for it, and the trooper fired awarning blast in front
of her. Inthe brief flash of light she was surprised to see another figure lurking in some shadows just a
little way behind the trooper, heading toward him. Two of them? The trooper’ s head turned dightly in the
direc-tion of the gpproaching figure. At the sameingtant thefigurefired his blaster, Odie gunned her
speeder forward. Amazingly, the blaster bolt was aimed not at her but at the other trooper, who
staggered back into the shadows, ajagged, steaming holein his chest.

“Odiel” aman’s harsh voice called out. She applied the brakes ingtantly. She’ d know that voice
anywhere— it was Sergeant Maganinny! He staggered toward her, hisblaster hanging loosely in one
hand. Evenin the dim light she could see that he was hurt. The flesh on the left Sde of hisface hungin
loose strands and hisleft ear was gone, the hair on that side of his head burned away. And by the way he
was limping, she could tell that he' d sustained other wounds, aswell.

He swayed in front of her, atwisted smile on hisface. “ Good to see you again,” he rasped.

“Sergeant Maganinny!” Odie dismounted from her speeder and helped him into astting position on the
ground.

“1 thought—I think they got everyone else. My speeder—" He paused to catch his breath and gestured
behind him. “1 thought it was dl over for us, kid,” he said.

143 %.ge_n

He shook hishead. “My faceisn’t asbad asit looks. I1t' s mostly superficial. Leave mehere. Y ou can
send help. Get back to HQ.”

“No.” Odie shook her head firmly. “Y ou can ride with me. | won't leave you here.”



“Look, trooper,” he said, anote of the old noncom command presence cregping back into hisvoice,
“you do what—"

“No.” She put ahand under hisarmpit and helped him to hisfeet. “We can ride tandem. It' |l be dark
soon and we can use the terrain to cover us.”

Maganinny groaned, partly from the pain of hiswounds, but partly because he was too wesk to argue.
“Onething, though, trooper,” he said. “I’m not riding with any soldier who'sout of uniform.”

HWI,H?!
“Get your helmet on,” he said.
Odie gtared a himin disbelief for an ingtant, and then they both burst into hysterica laughter.

Generd Khamar turned to his chief of saff. “Let’s move. We can take these droids. Get our armored
infantry and artillery onto this high ground here—" He jabbed afinger at athree-dimensiond terrain map.
“Digin. Get them to cometo us. Hit them with every fighter we ve got right now to cover our advance.”
Heturned to his saff officers. “If we get to that high ground first, we can hold them.” The officers
dispersed to their various commands to issue the necessary orders and get the army on the move.

Odie had stood quietly at attention while the generd and his staff used the information she had gathered
to plan their attack. She wondered about the fate of her comrades, none of whom had been heard from.
She struggled to control the lump in her throat when she redlized they were probably dead. Occasionally
someone would nod at her, or give her athumbs-up gesture, and these silent acknowledgments hel ped
soften the sorrow she felt—and the physical exhaustion that was now taking over—by causing her chest
to swell with pride.

At last Khamar turned to her. “ At ease, trooper. Y ou are one brave soldier, and pretty lucky to boot.”

She had never been this close to high-ranking officers before and was impressed at the quiet efficiency
with which they laid their plans. Now the generd himsalf wastaking directly to her! She had not been
ableto clean up; her face was stained with dirt and sweat, and her hair hung in dirty strands about her
face. Her voice sounded too high-pitched when she spoke, but she did not hesitate in her reply. “I was
scared all thetime, Sir, and | didn’t need any luck: Sergeant Maganinny backed me up when | needed
him”

The general looked at her for amoment, then nodded. “Well,” he said, “now you know what reglly
makes an army work.”

Chapter 5
Genera Khamar and severd of his principa staff officers were observing the invaders from the same

ridge where Odie had watched them barely hours before. Khamar had succeeded in reaching theridge
before the enemy deployed and quickly established astrong defensive position. So far, the invaders had
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been content to direct only harassing fires against Khamar’ sforce, but had made no attempt to attack
him.

“We'retoo wdl entrenched,” one of the officers remarked.
“They’ re mostly droids anyway, no match for our troops,” another observed.

Genera Khamar glanced a him.No match for our troops ? Obvioudy, that was an officer who had no
idea how deadly the droids were. He briefly considered replacing him with someone more in touch with
theredities of their Stuation, but redlized there was no timeto cdl up areplacement. Hereturned his
thoughts to the situation before him. There was something odd about al of this. An army of an estimated
fifty thousand droids was sitting down there without making amove againgt him. What could they be
waiting for?

“Sir, they can't flank us—we have strong forces to both sides,” an officer observed. “If they’re going to
attack, they haveto come at us straight up thisslope. We'll cut them to piecesif they do. They must be
waiting for reinforcements.”

Generd Khamar frowned thoughtfully as he rubbed the stubble on his chin. He had not dept in the past
forty-eight hours. That was a big problem about going to war: one never got enough deep. Many times
Khamar had requested more troops from Coruscant— as well as capital shipsto protect the planet from
orbit—but his requests had been refused. The Republic, he knew very well, was engaged on avast scale,
and the forces he felt he required to defend Praesitlyn had been denied because they were needed in
other theaters. When he pointed out how strategicaly important the Intergal actic Communications Center
was, he' d been told merely that he’ d have to make do and to prepare his defensive plan with the forces
a hisdisposal. Not even the Suiss, who had the ships, would help him; they needed dl their spacecraft
to protect their shipyards.

It was dmost asif the Republic wanted the Separatists to attack Praesitlyn. The general had kept this
thought to himsdlf, of course. It wasridiculous anyway. Everyone knew how important Praesitlyn was.
Everyone knew how dangeroudy thin the Republic’ sforces were spread.

But...

Suddenly the generd knew with absolute clarity what was about to happen. He turned to the hologram
map of his positions and the surrounding terrain and put hisfinger on avast, jumbled rock formation
about ten kilometers behind hisline.

“| want aredoubt established here,” he said, speaking rapidly. “ Start moving our troops on the double.
Movefast but in small increments, infantry and support troopsfirdt. If the enemy getswind of a
retrograde movement and attacks, | don’t want the bulk of our troops caught in the open. Have the
combat engineers go in with thefirst group, to fortify the area. Armor and mobile artillery will lay down a
barrage on the enemy to keep his head down. They’ Il move lagt, to hold on to thisridge until the last
possible moment until we can secure that area, then withdraw into it. How many fighter craft do we
have?’

“A full wingis operationd, Sir, but—"
“Good! We can usethe air assets to cover our withdrawal. ”

“But, Sr,” another officer protested, “we have a classc defensive position wherewe are. They can't



possibly break through here.” Other members of his staff murmured their assent, glancing nervoudy one
from the other and casting questioning looks at their commander.

“They aren’t going to break through here, and that is not the main force,” the general announced quietly.
“WEe ve been duped. The main force hasn't landed yet. When it does, it'll land behind us, between this
position and the center. Thisforce’—he nodded down the ridge—"“is the anvil. The hammer is about to
grike— from behind us.”

Absolute silence envel oped Genera Khamar’ s com-mand post for afull five seconds as the meaning of
hiswords sank in. “Oh no,” someone whispered.

General Khamar sighed. “Listen carefully. There' sno easy way to put this except we' re retreating. Call
it what you want, but it' s vita that morale not be affected.”

“Generd,” an officer said, “let’ snot say we re retreating, then. Let’ sjust say we' re moving our position
to attack from adifferent direction!”

Generd Khamar smiled and clapped the officer on his shoulder. “Brilliant! All right, hop toiit. | intend to
savewhat | can of thisarmy, and if the Separatists succeed in capturing this planet, which they will if I'm
right about this, at least I’ m going to make them pay for it. Just hope we aren’t too late to makeit to
those rocks.”

Pors Tonith didn’t bother even to glance up at Karaksk Vet'lya, his chief of saff, when the Bothan
brought him the news. “ So he/ s not as stupid as we thought,” Tonith commented, atight smile on his
purple-stained lips. “How long has this retrograde movement been going on?’ His tone was deceptively
mild.

Karaksk’ sfur rippled softly as he searched for the proper words to make what he had to say appear in
the best possiblelight. “ About an hour, s, but we—"

“Ah!” Tonith finaly looked at Karaksk, holding up hisforefinger for silence. “We, you ssy?We ? Have
you by any chance adianoga stuffed in your pocket? Who is thiswe who are making decisonsin my
command?’

Karaksk swallowed nervoudly. “1 meant, gir, that our staff observed this retrograde movement on the
part of the defending forces and we, the staff and 1, that is, we decided to observeit for atimeto, ah,
determine the enemy’ splan.” Hisfur rippled less gently as hisfear moved closer to the surface.

“You did?" Tonith carefully set histeacup on asaucer and stood. “ The plan seemsto be to withdraw,
wouldn't you say?’ Hesmiled. Then: “Youidiot!” he screamed. Spittle flew from hislips, and adamp
spot appeared on Karaksk’ sfur. “They’ ve figured out what our plan is. They’ re moving to amore
defensible position! A droid could have figured that out!” Tonith managed to cam himself. “How much of
their force remainsin the origina position? How far isthe main body from the communications center?”

Feeling more confident now, Karaksk replied, “ Their mobile artillery and armor remain in place, Sir.
Some of the infantry and support troops have reached the redoubt, a natural barrier some ten kilometers
behind their origina main battle line. The rest seem to be en route. They are about one hundred fifty
kilometersfrom the center.”

Tonith was beginning to sense a chdlenge here. “Interesting. We shdl proceed to the bridge. I'm
ordering the main force landed immediately. | have two choices, it seems: | can let thisgarrison fort up,



and isolate them while | move with the rest of my army to take the center; or | can first destroy the
garrison and then move on the center. Which course would you advise, my dear felow?’

“Wadll, gr, if | may. Isolate them and move on the Intergal actic Communications Center. We do not need
the entire army to take the place. Y our plan, gr, isworking perfectly!”

“And leave an enemy forcein my rear? Redly?’
“Wdl...”

“Dead enemies cannot fight back. We will destroy thisarmy in detail and then take the communications
center. We have the strength, we have the time. Now leave,” he finished with aglare.

Tonith smiled at Karaksk’ srapidly retreating back. Bothans were duplicitous, opportunistic, and
greedy— characterigtics he well understood and could manipulate. And the rippling of their fur alowed
the astute person to read them so eadlly.

“I haveamisson for you.”

Odie gtood at attention before the reconnai ssance platoon commander and another officer whom she
recognized by his collar tabs as an engineer. “ Thisis Lieutenant Colonel Kreen, the commander of our
engineer battalion. That rock formation where you met Sergeant Maganinny, | want you to take Colone
Kreen back there. Right now.”

“Yesdr,” Odie responded.

“Let’sgo, trooper,” Colondl Kreen said. He stepped off with ashort nod at the lieutenant. Ashe and
Odie briskly headed for the engineer battalion’ s bivouac, he briefed her on the mission.

“I have aconvoy of cargo skiffsall loaded and ready to go. | want you to lead it back to that rock
formation, where they’ I unload and prepare another defensive position.” He smiled down at her, but her
heart skipped a best as sheingtantly interpreted the nature of this move for what it reglly was. “1t'snot a
withdrawal,” he cautioned her. “We're just establishing arear supply base” He smiled reassuringly,
seeing her expression. “Areyou ready to leaveright now?’ He grinned. His confidence was reassuring,
but that dight pause spoke volumes.

“Yessr!” Odiereplied enthusagtically. Since she was't needed for any reconnaissance missons at the
moment, she' d been put into the army’ s field communications center to work in her secondary
speciaty—and she was bored to death.

Reconnaissance trooper Odie Subu straddled her speeder as she closdly watched the three hundred
vehicles of the engineering battalion finish forming up for the rearward movement to the redoubot. There
were dirt movers, bridgers, graders, ground clearers, diggers, and more exotic machines whose uses she
couldn’t guess. The most numerous, though, were cargo carriers, many of which were marked with
symbols she recognized asindicating their cargoes were explosive ordnance.

She estimated there were enough explosives in the convoy to obliterate the army’ s entire position. She
briefly wondered why General Khamar didn’t order the engineersto use the explosivesto destroy the
droid army. Then sheredized the army had no way to get the explosivesinto the midst of the droid army
without whoever was doing the job getting killed before they could accomplish their mission. Still, she
thought, it seemed awaste to not set some of them in the droids



path, to destroy as many as possible when they followed the retreating army.

Well, she decided, General Khamar must know what he’ s doing . Besides, how did she know the
engineers hadn’t already emplaced explosivesto kill the droids when they passed over this ground?

“Recon scout,” Lieutenant Colonel Kreen' s voice came through her hdmet comm.
“Recon here, sr,” she said into her mike.
“We reready. Move out.”

Odietook alast ook at the convoy. Whatever route she chose had to accommodate the largest of the
engineering vehicles. The shake of her head went unseen inside her helmet. The biggest of those machines
was S0 big, she was going to have to lead them in aroundabout manner.

“Moving out, sir,” she said, and eased her speeder into gear.

She wasn't able to lead the convoy at speed, not even the paltry 250 kilometers per hour that was al
her speeder was capable of . Over this rugged terrain, she had to keep her speed down to under fifty
kph, which wasthe fastest the dower vehiclesin the convoy could manage—at times she had to dow to
little more than atrot for them to keep up, and sometimes she had to dow because Colonel Kreen said
they were raising too much of adust cloud. The distance they had to cover was only ten kilometers, line
of sght. But the route she had to follow, thisway and that, and sometimes doubling back, made it nearly
four timesthat distance— and more than four times the length of time to cover.

But at last they made it. She stopped and pulled aside, while the engineering vehiclestrundled past.
Colond Kreen had hiscommand vehicle pull off thetrall next to her.

“WEell done, trooper,” hesaid. “I'll seeto it General Khamar and your platoon commander both get a
report on how well you did. Now you'’ d better get back.”

“Thank you, sir.” Odie saluted and waited until the engineering commander was back in hisvehicle
before she turned her speeder around and gunned it. She headed back at top speed.

Lieutenant Erk H’ Arman knew he was going down, but even as he plummeted toward the ground he
remained cool, caling upon every fiber in hisbody and al the skill he could muster to save his sarfighter.
The hit from the enemy fighter had dammed into him like a hammer and sent him into an uncontrolled spin
downward. He had only just been able to pull out and stabilize his machine at a mere thousand meters
above the ground. His hydraulic system wasfailing fast, and he knew he had but two choices. gect or
ride hisfighter in. So far there was no fireingde the cockpit. A pilot’ sworst fear wasto burn divein his
or her cockpit; crashing was no problem—that would be over quickly.

Thiswas the most target-rich environment Erk and hisfellow pilots had ever encountered. Not evenin
the many smulated practice sessions had anyone thought to program this many marks. Already, three
pilotsin Erk’ swing had been killed crashing into enemy fighters—not on purpose, but Smply because
there were too many of them to fly through without hitting one. The fight con-tinued far, far above Erk.
The enemy waswinning, but now Erk H’ Arman was intent on saving hislifeand, if possible, hisship.

A dust storm had devel oped below, obscuring the terrain. Erk’ s suit wasfilled with perspiration, and he



knew he must have lost two liters of fluid during the dogfight. Already that loss of fluid was making him
thirsty. But he had no choice: he' d have to go down in that sorm. He made his decision. “Well, old girl,”
he muttered as he struggled to keep his starfighter leve, “I’ m not going to leave you.” Hewould goin
with hisfighter.

Odiewas only hafway back to the main army after guiding the engineersto the rock formation where
they were to dig the new defensive positions when the storm hit with a suddenness and ferocity typica of
such events on Praesitlyn. Thewind quickly roseto fifty or Sixty kilometers an hour, buffeting her from all
sdes and making controlling her speeder difficult. She stopped and zipped up. Millions of granules of
sand blasted at her. When at last the storm was over, which could be in ten minutes or ten days, she
knew her helmet would be scoured white by the sand. Right now, though, she couldn’t see two metersin
front of her. She dismounted and, turning off the repulsors, she tipped her speeder over and curled up
besideit to wait out the storm.

A ground-shaking roar, momentarily louder than even the howling wind, washed over her asan
enormous object passed no more than ten meters above where she lay. The ground trembled beneath
her, and the hugetail of flame that came out of the dust cloud was so hot she could fed it even through
her protective clothing. She heard a screeching, smashing noise asif some metalic object had impacted.
Some distance off to her right, there was a brief reddish glow that wasimmediately obscured by the
rolling clouds of dust. A fighter had just crashed only ashort distance from where shelay. Shedidn’t hear
an explosion, so she presumed the fighter had come down mostly intact.Would the pilot have survived
? shewondered. Then she wondered whose ship it was. She lay beside her speeder, undecided whether
to invetigate.

The wind suddenly abated somewhat, and raising her head above the frame of her speeder, Odie saw a
fant glow from the downed fighter’ sengines. She was familiar with the design of dl types of Separatist
craft— that was one of her jobs as a reconnai ssance trooper— but at this distance in the bad visibility
she couldn’t tell which side the crashed machine might belong to. All she could see wasthat it hadn’t
broken up on impact.

She righted her speeder, mounted, and started out toward the downed machine. As she eased her way
along, she unsnapped her holster and withdrew her hand blaster.

When she got close enough to see the fighter’ s markings, sheidentified it as a Praesitlyn defense force
fighter. The canopy was closed and she couldn’t see the pilot. The fighter ticked and cresked and
groaned like aliving thing in pain as its overheated components began to cool. She wondered if it would
explode. No timeto lose. Shejumped off her speeder and clambered onto the fighter’ sairfoil. She
couldn’t see through the canopy. She banged on it with her fist, and suddenly it popped open. The pilot
sat therein hisharness, ablaster pointed directly at her face.

“Don’'t shoot!” she screamed, ingtinctively leveling her own blaster at the man.

They froze there for avery long moment, weaponsleveled a each other. “Wdll,” the pilot said &t lat,
lowering hisblagter, “am | ever glad to see you!”

Odie helped him out of his harness and they crouched on the ground in the lee of thefighter. “Do you
have any water?” he asked. “I came off in such ahurry my ground crew didn’t have timeto load my
hydration sysem.”

She unfastened the two-liter canteen strapped to her speeder and passed it to him. He drank sparingly
and passed it back with thanks. As he did so, he studied his new companion. She was smdll, and he



judged she might be pretty by what he could see of her chin and lips beneath her helmet. Likewise, Odie
scrutinized him. A fighter jock! Fighter pilots were the only other people in the army with whom

reconnai ssance troopers felt any bond. Like the recon troopers, fighter pilots operated on their own, out
infront of everyone dse, surviving on their guts and skill.

At the sameingtant each redlized what the other was thinking, and they both laughed.

“Wadll,” the pilot said, “I guesswhatever we' re going to do, we' |l be doing it together. I'm Erk H’ Arman.
Who'reyou?’ He reached out with one hand.

Odiewas surprised that an officer would spesk to her so casualy—he hadn’t even identified himself as
an officer—but quickly recovered. “ Trooper Odie Subu, reconnaissance platoon, sir.” Shetook his hand
and shook it.

“Reconnaissance? That’ s good, very good. Y ou can get me back to base, and | can get back into the
fight”

Odie liked the sound of hisvoice. He had sustained agash on hisforehead in the crash, but the blood
that had trickled down one side of hisface had dried. His short black hair and striking blue eyes offset by
aruddy complexion made him look like an athletic outdoorsman just comein from along hike.

Thewind had diminished significantly by now. Odie stood. “Sir, follow me!” she said, extending her
hand to help him up.

At that ingtant the world around them exploded.

Chapter 6
d 4L

The fight for the Intergalactic Communications Center was fierce but short-lived, and the outcome was
never in doubt. The vaiant Commander Llanmore and the mixed human and Suiss soldiersin his
battalion knew that therest of their army, even if it was till fighting and hadn’t already been destroyed,
wasn't ableto cometo their aid. They knew that now their mission wasto delay the capture of the center
long enough for RetljaMomen and her technicians to destroy the communi cations equipment. They were
only partidly successful.

“Stop!” Reljaordered her technicians asthe first battle droids burst into the control room. “Don’t resst
them. | don’t want any of you killed.” But she couldn’t save them all. Threetechniciansdidn’t hear her
command and continued destroying equipment. They died when droids blasted them.

“I think, Mistress, that we are about to become prisoners,” Slith Skael muttered. He stepped in front of
Rejato protect her from the advancing droids, while everyone ese wasraisng hisor her handsin
surrender. With blows and shoving, the droids forced the techni-ciansinto the center of the control room
and surrounded them, weapons leveled.

Cleaning droids scurried about the bodies of the three technicians, scrubbing at the mess on the floor.
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One of them, programmed to haul away smal amounts of trash, vainly tried to move one of the bodies.
Frustrated, it emitted awhirring noise but wouldn’t give up trying. If the Stuation hadn’t been so
desperate, Reljawould have found the droid' s attempts highly amusing.

“What next?’ someone asked.
“S-lence!” one of the droids commanded.

“| demand to speak with your commander!” Reljasaid in avoice of authority. A droid darted around
Slith and jabbed the muzzle of itsblaster into Relja s midsection, knocking the wind out of her. Sith spun
about and grabbed her in time to keep her from faling. He raised his cauda appendage protectively
between Reijaand the droid as he cradled her in hisarms.

“S-lence!” the droid repested.

“Ah, most touching.” A tall, cadaverous figure stepped into the control room. He bowed dightly toward
Reija, who stood bent over, gasping in Sith'sarms. “May | introduce mysdf?1 am Admira Pors Tonith
of the InterGaactic Banking Clan, and | am now in charge of this miserablerock.” He bowed again.
Pretending diffidence, he brushed some dirt off his cloak. He grinned at Reija, reveding his horribly
stained teeth. “1 presume, madam, thet you are the chief adminitrator of thisfacility?” He did not wait for
an answer, but signaled the droids to stand back. The room’ s quiet was broken by awhim, whirrr,
whirrr .

“What isthat infernal noise? Tonith looked about the space until he saw the cleaning droid that was
making the noise. “ Blasted things are ways underfoot. Destroy it,” he snapped at one of the battle
droids. In amoment, the cleaner was crushed. Components clattered to the floor, and other droids
scuttled over to sweep up the debris.

Tonith smiled, shrugged asif settling his cape more comfortably, and reached out for Relja, but Sith
hissed and raised his appendage defensively.

“How gdlant!” Tonith smirked, but he stepped back quickly. “ Oppose me again, you Sluiss garbage,
and | will have you killed. Come here, woman!” He pointed to the floor in front of himself.

“Generd—Khamar—" Reljastruggled to get her bresth. “G-generd Khamar and hisforces are not that
far away, and he's coming to—"

Tonith shook his head, pretending sadness. “Alas, no. Y our tiny and ineffectua army has been
destroyed. Now, come here.”

“Migress?” Slith asked, reluctant to let her go.

“I'mdl right, my friend,” Reljagasped. Slith released her, and she walked unsteadily to stand in front of
Tonith. He smiled broadly. She was close enough to smell his breath, which was exceedingly foul.
Grinning even wider, Tonith deliberately exhded in her face.

“I’ve dways hated your kind,” Reijagritted. Y ears before, one of the clan families had helped her father
with the mortgage on hisfarm during a period of bad harvests, but when he couldn’t make the loan
repayments on time, they seized his property. All very legd and very unfortunate, but the old man lost his
farm.



The Momens had had to moveto the city, and the loss of hisbeloved farm had caused Reija sfather to
fal into agtate of depression that eventudly led to his degth.

“Oh?" Tonith leaned very closeto Reljanow. “Love? Hate? Those emotions mean nothing to me.
Neither doesyour life, woman. | am hereto do ajob and you are assets to me, nothing more than
asHts”

Reijahad had enough. Her hand shot out reflexively to dap the face of thiscreature who had cometo
ruin her lifeand kill her people. Thesmack of her hand startled everyone, but no one as much as Pors
Tonith, who staggered backward into one of hisdroids, a hand clasped to his cheek and alook of total
surprise on hisface so ludicrous that Reija, knowing she had nothing to lose, Started to laugh.

With unexpected strength and agility, Tonith lurched forward, grabbed Reija by the hair, and threw her
to thefloor. Sith legpt up to protect his bass, and Tonith whirled on him. “Kill thisreptile!” he shouted.
The nearest droid shifted itsblaster in Sith’ s direction while the technicians, some screaming in fear,
crouched out of theline of fire.

“No! No!” Relja screamed from where she lay on thefloor. “No more! Please, no more!”

Tonith gestured to the droid to lower its wegpon. “Listen to me, dl of you,” he said, addressing the small
group. “You aretotaly abandoned by the Republic, andl own Praesitlyn now. Y ou are my prisoners.
Y ou will betrested well if you follow my orders.”

Reija had managed to get back on her feet. “| dispatched a distress message to Coruscant,” she began,
knowing it was a bluff but determined to say something defiant.

Tonith waved her into Silence. *'Y ou mean, youtried to send such amessage. But you know it was never
received. We blocked all transmissionsto and from Praesitlyn. No message from here will ever reach
Coruscant unless| will it.” He grinned again. “No one even knows what’ s going on here, and by thetime
they find out, it will betoo late. Well...” He nodded at the frightened technicians and bowed again at
Reija. “It has been arather touching experience, this brief interview, but now | must be getting back to

my amy.”

He turned and walked toward the door, but just as he was about to exit the control room, he stopped as
if he' d remembered something and turned back toward Reija. “ Madam, one morelittle thing. Keep that
big mouth of yours shut from now on, or I’ll turn you over to the droids.” With that, swirling his cloak, he
stepped through the door.

The dust storm had started up again, and worse, the temperature had plummeted. Odie and Lieutenant
Erk H' Arman found shelter in aclump of rocks and huddled shivering under the scant protection offered
by the ground sheet she had unfolded from her equipment pack.

“What do we do now, Sir?”’

“Hey, let’ sget one thing straight: none of this military protocol stuff, okay? I’ m Erk and you're Odie. I'm
afighter jock, remember? Not astaff officer. Besdes, if we ever get out of this| think it'sgoing to be
you who gets usthrough. Now, if wewerein afighter—" He laughed and punched Odie lightly on the
shoulder. A strong gust of wind threatened to blow off the ground sheet, but they grabbed handfuls of the
light fabric and managed to hold on.

The massive attack by Tonith’sshipsin orbit against Generd Khamar’sarmy had caught the pair in the



open, between the main lines and the fortified position. Both positions had been blasted and then
assaulted by ground troops. Unable to do anything to help, they had taken cover and waited for the
battle' s outcome, which was neither long in coming nor ever in doubt. Using her eectrobinoculars, Odie
had seen no sign of resistance in either place once the fighting subsided.

“Battledroids,” she had said, her voice wavering. “ Thousands of them.”

Battle droids were on the ridge where General Khamar’s army had been camped. And then, asif even
the weather were alied with the invaders, the dust storm had started up again, and Odie and Erk had
been forced to find precarious shelter.

“How much water do we have?’ Erk asked now.

Odie checked her canteen. “Littlelessthan aliter.”

“Wadll, surrender’ sno option.”

1] No-”

“Isthere any place we can hide out for awhile?’

“Yes, but shouldn’t we go back to the center? Maybe they’ re till holding out.”

Erk shook his head. “Maybe, but the center has to be the Separatists objective, and | think we ought to
stay out here until we' re sure who' s holding the place. Besides, you saw yoursdf how powerful this
landing forceis.” He shook his head. “No, nobody’ s holding out back there.”

“Oh, no!” Odi€ s shoulders began to quake as the impact of what had happened sank in. “All my
friendd Everyore...”

Erk laid ahand on her shoulder. “Minetoo, Odie, minetoo. That's what happensinwar. Ah, wewerea
heck of acrew,” he muttered. He took adeep breath. “Look. We're till aive and we' re going to stay
that way,” he said, as much to reassure himself as her. “Hey, I’'m no pebblepusher. | won't last long
down hereif you give out on me.”

“Y-yes. Yes. | mean, no, | won't give out on you. Let me think. There are some caves about
seventy-five kilometers to the southeast of here,” she began. “I’ ve seen them on patrols. We can hide out
there. | don’'t know what’ sin them, maybe there’ swater. | have asmall supply of rations on my speeder.
They'll last usawhileif wetakeit easy.”

“Can you get ustherein—this?’ Erk nodded at the storm al around them.

“Hey! Canyoufly afighter? Surel can get usthere!” She laughed without humor.

“Y ou know, once we get out of this, why don’t you volunteer for flight training?’ Erk said.

She snorted. “Are you serious?’

“Surel am. You' ve got the right attitude. Come on. We may be on our own, but two hotshots like us?
Sheesh, with your skill and my brains—"



“My brainsand your skill—"
“Now you'reredly talking like afighter pilot!” They shook onit.

It took them two agonizing daysto find the caves. The smal amount of water they had was exhausted by
the time they reached the shelter, and they were on the verge of dehydration. But at least crawling into
the shadowy coolness of the caverns spared them the devadtating effects of the broiling sun.

“WEe ve got to find water,” Odie gasped.

“You'retdling me?’ Erk croaked. “Let’ srest here awhilein the cool, then we can look for away down
into the caverns. There should be water here somewhere. Do you know how extensive these caves are?”’

She shook her head. “No. We stopped here once on a routine recon mission, but nobody was
interested in doing any exploring.”

They lay resting for atime before regaining enough strength to start the search. Odie produced a brilliant
white sgnd flare from apouch on her equipment belt to light their way. “This I burn for twenty minutes,”
shetold Erk over her shoulder asthey walked carefully over the rock-strewn floor. “Then we Il haveto
switch to some other color.”

“Make sure you save some so we can find our way back.”

The piercing flarelight cast their shadows huge on the walls around them, like grotesgue cave creatures
picking their way dong.

“Holdit!” Erk shouted suddenly. “Move your light over here.” He indicated a patch of rock that
appeared darker than its surroundings. He ran ahand over it. “Moisture! Water’ s seeping through this
rock. We'rein busness.” A little farther on, the narrow passage widened abruptly into a huge cavern.

“Hey!” Odie shouted. Her voice echoed off the chamber walls. She held the flare high over her head. “I
can't even seethe cailing. Thisplaceis huge.”

“Ligten!” Erk held up ahand. “Listen. | hear running water! Can you hear it, Odie? Theré san
underground stream down there.”

The cavern floor doped gradualy downward, and as they worked their way toward the bottom, the
wonderful sound of running water came distinctly to them from somewhere ahead, where a cool stream
of fresh water fed into adeep pond before rushing off to disappear deeper into the cavern. Odie jammed
the flare between two rocks and flung hersdlf bodily into the pool; Erk followed her immediately. They
drank themselves dizzy on theglorious, life-giving liquid.

They lingered in the caves for two days, recuperating. “\We haveto move on,” Odie said on the evening
of the second day, “if for no other reason than we're out of food.”

“What say we start out at first light tomorrow?” Erk suggested. “We |l ride until it getstoo hot and then
rest until late evening. We can cover some ground during the night if there' s enough starlight to see by.
How long do you think it'l| take usto get to the communications center?’

“Two, maybe three days? The terrain’ s mighty rough out there, and we had to detour a bit to get here.
Can we survive on two liters of water for three days? All we haveto carry it inisthis canteen.”



“We Il haveto. We ve got your speeder—that’ || save us expending all our energy on waking. We'll
take it easy, conserve body fluid as much as possible. Odie, there' s nothing you and | together can’'t do!”

He put hisarm around her shoulders and kissed her lightly on the cheek. Her face turned even redder
than usud, then she turned and kissed him full on the lips. They held the embrace for along moment.

“Ah,” Erk said a last, “what'd | tell you?Y ou' re the best wingmate afighter jock ever had!”

After amoment, Odie sad, “I wonder if any of our people survived...”

“I’'m sure some did. Come on, let’s get some deep.”

They lay closetogether for along while, not speaking, thinking instead about what might lie ahead of
them. Just before he dropped off to deep Erk turned to Odie. “Maybe we' re the only two left alive on
this blasted rock, but we' re going to stay that way, right?’

“Absolutely,” Odie answered. She snuggled closer to Erk’ swarmth.

Chapter 7
d 4L

But they weren’'t done—not quite.

“Judt like those parsmoniousfools,” Zozridor Slayke remarked to one of his officers. “The Republic
Senate has dway's been foolish about defense spending. They leave a strategic place likethisto be
defended by only asmdll garrison. What do you expect the Separatiststo do, en? Sit on their hands?’

“The Republic forces are spread thin, Sir,” the officer replied, shrugging. “Do we go in now?’ He grinned
at hiscommander and leaned forward expectantly. Thiswas the moment he had been waiting for.

Zozridor Sayke grinned back. “ And give them the surprise of their short lives? Y ou bet. Assemble my
commanders.”

The atmosphere was tense in the wardroom of Plooriod Bodkin , asit always was before going into
battle—but there was no nervousness. The officers gathered around the battle charts were charged with
the anticipation of action, like agroup of Cyborrean battle dogswaiting to be released by their handlers.

Zozridor Slayke himsdlf, however, was reaxed, as he dwayswas. Standing afull head above his
officers, amixed group of humans and nonhuman sentients, he would never be mistaken for anything but
theleader. It wasn't just his unadorned, long-deeved, military-style tunic with the high collar, the sandard
officer’ suniformin hisarmy, it was aso the body language of his officers—each leaning expectantly
toward him, eagerly anticipating hiswords. Sayke projected the confidence of aman who knew hewas
in charge and knew what he was doing, and his officers—and every soldier in hisflegt down to the
lowest ratings—knew it, too.


file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_6
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#contents
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_8

“Mighty crowded out there—" Slayke gestured at the holographic chart of the space lanes around
Praesitlyn and Suis Van. Thiscomment generated some laughs among his officers. “They outnumber us
at least four to one.” He made the comment asif he were merely remarking on the brightness of the stars
flickering on the chart. “Well, now that we' re here, does anyone have aplan?’ He looked around

expectantly.

“B-but, sr! Wethoughtyou did!” aman standing next to him blurted out, feigning horror. At this
everyone burst into loud laughter. They al knew that Zozridor Sayke definitdly had aplan. And they dl
knew him well enough that they did not need to be told the essence of that plan: attack, attack, attack.

Sayke let them enjoy the moment, then held up ahand for quiet. “Let’ s see, at last report they had one
hundred and twenty-six shipsin acordon around SluisVan, am | right?” He nodded toward his
intelligence chief, who confirmed the figure. “That’ sbad,” he continued, “because the Suiss will be
occupied defending their own world. But the Separatist fleet will aso be busy with its cordon. That's
good, because those shipswon't be able to interfere with us. The enemy commander has divided his
forces. That'sgood, too. And the Separatists don’t know we're here... yet—that’s even better.” The
way Slayke emphasized thewordyet , resulted in more good-natured laughter among his officers.

He pointed afinger a the display of the Suis sector. “He has about two hundred shipsin orbit around
Praesitlyn, many of them capitd ships. Now, that’ sbad.” He stroked his short black beard thoughtfully,
then rubbed aforefinger beneath his nose and pulled on his earlobe, asif not sure what to say next. He
nodded again at hisintelligence chief. “Y our reconnai ssance drone reports abig droid army down there.”

“Yessr. They seem to have defested the defense force and have taken the Intergal actic Communications
Center, aswdll. | estimate, from the number of transports on the ground and the quantity of equipment
deployed, that the army tops amillion battle droids. They mean to stay there awhile, sir.”

“Wall, then. They outnumber us. That' s very bad,” Slayke said. “But they’re only droids! That’sgood.”
More laughter.

“Sir, they have managed to block al communicationsto and from Praesitlyn,” Slayke' s chief
communications officer said. Sayke only nodded. “We have to assume,” the communications officer
continued, “the Republic doesn’t know what’ s happened. | don’t know how they managed that—it must
be new technology. The blasted Trade Federation’ s got billions of credits sunk into research, so it’s not
unlikely. At least our communications are unaffected, until we get down on Praesitlyn, anyway.”

“Thoseidiotsin the Senate,” Slayke murmured as though to himself, “will lose thiswar yet.” Heleaned
with both hands on the edge of the display and focused on the enemy ships around Praesitlyn, bright little
blips so numerous that they resembled an asteroid belt around the planet. “We are the only force within
griking distance,” he said. “You al know the importance of Praesitlyn to the Republic, to our
homeworlds, our friends, our families.” He paused, then said quietly, “Here show we' regoing to do it.”

Sayke sfleet was small in comparison to the one he was about to attack, consisting of CloakShape
fighters, gun tugs, andPhoenix Hawk-class light pinnaces. His capitd ships conssted of severd Carrack-
classlight cruisers, Cordlian corvettes, gunships, and Dread-naughts. While his ground forces were only
fifty thousand strong, they were highly trained, highly motivated, and equipped with armored vehicles,
Bespin Motors Storm |V twin-pod military cloud cars, and afull array of supporting arms. The great
advantage of thissmall force wasthat it was an integrated combined-armsforce of infantry, air, armor,
and artillery, operating under a carefully thought-out but flexible battle plan. Moreover, Sayke' s
commanders were officerswhom he trusted completely to take tacticd initiativesin fluid battlefield
conditions.



A reasonable person might think it utter insanity to use aforce as smdl as Sayke sto attack Tonith's
army. But Zozridor Sayke was not dways a reasonable man.

Heturned to hisofficersand held up hisfigt. “Wegoin like this—" He rammed hisfist toward the chart.
“A huge armored fist. We' |l concentrate al our forces on one sector in their cordon, hit them with
everything we ve got, and blast open aholeto land the army. It'sgoing to be red hot for our shipsin
orbit,” he added, nodding at his captains, “but we' |l be counting on you to keep their orbita fleet off
balance. Once we re on the ground we' |l close with the enemy and grab him by the belt, hold him tight.
That way hisfleet won't be able to attack uswithout fear of hitting hisown forces. Our initial attack will
beatotd surpriseto him, and it'll take sometimefor him to recover. We |l exploit that surprise and cut
right through.” He paused. “WEe re about to cross a bridge, and once over, we're burning it behind us.

It sdoor die”

They dl knew that. Once on the ground, Slayke'sarmy could not be reinforced if things went badly.
Failure wasjust not an option. But Sayke was no overconfident fool.

“1 have digpatched amessage to Coruscant,” he continued, “requesting reinforcements.” He shrugged.
“Perhaps they can spare aJedi or two.” Thisalso caused laughter: everyone knew how much Sayke
despised the Jedi.

“Wdll, look at it thisway, Sr,” an officer in the back of the compartment said. “We won't have to share
the glory with them!”

“Wedl said! Beforethey can get here to messthings up, we' |l have some fun with those metal soldiers
down there. Now, what do you think?’

“Ooooorah!” the officers shouted, samping their bootsin unison on the deckplates.

“Y ou will have your operations orders before you get back to your ships,” Slayke announced. But they
were not yet dismissed.

Thiswas Zozridor Sayke s great moment. He had risked everything, even became an outlaw with a
price on hishead, to get to this place with thisarmy at thiscrucid ingtant in time. He saw himsdlf now as
thefulcrum of higtory.

Sayke drew himsdlf up to hisfull height. He addressed his officers—many, he knew, for the last time.
These soldiers had been recruited from al over the galaxy, and they had risen to positions of trust and
authority in thissmal army through courage, devotion, and demongtrated ability. “Remember who you
arel” he shouted. The last word echoed through the compartment. “What you are about to undertakeis
not done for fame or reward or ambition; you are not compdlled into thisfight by necessity like daves!
We go into battle now out of smple duty to our people.”

Sayke paused. The wardroom had fallen completely silent. There were tearsin some eyes—all of which
were focused on their commander. Slayke took a deep breath. When he spoke again he raised hisvoice
toitsfull timbre, and it rang from the bulkheads: “ Freedom’ s Sons and Daughters expect every person to
do hisduty!”

Odie and Erk didn’t get far from the caves before once again the ground benegth and the air about them
heaved and reverberated to the sounds of battle, thistime somewhat farther away.



“Generd Khamar must be counterattacking,” Odie said, removing her helmet.

Erk pulled aside the ground sheet that he was using to protect hisface from windblown sand particles
and searched the sky. “I don’t think so. Look!” He pointed to the north where, just above the horizon,
bright fingers of flame lanced down from the heavens. The sky there suddenly exploded in brilliant flashes
followed seconds later by adeep rumbling; one of the flame pillars descending toward the ground
blossomed into a brilliant chrysanthemum of fire. “ Shipsarelanding!” he shouted. “Onewasjugt hit. It'sa
relief force— Coruscant’s sent ardlief force!” He threw hisarms around Odie and impulsively kissed her
on the cheek.

Odie was so0 surprised—and pleased—she didn’t know how to react, so she blurted out quickly,
“Sergeant Maganinny said recon troopers always ride to the sound of the guns. Shal we?’

“Turn thisthing around and let’ sgo!”
But when Odie depressed the foot pedal, the speeder’ s motor only whined feebly.

“Out of power?’ Erk hoped he didn’t sound asworried as he felt. He hopped off the speeder so that
Odie could access the power-cell compartment housed in the rear.

“No,” she answered, aconcerned expression on her face. “And these things are usudly
maintenance-free.”

“Here, look at this” Erk pointed to asmal hole in the housing cover. He fdlt the hole with afinger.
“Y ou’ ve been shot. Fedl the edges around this hole: it was burned through.”

“I—I did have arun-in with some enemy troopers.” she said, popping the cover. She grimaced and
looked away. The compartment was full of grit, and the power cell was coated with sand heat-fused into
glass. Asthey stood looking down into the compartment, the cell gave alittlepop ! and athin tendril of
smoke rose upward. “That’sit,” she said. “We re foot-mobile now.” She stepped back and looked
down at her speeder for amoment, then began to cry.

“Hey!” Erk laid ahand on her shoulder. “We re okay. We || makeit.”

“It'snot that.” Odie shook her head. “It' s—it's my speeder!”

“Oh,” Erk said, mentally kicking himsdf. “1 should' ve known,” he muttered. “A recon trooper and her
speeder, apilot and hisfighter.” He shrugged. “Come on, trooper, we' re both widows now.”

Odie smiled through her tears. “It' s stupid but, well, you know, that speeder and me...” Shethrew up
her hands.

“How far do you think we are from the center?’

“Maybe seventy-five or one hundred kilometers?’

“Can we makeit on foot?’

Odie shook her canteen. “If we can conserve our water.” They had both drunk as much water asthey

could hold before tarting out from the cavesin an attempt to tank up for the long journey ahead of them,
but they had been figuring on riding Odi€’ s speeder, not walking.



“Do you know where there’ sany water dong the way?’

Odie shook her head. “We Il look aswe go.” She popped open the storage compartment beneath her
seat and began to withdraw items they’ d need on the trek.

“Wejust have everything going for us, don't we?’ Erk said wryly.

“Wll, | hope those bug stompers you' re wearing will hold up.” Odie gestured at her own heavy boots,
standard issue for reconnai ssance troopers, who needed such footwear to protect their feet and legs from
brush, stones, and debris. Erk’ s boots were much lighter and didn’t look very sturdy.

“With me as your copilot, we ve got it made,” Erk replied as, bowing, he bade her lead the way.

“We arewhat ?” Tonith shrieked, jumping to hisfeet and spilling some tea down the front of hiswhite
robe when his chief of saff told him they were being attacked. “By whom? Full details,” he demanded,
recovering some of his composure.

“Apparently, sir, we were being shadowed by another force. They couldn’t have come from Coruscant
or Suis Van, and they had to be small to avoid our detection—"

Tonith impatiently waved ahand at Karaksk. “Get onwith it.” Already hismind wasworking. He didn't
like surprises, but one had to ded with them. By the time the Bothan finished with his report, hisfur was
continudly rippling, but the worse the news became, the camer Tonith grew.

“Sir,” Karaksk ventured, “I believe you should have stayed with the fleet. The ships are being thrown
into confusion.” As soon as he uttered those words he re-gretted them and amost cringed at the angry
outburst that he was sure would follow.

Tonith held up ahand. “No, the issue shal be decided here, not in orbit.” He paused, and Karaksk
sghed with rdlief that the admiral had let hisremark pass. “Very well,” Tonith went on, asthough talking
to himsdlf. “They are much smaler than our force; they are behind us. Hereiswhat they’ll do: they will
attempt to close with us as soon as possible, get close enough so our shipsin orbit won't be ableto fire
onthem for fear of hitting us. We should expect aflexible battle plan and plenty of individud
initiative—they’ d have to have that, and boldness, to attack uslikethis.” Heraised abony forefinger and
waggled it at the Bothan. “ There is afine line between boldness and foolhardiness. Let’ s see how we can
turn that againgt them. Begin fortifying our pogitionsimmediately. We Il let them attack us dl they want.
When their strength is depleted, that’ s when we' Il counterattack.”

Carefully, Tonith recovered histeacup. He shook out the few remaining drops and methodicaly, ina
well-practiced gesture, poured more of the steaming liquid. From close by came the rumble of fighting.
He grinned, reveding his purple-stained teeth. “ Ah, achdlenge,” he said, spping thetea “Very
interesting, very interesting indeed.”

The one factor Zozridor Slayke hadn’t counted on was Pors Tonith.

Chapter 8
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file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_7
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#contents
file:///G:\Star%20Wars%20Books\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg\Star%20Wars%20-%20Jedi%20Trial%20-%20David%20Sherman%20&amp;%20Dan%20Cragg%20%28v1%29%20%5Bhtml%5D.html#chapter_9

Supreme Chancellor Palpatine made a series of calls, one of them to Senator Paige-Tarkin.

Senator Paige-Tarkin had never seen the Chancellor looking thisworried, HoloNet transceiver image or
not. His hair appeared even grayer than it did in person, and his face was more lined by worry. Shefdt a
genuine surge of pity for the great man. She had watched him carefully since his assumption of emergency
powersto ded with the Separatist threat, and she believed the cares of public servicein thiscrisswere
wearing the poor man down.

“Thisisamatter of the utmost urgency,” he said. “1 need to see you at once.”
“We can't discussit now?” she asked. “I'm expecting dinner guests.”

“No, | am afraid this venue is not secure for what we have to talk over.” The Chancellor’ simage smiled
sadly. “I do gpologize for interrupting your planslike this, Senator.”

“No, no, not at al, gir, | am at your disposal. How long do you think we' [l be?”
“It could take some time, Senator. | do apologize again.”

She hesitated. A member of the powerful Tarkin family, Paige-Tarkin was an unabashed admirer of the
Supreme Chancellor, and in her public and private life she described him as the one person who could
lead the Republic to victory inthiscrisis. Now he, who had devoted his entire life to public service, was
gpologizing for asking her to interrupt an evening a home with friends to ded with important galactic
business?*“No bother,” she responded, her voice catching with emotion, “but can you give me any idea
what it involves?’

“All'l cantell you isthat a Stuation has arisen that might have the most serious consequencesfor the
inhabitants of the Seswenna sector, Senator.”

Paige-Tarkin’s heart skipped a beat—Seswennawas the sector she represented in the Senate. “Where
ghdl we met?’

“My apartment, as quickly asyou can get here. | must—"
“Y our gpartment, Supreme Chancellor?’ she blurted. “Not your office?’

Pd patine shook hishead. “Thisisamatter of the utmost sensitivity—it' sbest if nobody knows about the
meeting yet. My security droids are sweeping my gpartment even as we speak; it would take longer to
assure the security of my office. Now | must invite some others, so please excuse me.” Theimage
vanished before she could ask who the others might be.

Quickly, Paige-Tarkin canceled her engagements, changed, and cdled for transportation.

Mas Amedda received the next call. As Speaker of the Senate and aloyal follower of the Supreme
Chancellor, Ameddawas best known for kegping his mouth shut and maintaining order during Senate
debates. He had a so supported granting Pal patine the emergency powers he believed the Supreme
Chancellor needed to ded with the Separatists. Pal patine knew he could count on Ameddain thiscriss,
and his help would be invaluable when the inevitable debate broke out in the Senate.



Then Palpatine summoned Jannie Ha Nook of Glithnos, a senior member of the Security and Intelligence
Council. Ha Nook saw everything in terms of profit and lossto hersdlf. Although of a somewhat
independent mind, she had a so voted to grant Palpatine his emergency powers.

Next on the list was Armand Isard, director of Republic Intelligence, aman who knew much but said
little.

Findly, Papatine called Sate Pestage, controller of the Senate’ s executive agenda. Pestage was a master
of persuason. Many times since Papatine' s assumption of emergency powers Pestage had convinced
recalcitrant Senators to get behind the Supreme Chancellor.

Thus Supreme Chancellor Pd patine gathered his staunchest dliesto ded with hisenemies.

Pd patine’ s gpartment was comfortable but not ostentatious, as befit an abstemious public servant in the
service of the people. Since not everyone arrived at the same time, he engaged hisguestsin small talk
until they were al present. As soon as everyone was seated, he nodded to Sly Moore, his administrative
ade. At hissignal she engaged the security system that provided additiona assurance that no one
eavesdropped on their deliberations.

“We may begin, Sr,” she announced.

“| gpologize again for getting you al here on such short notice,” Papatine opened as his guests settled in.
“I will come straight to the point. A very powerful Separatist force has captured Praesitlyn. A much
smaller force—arogueforce, in fact—is opposing theinvasion, but the outcome of this oppositionisvery
much in doubt. Armand, give usthe facts as we know them.”

“A Trade Federation invasion force—we don’t know its Size or composition but must assumeit isvery
large and very potent—has taken Praesitlyn. We must assume, because dl contact has broken off, that
they are now holding the Intergalactic Communications Center. We must dso assume that they are
preparing to use the planet as a springboard for further incursionsinto the Core Worlds. Wereceived this
information in amessage sent by the commander of the force the Supreme Chancellor mentioned, which
had been shadowing the invasion fleet for sometime.”

Paige-Tarkin gasped. “ So that’ swhat you meant!” she exclaimed, looking at the Chancellor. “Have they
made any move againgt the Seswenna sector?’

“Not that we know of,” Pa patine answered. “But they have some means of blocking transmissions, so
anything is possible. We do know that they have invested Suis Van with another fleet of about one
hundred twenty-five ships of different classes, evidently a holding operation, not an outright invasion. We
must assume that once they’ ve consolidated their hold on Praesitlyn, yes, they will move against
Seswenna, Senator, either by force or by argument.”

“We re making alot of assumptions here. How do we know dl this?’ Jannie Ha' Nook asked, looking
first at Palpatine and then at Isard.

The Chancellor nodded at Isard to continue. “We received intelligence of this event from Captain
Zozridor Sayke”

“The pirate?’ Ha' Nook interjected. Shetwisted alock of hair around aforefinger and pursed her lipsas
she thought.



Papatine smiled. “Not anymore. | pardoned him.”

“And agood thing you did,” Isard added, “ because right now he and his army—the Sons and Daughters
of Freedom, asthey call themsalves—are dl that is opposing the Separatist force on Praesitlyn.”

“Who is commanding the invaders?’” Ha Nook asked.

“Through other sources,” Isard replied, smiling crypticaly, “wethink it might be Pors Tonith of the
InterGalactic Banking Clan.” He glanced over at Pd patine, who nodded that he should proceed. “We
don’t know much about Tonith, but heisno pushover. Asafinancier heisknown for hisruthlessness,
gpplying dmost military precision and determination againgt hisrivas. Apparently he' s had some success
leading military operations, too. Anyway, the last message we had from Sayke was that he was about to

“How big ishisforce?” Mas Amedda asked.
“I’'m not sure how many capitd ships, but it's estimated he has an army of fifty thousand beings.”

“Great balsof firel” Paige-Tarkin exclamed. “ And he' sgoing up against awhole Separatist army with a
forcethat Sze? Unbelievable!” The guestsdl looked at one another in astonishment.

Pd patine steepled hisfingers, carefully placing the tips beneath hisnose. “ So,” he began, “the Stuationis
desperate. Asyou al know, our deployable forces are dl engaged throughout the galaxy. | do not
believe that Captain Slayke, despite his obvious qualities of bravery and resourcefulness, will be ableto
expd theinvaders. He can only upset them, delay them, and even if he does succeed in this, no doubt the
Trade Federation is planning on sending an overwhel ming follow-on force to secure Praesitlyn.”

“Why would this Sayke and his army ever undertake such a desperate measure?’ Ha Nook asked.

Pd patine shrugged and smiled before he answered. “ Saykeis an idedist, arare commodity in these
times.” He smiled again and gestured vaguely, as though saying such people wereincomprehensible. He
cleared histhroat and shifted his position. “Now you seewhy | called thismeeting,” he continued. “I do
not want to give our citizenstheimpression of hasty decision making, but we must act swiftly thisevening.
Als, it' s very important our people understand the gravity of what has happened and support ustotaly
inour effort to retake the planet and support Captain Slayke—or rescue him, if that’ swhat is required. |
need your help because you are dl respected and influential members of the Republic who can convince
othersto put their support behind mein this. I know, | know, | can dispatch forces at will, | havethe
power to do that, but we are till ademocracy and | don’t want later to be accused of exercising
dictatoria powersor to have my decisions subjected to the sniping of armchair critics after thefact. I'm
relying on you to convince your supporters and congtituentsthat | have acted in the best interests of the
Republic and that we cannot give up our struggle for freedom because of temporary reverses.”

“And | would add this,” Isard put in. “Sayke sisnot adroid or aclonearmy. Hissoldiersare all
volunteers and highly motivated individuas. Hewill give Tonith arun for his credits, no pun intended.”

“What forces do we have that we can spare?” Ha Nook asked.
Pd patine shifted in his chair and stretched hislegs. “ The garrison force on Centax One, some twenty

thousand clones.” He shrugged. “We shdl have to commit them; they’ re dl we havethat areimmediatdly
available” Centax 1, Coruscant’ s second moon, had been transformed during the early stages of the



present emergency to provide a staging base for military operations.

“So that means, Chancellor, that we shal have no reserve lft to dedl with any other contingency?’
Ha Nook exclaimed. “What if we need troops here on Coruscant? Chancellor,” she said, shaking her

head gravely, “1 think thisis aserious strategic mistake.”

The Chancellor steepled hisfingers again and made no reply for along moment. The others remained
slent. At last, Isard leaned forward to speak, but Pa patine silenced him with aglance. “ Senator,
consider: once the Separatists have consolidated their foothold on Prae-sitlyn and reinforced its garrison
there, we shdl never be able to retake the planet. Instead of it being our eyes on that vital sector, it will
be a dagger pointed directly at the heart of our Republic. We have no choice. We must act and we must

doit now.”

“Chancdlor...” Ha Nook leaned forward, aforefinger raised to make her point. “If that isthe case, then
why wasn't Praesitlyn reinforced earlier?’

Pdpatine shrugged. “My migtake. | take full responghbility for not foreseeing this event.”
“Tipoca City has promised us alarge batch of reinforcements,” Isard began.

“When will they be ready?’ Ha Nook snapped.

“Two or three months.”

Ha Nook snorted and sat back in her chair. “I will have to think this over, Chancdllor. It may requirea
full vote of the Senate. After dl, we cannot endanger the security of—"

“| was hoping to avoid that, Senator,” Palpatine interrupted. “ Of course | understand what you are
saying. But in times of emergency, decisons have to be made; leaders have to take on the responsbility
of thelr offices and commit themselves boldly—"

“And suffer the consegquences of failure?’ Ha' Nook shot back.
“And accept the consequences, yes, Senator,” Pa patine replied. He had expected this from Ha Nook.
He nodded dmost imperceptibly at Sy Moore, who had remained hovering silently in the background

during this conversation. Only the Supreme Chancellor saw her smile. Herose. “ Shdl wedeep onit? Let
ustak againinthemorning.”

“And who shall command this expedition?’ Paige-Tarkin asked.

Pd patine straightened, smoothed hisrobes, turned toward her, and smiled. “ A Jedi Magter,” he said.
Jannie Ha Nook was half expecting the call that came less than an hour after the meeting at Palpatine's
residence broke up. Thefact that the caller was using a holoshroud to disguise hisimage did not surprise
her, either. That technique was frequently used on Coruscant when politicians, lobbyists, or informants
desired to keep their true identities unknown.

“Isthat you, Isard?’ Ha Nook asked, laughing.

“l amnot Isard, Senator,” the caller replied in adeep, gravelly voice as unrecognizable asthe image
dancing before Ha' Nook’ s eyes.



“Well, come straight to the point then. | haven’t eaten in hours.”
“I amyour dly, Senator,” theimage said, “and | wish to help you.”
“How?’ Thiscould beinteresting.

“Y ou have been recognized as a person who is capable of being far more than a practitioner of base
politica intrigue. | can use my congderable influence to further your career in ways you cannot even

begintoimagine”

There was acompelling, even hypnotic quality to the voice. “Go on.” Jannie twisted alock of her hair
around aforefinger and pursed her lipsin thought. The more the mysterious caller talked, the more hair
she wrapped around the finger.

“There are great events about to take place in the galaxy. Y ou have just come from ameeting where
they were under discussion.”

“How did—" But Ha' Nook caught hersalf immediately. Of course someone had been eavesdropping—
despite dl of Supreme Chancellor Pa patine’ s measuresto prevent spying. It was done dl thetime on
Coruscant, and no one could completely avoid it; total security was never truly possible.

“Theinvasion of Praesitlynisbut aripplein avast wave of history, Senator, and | am about to offer you
aride on that wave.”

“Pray continue.” Hal Nook was beginning to enjoy this conversation.

“The events now taking place in the Sluis sector shdl be resolved. When they are, someone will be
needed to oversee the Republic’ sinterests there. Let me be frank: an appointment as ambassador
plenipotentiary can be highly profitable”

“Ah,” Ha Nook gasped.

“Yes,” the voice rumbled.

“Y ou can arrange that?’

“yes”

“How?'

“I can. But | need something from you first.”

“| thought we' d cometo that.” Hal Nook smiled, but she was more than intrigued with the conversation
at this point. Her mind was whirring. Ambassador plenipotentiary? That sounded about right to her. The
work of amere Senator, no matter how influentia, could be immensealy boring, dedling day in and day out
with inanities such as bills for the improvement of the sewer system on Coruscant, or endless discussion
of some slly resolution guaranteeing the religious freedom of some primitive species on some far-flung
chunk of rock. After enough exposure to the routine business of the Senate in session, even important
busnessfailed to chalenge or excite anymore. Here was a chance to realy bein charge of something
big!



“Supreme Chancellor Palpatine asked for your support to dispatch ardief force to Praesitlyn. Can he
count on you, Senator?’

“Yes” she answered without hesitation.\What possible difference could it mean to me , she thought, if
the relief expedition fails and the Separatists defeat the Republic? If | can’t be an ambassador, |
can be an ally . Whichever way thiswar came out, Jannie Ha' Nook planned to be on the winning side.

“Excdlent! Stand fast in your support of the Chancellor, Senator, and | shal stand fast in my promiseto
reward you.” The transceiver went dead.

On the other end Sly Moore sat back and smiled. Time now to send that message to the Jedi Council.

Chapter 9
d 4L

Jedi Ngjaa Halcyon had no ideawhy he had been summoned so suddenly to appear before the Jedi
Council. He had dready been reprimanded for hisfailure. Perhaps, after the long period of idleness
imposed on him because of theScarlet Thranta affair, the Jedi Council was ready to reingtate him? He
desperately wanted a chance to redeem himsdlf. Perhaps this summons wasit.

Nervoudy, he stood before the entrance to the Council Chamber, smoothing hishair and beard,

composing himsdlf. The pams of hishandswere swegty.|’ m reacting like a Padawan . The thought
made him smile. He straightened his cloak and entered the chamber.

Eleven of the twelve members of the Jedi Council sat in asemicircle just as he remembered from the last
time he had stood before them. The huge windows framed a vast panorama reaching al the way to the
city, its kyline reduced to miniature size by the Council Tower’ s soaring height and the distance. Myriad
black specks, aircraft of al sorts engaged in the affairs of the vast metropolitan complex that was
Coruscant, flitted over the horizon. It was aclear day, and the sun washed brilliantly over the scene. To
Ha cyon this vista alone was worth avigt to the Council, no matter what message he was about to
receive. Herelaxed.

“Welcome, Ngaa,” Mace Windu said.

Ha cyon bowed.

Y odasmiled. “Since welast saw you, along timeit has been,” he said.

“Yes, Magter, too long.”

“You have been well, Ngaa? You arerested?’ Adi Galliaasked.

Halcyon bowed again. “I anwel.”

“We have an assgnment for you,” Mace Windu said. He gave Halcyon a searching look. “ Supreme
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Chancdlor Pd patine himsdlf recommended you for thismission.”

Halcyon tried not to show his surprise. “1—I do not know the Chancellor persondly, but | am honored
he should have such confidence in me, Master. Why did he recommend me?’ he sammered.

“Y ou don't know why the Supreme Chancellor recommended you?” Master Windu asked.
“No, | don't.”

Windu nodded as though Halcyon’ s negative answer explained everything. “ Areyou familiar with
Praesitlyn in the Suis sector?” he asked abruptly.

“Only that we have an important communications relay there, but I’ ve never been there.”

Briefly, Windu explained what had happened. Halcyon listened with growing wonder; thiswasindeed a
major assgnment, and it was an honor to be entrusted withit.

“Youwill beinterested in knowing who it isthat isin command of the opposing force,” Windu said when
he finished describing the Situation and the mission.

“Yes, indeed. Nobody but a Jedi Master would dare attempt a counterattack like that, not unless he had
asevere death wish.” Heracked hisbrain, trying to figure out which Jedi might bein alocation from
which he could launch such amission.

“A Jedi heisnot,” Yodasaid, chuckling lightly.

“Not aJedi?” Halcyon asked, taken aback.

The Council members exchanged quick glances.

“That manisZozridor Sayke,” Master Windu stated.

There was amoment of silencein the Jedi Council Chamber.

Then Halcyon cleared histhroat and nodded briskly. “Captain Slaykeisagood soldier,” he said.

Y oda amiled, and the other members of the Council vishbly relaxed. “To hear you say that is good,”
Y oda said. He nodded at Mace.

Mace Windu spoke in rapid, clipped tones, asif reading aset of orders. “Nejaa Halcyon, you will take
ardlief force of twenty thousand clonesto Praesitlyn. Once there you will effect alanding of your army,
assume overall command of the combined force, and destroy the Techno Union army there. You are
authorized to dispose your ground and nava forces according to the battle plan you and your staff will
devise en route to accomplish this mission in the most expeditious and effective way possble” He
paused. “Y ou may select your own staff and designate whomever you wish to be your second in
command. Timeis short. When you leave here you will repair to Centax One, whereyour fleet is
preparing for departure. Y ou will effect that departure with al possible haste.”

“I am honored to accept thismisson,” Halcyon said formaly.

“This Sayke, work with him you can? Toward him no animosity you fed ill over hissteding of your



ship?’ Y oda asked.

Ha cyon bowed deeply. “No, Master Y oda. Saykeisan intelligent and resourceful soldier. | was
overconfident and foolish, and he exploited my weskness. | am glad,” hefinished with asmile, “to have
himasmy dly, and | know together we shall smash the Techno Union forces.”

Y oda nodded. “ Of our Order, Ngjaa Halcyon, atrue Master you are.”
“Do you have anyone in mind who might be your deputy on this expedition?” Windu asked.
“Yes, Master. Anakin Skywalker.”

Wasthat ahint of surprisein Windu's eyes? The formidable Jedi Master was, as dways, hard to read.
But dl hesaid was, “Why?’

“Heisbrave, resourceful, and ready for ared chalenge. And heis here, right now, in the Room of a
Thousand Fountains.”

“But thismission requires Jedi commanders, and Anakin has limited experience leading troops,” Adi
Gdliasad.

“I"ve been watching,” Halcyon replied, “ and talking with him. He' s been studying baitlefield tactics and
past battles. | believe he' sready.”

“Obi-Wan Kenobi’ s advice have you sought?’ Y oda asked.

“I know Obi-Wan—we' ve talked about Anakin. He told me Anakin hasn't had command yet smply
because the opportunity hasn’t arisen, not because he' s not ready.”

“Isnoonedseavalable?’ Adi Gadliaasked.

“| am sure others are available,” Halcyon answered. He took a steadying breath before continuing.
“Perhaps one or two other than you yoursaves. But what if another emergency arises, one that requiresa
Jedi experienced in diplomacy, or some other solo misson? Whom will you send if | take someone more
experienced, and Anakin Skywalker isthe only Jedi left available?’

Windu studied Halcyon for amoment, then nodded. “We leave the selection of your subordinatesin
your cgpable hands. But remember this, Ngjaa Halcyon: this assgnment isas much atrid for you asitis
for young Anakin. More important, it isatrid for the Republic. On its outcome may rest the fate of the
entire gdaxy. May the Force be with you.”

Anakin flexed the fingers of his prosthetic hand and regarded thefist it made. The prosthesis that had
replaced hisright arm and hand was even better than the original. The fingers were eectrogtaticaly
sengtive to touch. Theinterface module linking the hand to his nervous system permitted the deviceto
operate aswould anorma human hand. The unit was activated by a power cdll that didn’t require
recharging.If I’ d known the thing was going to work thiswell, I might’ ve had the other arm
replaced, too , hethought wryly. Now, if only it were covered in synthflesh. ..

The phantom pains from the nonexistent nervesin the vanished hand bothered him occasiondly, but they
werethelesser of severd other kinds of phantomsthat were troubling Anakin just now.



Heroseto hisfeet. The grotto where Ngjaa Halcyon had asked to meet with him was one of many
Stuated at various leves throughout the Jedi Temple. The bench he' d been sitting on was shaded by the
overhanging branches from the trees that grew around the pool into which awaterfal splashed; alight
mist hung over the pool, condensing on the path where he stood. Altogether thiswas a very pleasant
spot, but Anakin Skywalker wasin no mood for pleasant spotsthis day.

He walked down the path a short distance, did an abrupt about-face, and stalked back to the bench. He
drove hisright fist hard into the palm of hisleft hand. The sound of the satisfyingly sharpsmack it would
have made otherwise was deadened by the surrounding foliage. Anakin flicked moisture off his cloak.
Voices? He whirled. Two Padawans, aboy and agirl, engaged in conversation, gpproached down the
path behind where he was standing, obliviousto his presence. They suddenly burst into apedl of laughter.
They saw him then, standing under the tree in front of the bench that was obvioudy their destination, and
stopped suddenly.

“Oh, I’'m sorry, gr,” the boy blurted. “We didn’t know anyone was here.” The girl smiled nervoudly.
They both knew who Anakin was.

Looking at the girl close up, Anakin was reminded— painfully—of Padme. “I’m here on business of the
Jedi Council. | hopeyou'll excuseme.” Not exactly alie:

Ha cyon was before the Jedi Council, so whatever news he had for Anakin would come from
there—sort of. But hisfrugtration at the unexpected reminder of hiswife must have been too obviousin
his tone of voice, because the young man’ s face reddened.

“Sorry, gr, very sorry,” the lad sammered. The pair hadtily turned and |eft.

Anakin suppressed aflash of guilt for having spoken to the young man so sharply, but then he shook his
head. No. They’ d haveto learn their place, just as he had. And whatwas his place? He, too, was till a
Padawan, even with al his combat experience and acknowledged talents—and the sacrifice of hisarmin
persona combat—and till he hadn't heard aword about Jedi Knighthood. He' d been weeks on
Coruscant, studying, practicing his skills. Under the circumstances he! d rather be spending histime with
Padme—No, no, don’t think of that, hetold himsdlf. Think of the future . Master Halcyon was going
to offer him something—that had to be why he' d asked for this meeting. Coruscant wasrife with rumors
these days. Everyone was taking vaguely about new threats from the Separatist forces. Big thingswere
afoot, and Anakin itched to beapart of it al.

Jedi Ngjaa Ha cyon. Anakin had gotten to know him rather well during the time of his enforced idleness.
Anakin respected Master Hal cyon, but could not understand what had gone wrong on the mission to
Bpfassh, which had ended in such great embarrassment to him and the Jedi Order. Specific details about
the mission had been kept quiet, but till there was talk. Anakin assumed Halcyon had been recalled to

Coruscant because the Jedi Council wastrying to de-cide on his future employments, but he wastoo
politeto ask. What redlly mattered to Anakin, though, was that Halcyon seemed to like and have
confidence in him, and now that might be about to pay off.

He sensed Halcyon' s gpproach and turned to greet him at the same moment that Halcyon said, “A credit
for your thoughts.” Both men amiled.

Halcyon draped an arm across Anakin's shoulders. “My young friend,” he announced, “I have come
with news”



“Yes?” Outwardly Anakin maintained an icy-cool demeanor, but inwardly his heart raced.

Halcyon, though, could sense the surge of anticipation in the young Jedi and he smiled more broadly.
“The Jedi Council is sending uson amission. I’ ve been given achance to prove mysdf—no, don't deny
it, Anakin, that’ swhat thisassignment is, atrid—and I’ ve asked for you to be my second in command.
The Council agreed.”

Anakin fdt avery dight twinge of disappointment. Halcyon, not the Jedi Council itself, had asked for his
sarvices. But... the Council had agreed, so... “What isthe misson, Master?’

“Areyou familiar with the Interga actic Communications Center on Praesitlyn, in the Sluis sector?’
“Not redlly. | know it'savita communications hub, but | don’'t know much more than that.”

“It’s been saized by a Separatist force. WEe' re assuming the garrison has been defeated, but the enemy
forceisbeng opposed by afriendly armada that was tracking the invasion fleet and has broken through
the cor-don around Praesitlyn. They are now heavily engaged with the Separatist ground force. We are
going to relieve that army, if it can be done.” He paused. “We re not sure how big the Separatist forceis,
but it’ svery powerful; taking it on will not be an easy job.”

“Who'sin command of the intervening force on Praesitlyn?’
Halcyon amiled weskly. “Zozridor Sayke.”
Anakin looked up sharply. “Y ou mean—7"

“Y es, the same—my nemess.” Hacyon'slipstwisted inawry smile. “But we are going there to retake
Praesitlyn, Anakin. If Sayke sl dive and ableto fight by the time we get there, well, he'll be so glad to
seeus| don't think I’ ll have any problem working with him.”

Neither said anything for along moment. The water splashed merrily into the pool; Anakin didn’t notice
the occasiona droplets of moisture that fell from an overhanging branch down the back of his neck.
“Magter, what, precisaly, will be my role as your second?’

“WEe |l have an army of twenty thousand clones. W€ Il formiit into two divisons. I'll hold overal
command, aswell as command of onedivison, and you' Il command the other. If anything happensto
me, you will then command the entire fleet. Y ou can do it, Anakin—that’ swhy | picked you.” He paused
and nudged a glob of mud with the toe of his boot. “Our force includes supporting arms and
combat-support units, so besidesthe cloneinfantry force, we Il have smdl contingents from al over the
Republic asintegrd partsof our army. We' |l have to do most of our planning on the way.”

“When do we leave?’
“Soon, very soon.”

“So, what' s our first step?” Anakin asked. “ Our first step? Well, first you and | are going to meet
someone very specia.”

No society iswithout its underworld. With more than atrillion inhabitants, Coruscant, the gem of the
gaaxy, the hub of the Republic, had its bottom feeders deep benesth its soaring spires. Coruscant was
like avast ocean: while luxuriouslinersfull of happy partyers plowed the waves on the surface, hideous



denizens, strangersto light, lurked in the murky depthsfar below. It wasinto thisworld that Jedi Master
NegaaHacyon took Anakin.

The Golden Slug, arun-down flophouse with adeazy bar in the lobby, was the only spot of activity ona
dead-end side street just off amain underground thoroughfare. Piles of garbage littered the gutter; one
flickering Sgn—the other lights weren't working— provided dim and intermittent illumination. Thefarther
end of the street beyond the Golden Slug was enveloped in pitch darkness.

“What are we doing here?” Anakin whispered as he carefully threaded hisway through the garbage. A
sudden barrage of guttura shouting and the noise of something being smashed came dully from insdethe
Golden Sug, and atdl, reptilian creature burst from the hotel |obby and skittered past. Wondering what
in the galaxy could scare a Barabel, Anakin reached for his lightsaber.

“Easy doesit, Anakin,” Halcyon murmured, putting arestraining hand on the Padawan’ s forearm.

The sign above the Golden Sug’ s doorway sputtered. GOL en SUG it announced, two of the letters
long since broken in some drunken melee.

“I don’t think we' Il have any trouble,” Halcyon went on, “there’ s no need to have awegpon in hand. But
be ready—just in case.”

Anakin glanced toward the end of the street where he sensed something lurking. Then he reached out
into the Force to scan the hotel [obby. “Well,” he whispered, “there aren’t any Force-sensitivesin there,
solead on.”

Thelobby was ashambles. Most of the furniture that was still intact was unoccupied, except for
something snoring loudly on one of the couches. An overhead fan stirred the stale air lazily. A bored
clerk, acharacter with ahuge set of ears and along proboscis, glanced up at the two Jedi, squeaked an
exclamation, and disappeared underneath the counter. Severa patrons sat at the bar on one side of the
lobby. Thefloor there was littered with debris, the remains of adestroyed table and chairs—and
something that looked suspicioudy like an arm or aleg freshly separated from its owner.

An unprepossessing figure hunched alone at one end of the bar. Three other barflies sat at the opposite
end, asfar from thefigure asthey could get, Sudioudy ignoring its presence.

“Grudo!” Halcyon shouted.

The lobby went deadly silent. Even the fan dowly whirring above them seemed to stop itslazy
perambulations. The bartender dropped the glass he was pretending to clean and ducked behind the bar.

The hunched figure turned dowly, stepped to its feet, and moved toward them. Anakin blinked. It had
bumpy green skin and bulging, multifaceted eyes, astubby pair of antennae protruded from its head.
Numerous shesthed knives hung from two bandoliers crossing its chest, and more knives rested unessily
in scabbardson itsbelt. A pair of blasters sat in holsters on its belt. Anakin thought he could make out
other tools of the bounty hunter’ strade poking out here and there. The dim light glinted wetly off the
kniveswheretheir metd wasvisible, asif they had recently been used. Thisbeing wasthe
meanest-looking Rodian Anakin had ever seen—and he headed straight toward them. Anakin reached
again for hislightsaber, but Halcyon held him back with asteadying arm; the Rodian’ s hands were empty.

As soon as he got within reach, the bounty hunter lurched forward and grabbed Halcyon around the
waist and danced him around in amacabrecircle.



“Hacyon!” he hooted. “It'sgood to see you, old friend!” He stopped dancing, and the two embraced
wamly.

“ThisisGrudo,” Hacyon told Anakin as soon as he was able to disentangle himsdf. “Grudo, thisyoung
Jedi is Anakin Skywalker. Say hello, Anakin.”

Anakin smiled crookedly and said, “Hello.”

The Rodian released Halcyon and stood at attention. “ Jedi Anakin Skywalker, Sergeant Grudo
reporting,” he said in an impeccable Basic that contrasted sharply with his appearance. “I’m pleased to
make your acquaintance, Sir.”

“Sergeant?’ Anakin asked, bemused by the Rodian’ s clipped tones. 1 didn’t know bounty hunters had
ranks.”

The barflies, who had been studioudly ignoring thetrio, turned their heads for aquick glance, then
returned their attention to their drinks. Even the bartender peeked out from hiding when Grudo hooted in
raucous laughter.

“Come,” Grudo commanded, and led them to the bar; the barflies huddled inconspicuoudy over their
drinks. “Barkeep! Come out from wherever you're hiding—I want to buy adrink for my friends!”

The bartender, anervous, sallow-faced human, edged up from his hiding place. Looking like hewas
ready to drop back down to safety at any moment, he poured adirty yellow fluid out of abottle
containing some kind of root into glasses that looked none too clean. Grudo raised hisglassin atoast.
Halcyon and Anakin followed suit.

“Aaarrggh! Whew!” Halcyon gasped. Grudo patted him hard between the shoulder blades. * Strong
Suff!” the Jedi Master wheezed, thumping his chest with afis.

Anakin sipped cautioudy at hisdrink. Theliquid burned itsway past hislips, over histongue, down his
throat, and into the depths of his somach, whereit exploded in aball of blazing fire. He choked.
“Good!” herasped. “Very good! Thank you—Grudo.”

Grudo laughed at Anakin’ sfeeble attempt to hide his discomfort. “ There s nothinggood about the taste
of that drink,” he said. “It’s supposed to incapacitate Gamorreans, Trandoshans, Wookiees, and other
large species, so Rodian bounty hunters can take them into custody without getting hurt.”

The Rodian was smaller than anorma human male, but Anakin remembered the Barabel who had run
screaming out to the street and looked pointedly toward the shamblesin thelobby. “1 don't fed inthe
least incapacitated, Grudo. Are you sure you need to tranquilize alarge person to capture him?”’

Grudo laughed and dapped him on the back. “Maybe.1f | was abounty hunter.”

“If you're not a bounty hunter, what are you doing on Coruscant? | thought the only people your world
alowed to leave home were bounty hunters.”

Grudo raised a suction-cup-tipped finger in front of his pendulous snout, so much likeahuman raisng a
shushing finger to pursed lipsthat Anakin had to laugh. “IfI don't tell,you can’'t tdll,” the Rodian
whispered conspiratorily. Then he turned to Halcyon. “1’'m glad to see you again, Halcyon. And happy



enough to meet Jedi Skywalker, aswell.”

“And | was very glad when | heard you were still here, Grudo. Though I’'m surprised that you haven't
found another job.”

Grudo shrugged. “Unfortunately true. Which ishard to imaginein time of war. Buit... you know the
bounty hunter reputation.” He shook his head. “Makes it hard for an honest Rodian to find work asa
soldier. Do you have ajob for me, Ngjaa?’

“Possbly.”

“Ther€ strouble on Praesitlyn, | hear.”

Thetwo Jedi glanced at each other in surprise.

“How do you know that?” Anakin demanded.

Grudo shrugged noncommitdly. “Word gets around.”

Halcyon sighed. “Weéll, if they know about our mission here, the Separatists know, too, or they will
soon.” He gave hisdrink asuspicious look and pushed the dirty glass asde, then said to Anakin, “ Grudo
isn't abounty hunter, he'san old soldier. He' s been in more battles and on more campaigns than most
regular soldiers. He sled troopsin beattle hiswhole life. | want him to come with us. HE |l be agood
addition to our team, especidly when it comesto directing small-unit operations.” He turned to Grudo.
“Will you comewith us?’

“S0 you two are going to be generdson thismission,” Grudo said.

Ha cyon flinched and muttered, “Nobody’ s supposed to know that.”

Grudo smiled. “ Y ou're going to need a good sergeant mgor. Especialy thewhelp here” Heflung a
surprisingly strong arm across Anakin's shoulders, forcing the young Jedi’ snose amost into his glass.

“Let’shave onelast drink—for old times, and for the future!” He leaned over the bar to peer a the
cowering bartender. “Give usaround of the good stuff thistime!”

Chapter 10
d 4L

Both Lieutenant Erk H’ Arman and recon trooper Odie Subu had received survivd training and were
well aware of the dangers of dehydration. But neither had been prepared for thislong walk through the
high-desert region, and it proved much more difficult than either had anticipated. It was one thing to fly
over it a ten thousand meters or zoom aong on speeder patrols with communi cations and comrades | eft
and right, but walking, without any prior preparation, was another thing entirely. Although they tried to
conserve their smdl supply of water, the heat, the lack of humidity, and the physica exertion that
confronted them every step of the way caused them to lose more fluid than they could replace. Also, the
burning sun was so intense they dmost wished another sandstorm would strike just to provide them some
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cover. They began to blister, even under their clothes. And that first night, as the daytime hesat radiated
off into space, they dmost froze to death.

By noon on the second day they were in serious trouble. They found arock outcropping and flopped
downinits shade.

“Let’srest hereawhile,” Erk croaked. Odie didn’t bother to reply, but dropped down, raising a cloud of
dust. They lay therein the intense heat and panted. Odi€' s canteen was long Since empty, but neither
could remember when or who had sucked the last drops out of it. It was getting hard for them to focus
their thoughts on anything.

Dimly, Erk became aware that Odie was saying something. “What?" he rasped, but she didn’t answer
immediately. She said something else, savera words, but he couldn’t make them out. With effort he
rolled over and faced her. “What did you say?’

“Let’shead back home, Tami,” she answered. “It' stimefor chow.”

Tami ? Oh, yes, was't he one of Odi€’ s buddies? Erk had difficulty remembering exactly—anyway, he
thought it was someone she had mentioned. “Odie...” Erk gasped, but, too exhausted to point out that
she was hdlucinating, he just rolled over on his back. Odie continued talking to her imaginary comrade,

The heat enveloped them like a scorching blanket despite the shade provided by the rock
overhang—and as the minutes dragged by and the sun moved gradudly, even that dight protection began
to disappear. Onceit did, they would fry. But there was nothing they could do about it now. Soon the
sun blazed down on them like araging furnace. The air was so hot it hurt to breathe.

Gradudly—everything was happening in dow motion now—Erk became aware that something was
blocking the sunlight. He squinted up at it. It was huge. It spread its enormous wings and made aterrible
squawking noise. A giant beak filled with razor-sharp teeth fastened onto one of Odi€ slegsand bit it off.
Dimly, Erk was aware that there was no such cresture native to Praesitlyn, but hereit was anyway. Asit
threw back its head to swalow the limb, Erk drew his sidearm with hislast remaining strength and fired.

Watching an army preparing to embark on acampaign is one of the most exciting experiencesin life,
second only to being shot at and missed. Grudo the Rodian had been shot at and missed many times, but
even he caught the tempo of the moment as the fleet based on Centax 1 prepared for war.

While the Republic' s avail able ground forces were limited to the twenty thousand clones now embarking
on thewaiting ships, fortunatdly its nava forceswere of congderable potency, conssting of many capita
ships—enough, Halcyon reasoned, to break through the Separatist fleet he would encounter blockading
Praesitlyn. The situation on the planet’ s surface would be a different matter, but getting there, he hoped,
should at least prove essy.

Halcyon had chosen as hisflagship theCentax- class heavy frigateRanger . Built by the expert
shipwrights of SluisVan and outfitted in the shipyard on Centax 1, theRanger was afast and powerful
vessa equipped with the latest wegponry and auxiliary systems. It was on this ship that Halcyon held his
first council of war asthefleet readied to depart.

“We have deployable ground forces of twenty thousand clones. | will form them into two divisons. Il
command one, and Anakin the other. As| seeit, each division should consist of four brigades of four
battalions, each with four infantry companies. Thiswill give us great maneuverability in the attack and—"



Grudo snorted. “I thought you knew better than that, Halcyon. No wonder | beat you so handily that—"
He caught Anakin looking at him with intense interest and dropped thet line of thought. “ Divide your
divisons by threes: three brigades, each with three battalions of three companies.”

“What?’ Hacyon asked.

“I think what he means,” Anakin interjected, “isthat two up, one back, is not only the standard military
formation, but aso amore powerful structure. With larger formations you have more combat power.

Y ou attack with two brigades or battalions or companies and keep onein reserve. At least, that’ swhat it
lookslikein everything I’ ve studied.”

Grudo' s laughing hoot warbled with the swinging of his snout as he shook his head sdeto sde. “Age
must be getting to you, Hal cyon—you’ re forgetting things even the youngster knows!”

Halcyon nodded ruefully. “1 stand corrected, then. W€ Il organize our troopsinto atriangular formation.
“Ontologigics” hewent on quickly. Anakin listened intently.

The next days passed in awhirlwind of activity. The two Jedi and their Rodian comrade soon began to
work asawell-oiled team. Grudo followed Anakin everywhere, interjecting advice whenever
appropriate, but otherwise not saying much. The clone infantry had been divided among severd
transgports, in order to minimize their lossesif aship was hit, so the trio were kept busy moving among the
ships. At night they met in Halcyon' s stateroom to go over the details of the day.

One evening, Halcyon asked Anakin, “Are you familiar with the cagpabilities of the specialized troopers?’
Hewas referring to the fifty clone commandos aboard the battle cruiser Teyr .

Anakin nodded. Clone commandos were trained to be used for only the most dangerous missions, and
as such were bred to possess alarger degree of independent thought and action than ordinary troopers.
Equipped with highly advanced armor and wegpons, they were capable of fighting successfully on their
own, but with a Jedi commander their potentia as an attack force was virtualy unlimited.

“They’reyours, then,” Halcyon told him. “Take Grudo, go over to theTeyr , and get to know them.”
Surprised and pleased, Anakin wasted no time getting a shuttle to the cruiser.

Earlier, he had taken charge of hisdivision, met with hisbrigade, battalion, and company commanders,
introduced himsdlf to the troopers, ingpected them in ranks, and asked probing questions about their
armor, equipment, and weapons. Grudo had had him bone up on these things and read the readiness
reports the divison’s commanders had submitted.

“You'retheir leader,” he had said. “ Soldiers don’t respect acommander who doesn’t know their
wespons, equipment, and tactics better than they do. But remember this: al the clonesarelike
brothers—twin brothers—and all clones think they’ re the best. They work best under their own officers,
they wouldn't fight under me. Under you, yes, of course—you' re a Jedi. But although they respect you
asaJedi, now you must show them they can respect you as a soldier like them. Y ou have to show them
before we go into battle that you know what you' re doing.”

Anakin had done his best, and Grudo had been impressed with his handling of the troops. Now, as he
headed for theTeyr , he was fedling more confident, eager to meet the clone commandos who were to be
histo command.



The captainin charge of the commandos called them to attention when Anakin entered their bay.

Anakin traded salutes with the captain. “ At ease!” he commanded. He spread hislegs dightly and
clasped his hands behind his back as he scanned the soldiers before him. There were two sergeantsin the
group, judging by the green markings on their armor.

“I am Commander Anakin Skywalker,” he began. “Y ou have been assigned to the Second Division,
which | command. Y ou will serve as part of my headquarters battalion, under my persona direction.
Captain, you will not report to or receive orders from any other officer during this campaign. | will assgn
you missons as required by the tactical Stuation on Praesitlyn. | will not ask you to do anything that |
wouldn’'t do mysdif. Isthat clear?’

“Arrrrruuuhh!” the troopers shouted in unison, coming to attention with aloud damming of boots on the
deck. The compartment echoed with their shouts.

The captain permitted himself adight smile. “My troopers are ready, sir!” he reported.

Anakin glanced at Grudo. whose face was nulled down in the Rodian smile. “ Captain, have the troopers
fdl out and fal in by their assigned bunks. | wish to ingpect their armor, wegpons, and equipment.”

Anakin spent the rest of the night ingpecting the troopers. He found no dust, grease, or dirty weapons.
Throughout the ingpection, the captain followed Anakin with a datapad at the ready, but he was never
told to enter anything.

On the way back to theRanger , Grudo leaned over and told Anakin, “Y ou did agood job with that
inspection. Y ou looked at everything you should, and weren't petty, like some might have been. The
troopers appreciate that. They’ll fight well for you, | can tell.”

Feding his chest swell with pride and excitement, Anakin swiftly ran through the Jedi Codein hismind:
Thereisno emotion; thereis peace ... AJedi does not act for personal power ... Hewas hereto do
ajob— and what was more, ajob that would cost soldierstheir lives. He would do well to remember his
training, he told himself. He was a Jedi, and he would do the Order proud. Taking a deep breath, he
reached out to the Force, seeking serenity...

Chapter 11
d 4L

Someone was pouring water over Odi€ sface. The water was warmer than normal human body
temperature, but to her it was as sweet and cool as any mountain freshet, heavenly bam to her blistered
face and cracked lips, and she gulped it down for what it was: life. She luxuriated in the cooling wetness
and tried to laugh, but her voice wouldn't work. She opened her eyes and saw a shadowy figure bending
over her.

Shetried to speak, and managed to croak, “Erk.”
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“Yes” the shadowy figure standing over her said.

“Erk?" she said again, mustering what she could of her returning strength to get the name out. But the
voice that responded was strange. “Who are...” wasall she could get out.

“Sergeant Omin L’ Loxx at your service,” the shadow replied. “Who did you expect?’

“Pilot,” she gasped.

“Theflyboy? We re pumping him up, too. We put him under another shelter, give you room to breathe
under here. My partner is Corpora Jamur Nath. Come on, can you get up? We're taking a big chance
hanging around out herelikethis. There are droid patrolsdl over the place.” He poured moreliquid into
Odie' smouth.

She felt less groggy and managed, with alittle bit of help, to sit up. She looked around, but didn’t see
anybody other than Erk and the two recon troopers. “What are you doing here?’ she asked.

“Scouting. The Separatists have patrols out al over the place, looking for weak spotsto hit. It sour job
to find them and disrupt their plans—and report any maneuver unitswe find trying to circle our
positions.” He changed the subject. “1 see by what' sleft of your gear that you' re arecon trooper.
Where' syour speeder?’ Helifted her head gently and gave her more to drink, then shook the canteen. It
was amost empty. “Y ou sucked up afull two liters. It'll bring you around in no time. Good thing you two
aren't one of the other species. This tuff isbrewed up specid for humans— restores fluids, eectrolytes,
mineras, al sorts of stuff you lose through dehydration. What happened to you two? If you hadn't fired
that shot, we' d never have known you were here, and you'’ d both be dead by now.”

Brokenly, Odie explained what had happened. “1—I don’t remember firing ashot,” she ssammered.

“Well, must’ ve been your boyfriend over there. Or you just don’'t remember doing it. When you get into
the last stages of degth by dehydration you halucinate al over the place. But | suppose you know that.
We saw the flash and cameto investigate. Whoever it was fired straight up into the air. Wefigured it was
asgnd.”

Odie wanted to deny that Erk was her “boyfriend” but didn’t have enough energy, so shelet theman's
observation pass. Instead, she asked, “Wh-who are you?’

“I’m arecon trooper, just like you. Were you part of the garrison here? Poor devils. Come on, let’ s get
you on your feet and moving. Y ou can ride on the back of my speeder. That sSidearm of yours. Can you
useit?’

“Y-yes. But where' d you come from?'Y ou weren't part of General Khamar’ sarmy.”

“No, weweren't. We'll explain everything later. Right now my first priority isto get out of this desert
and back into our positions before one of their patrols spots us. While you were coming to, | reported in
and got ordersto bring you inimmediately. Come on, take my hand, let’ s get going.”

Odie staggered dightly as she stepped out from under the shdlter haf, involuntarily raisng ahand to
shidd her eyesfrom the brilliant sunlight.

“Here)” L’ Loxx said, handing her ahelmet, “put it on. It saspare.” Gratefully, Odie donned the hdmet,
astandard recon trooper’ s multipurpose field operating unit. She was feeling much better now. Expertly,



she adjusted the helmet’ sfeatures. There stood Erk with the other trooper beside his speeder. It waslike
seeing two old friends again, Erk and the speeder. The latter was dmost the image of her own machine.

“Y ou ride with me, trooper,” L’Loxx said. “Comeon!” he called to Corpora Nath. “Let’s get out of
herel” Rapidly, L’ Loxx repacked some of the gear on his speeder to make room for Odie. “Hold tight,”
he cautioned, “we re not going to waste any time getting back to base.” Odie knew from the ingtant the

sergeant put his machine into motion that he was an expert.

Cautioudy, L’ Loxx guided them over some extremely rough terrain. He stopped below the crest of a
long ridge. “Just below usisadried-up riverbed. We Il follow that dmost dl the way back. Do you

know it?’
“Yes. Your baseis near the Interga actic Communications Center?”

“Right. We occupy the center and the foreground below the plateau. We re dug in in front of them—our

rear isinthisdirection. Their fleet can’t intervene because oursis holding them too close. Thefirst day we
fought off waves of battle droids, but we held our lines. Now we' ve settled down into positiond warfare,

sniping a each other and sending out patrolsto find weak placesin thelines. It's astandoff. Whoever

getsrenforcementsfirg wins”
“Are reinforcements coming?’

“Ours? | don’t know. Our commander sent amessage to Coruscant before we attacked, before we
entered the zone where the enemy managed to block all other transmissions. Theirs? Y eah, they probably
planned big reinforcements before they attacked. All right. Draw your weapon. I'll drive, you shoot.”

Odiedrew her blaster and took it off safe. “I’m ready,” she said, more strongly than she fdlt.

“Ligenup,” L’Loxx said over thetacticd net. “We have along ride ahead of us. If we meet up with
enemy patrols we have one advantage. We have an extra person on each speeder who can shoot while
the other maneuvers. Y ou can shoat, right, flyboy?’

“Sure can, dirt-eater,” Erk snapped back. “ So can my copilot there.”

L’ Loxx grinned. “Well, I guess you rescued us then, huh? The enemy isriding seventy-four-Zs. Y our
‘copilot’ knowswhet that meansif it comesto arunning fight.”

Odie groaned. She certainly did know what that would mean.

“But we aren't getting into any fights” L’ Loxx continued. “We retaking it easy and we re playing it very
cool. Sofollow me”

They descended rapidly into the riverbed. The bottom was strewn with boulders and debris. In some
places water had cut deep, narrow gorges that temporarily blocked out the sunlight; in othersit had
meandered over the flat country, fully exposed to the surrounding terrain. Still, the banks were high
enough that if they moved carefully they could find adegree of cover. They traveled that way for haf an
hour.

They were attacked at a point where the river rose to the surface in afloodplain. Thefirst bolt szzled
between Odie and L’ Loxx so close it singed the cloth on his shirt and burned thetip of her nose asit
passed. For the briefest instant Odie wondered what had happened; then instinct honed by training took



over. She swiveled and fired in the direction the shot had come from—and then she saw them: three
74-Z peeders coming like the wind across the floodplain. L’ Loxx jumped his speeder over the low bank
and gunned it directly at the attackers. Badly aimed blaster bolts sizzled past them. Odie leaned around
his right side and snapped off two more blasts. She could clearly see one hit a speeder, but its armor
absorbed the energy and bled it out onto the sand as an electrical discharge. The other hit the rider she
had aimed at, and he flipped backward over thetail of his machine.

“Whooiel” someone—it sounded like Erk—yelled over the comm. Odie glanced to her eft. A few
meters behind them and a bit off to the side she could see Erk leaning forward around Corpord Nath's
sde, firing methodicaly at the two remaining enemy speeders. The four racing peedersthrew up tails of
dust that hung suspended in the il air behind them.

“Break! Break!” L’Loxx shouted. He swerved to the right so sharply that Odi€’ s knee scraped the
ground as he roared around the oncoming troopers. The maneuver confused the attackers. Behind them,
instantly and at two hundred kph, L’ Loxx aimed his speeder at the closest enemy rider, who broketo his
left sharply. L’ Loxx followed him around, keeping close on histail. Odie kept firing, but her bolts
disappeared harmlesdy into the enemy speeder’ sarmor. Still, it forced the enemy trooper to keep his
head down and concentrate on maneuvering his machine, so he couldn’t return thefire.

A huge cloud of dust rose up to cover the melee as the speeders pirouetted desperately around each
other, seeking to ram their opponents or gain an opening for ashot that would count. Flashes from
blaster bolts ripped through the curtains of dust so that anyone observing from a distance might have
thought the cloud was pulsating with an energy and life of itsown. The dugt, thick and choking in the
windlessair, clung to them like a second skin and blinded them. Suddenly, L’ L oxx stopped his speeder
and took off his helmet. Odie was taken aback by the utter silence.

“Where arethey?’ shewhispered, swiveling her head, listening carefully for the sound of the other
speeders. Therewas none. No firing, either; the only sound wasthe air rasping in their lungs.

“Good shot,” L’ Loxx whispered, meaning the one with which Odie had hit the first enemy trooper. “I
can't raise my partner,” he added. “He must be down.”

Odie pushed her hemet back behind her ears so she could hear better. It was then she felt the gentlest
of breezes passing by her face. She looked up. The sun penetrated the dust like asmall golden bdl, but
gradualy it grew brighter. The cloud was dissipating. The two tensed like threstened fera beasts, not
sureif they’ d have to attack or run.

Thewind grew stronger and the dust began clearing rapidly. Like acurtain being rolled back from a
stage whereon atragedy was about to unfold, the dust cloud trailed away on the wind to reveal, not ten
meters from where they were standing, an enemy trooper sitting on his speeder. He was looking away
from them.

Before Odie could swing around and fire, L’ Loxx legpt off the speeder, sprinted across the space
between them, and smashed into the enemy trooper. Odie could clearly hear the crash asthe two
dammed into the dirt. The enemy trooper was big, and he wasn't human. The two grunted and cursed in
different languages asthey rolled in the dust, but the advantage was with the enemy trooper, who wasn't
asstunned as L’ Loxx had thought.

Odieran up and leveled her blagter at them. “ Surrender or I’ll shoot!” she shouted. No good. She
risked hitting L’ Loxx if shefired. She holstered her piece and jumped into the fray.



The enemy trooper grunted as Odie' sweight came down on his back, but he didn’t loosen hisgrip on
L’ Loxx’ sthroat. He stood up dowly, holding L’ Loxx by the neck with one arm and shaking him. With
the other hand, he reached over his shoulder, grabbed Odie by the head, and wrenched her off his back.
Heflung her away like adoll; she crashed and rolled in the dust, stunned. He dropped L’ Loxx to the
ground, put amassive foot on his chest, and drew a macelike weapon from hisbelt. L’ Loxx lay half
stunned, gasping for breath. The enemy trooper, a Gamorrean, whirled the mace around his head severa
times, grunting victorioudy in his own language. L’ Loxx groped for hisblaster, but he' d logt itinthe
struggle. He grabbed the foot pinning him to the ground and tried to wrench it to the Side, but the
Gamorrean was too strong for him to budge.

A blaster bolt hit the Gamorrean in the right pectoral. He grunted in pain and dropped the mace. With
his left hand he drew his own sidearm and fired. Odie wasfinaly able to get off ashot and hit him
squarely between the shoulders. A parasitical morrt fastened behind the Gamorrean’ s left shoulder
detached itsalf and burrowed into the sand asits host staggered, whirled, and fired back, but his shot
went wild and hit L’ Loxx’ s speeder instead. Another bolt hit the Gamorrean in the lower spine, forcing
him to his knees. Unable to turn around and shoot back, he fired again in the direction where Odie lay.
But now L’ Loxx found hisblaster and he put three quick boltsinto the Gamorrean, who finaly crumpled
to the ground and lay 4ill.

Erk walked up, hisblaster covering the downed Gamorrean. Y ou picked the wrong guy to tangle with,”
he said. With one arm he helped L’ Loxx to hisfeet, keeping hisblaster trained on the still form of the
Gamorrean. “How many bolts did that guy absorb before he went down?’ he asked in awe.

Odielimped up. “Five, at leadt. | think he'sstill breathing. Areyou dl right?” She brokeinto agreet grin
asif she'd only just now recognized the pilot stlanding there.

“Where'smy trooper?’ L’ Loxx asked before Erk could say anything.

“I'm sorry, Sarge, the bad guy shot him. | dropped him with one shot. I'm sorry about your man, | redly
am.

L’ Loxx nodded. “My speeder istrash, but we now have two serviceable seventy-four-Zs. I'm going to
collect my partner’ sbody. Y ou come with me, Odie, and bring back the other seventy-four-Z. Flyboy,
you stay here. | don’t know if they reported us or not before they attacked.” He nodded at the prostrate

Gamorrean. “ Our long-distance transmissions are blocked, so maybetheirs are, too. But we' d better
move out smartly, just in case. Where d you leave Jamur?’

Erk pointed. “ That way, about half akilometer.”
“All right. You wait for ushere”

* % *

“I need those reinforcements, my lord,” Pors Tonith said to theimage of Count Dooku floating in front of
him.

The Count’ s somber features twitched in annoyance. “| thought | told you to deal with Commander
Ventresson al operationd matters.”

“This operation will fail without those reinforcements,” Tonith continued, ignoring Dooku' s displeasure.



“Youwill learnto follow my orders.” At Dooku’s meaningful ook, Tonith blanched. He remembered
another time Dooku had taught him alesson. At that time, he' d experienced a sudden shortness of breath
asif agreat weight had been placed on his chest. He' d struggled to draw in air. Asquickly asthe seizure
had come over him, it had passed. Dooku wasn't near enough to use the Force against him now, but
Tonith knew he' d suffer in the futureif he perssted.

“I am following your orders, my lord,” he said hatily. “ They are to capture and secure this planet. The
plan you devised for this campaign, which I’ ve followed to the letter, called for immediate reinforcement
once that was done. | repedt, lord, where are they? Thisrogue force is causing me problems, and if it is
reinforced before | am, we will lose Praesitlyn.”

Dooku' simage floated silently before Tonith for along interval before he replied. “ They are on the way.
Why did you not foresee thisintervention?’

Tonith caught his breath. Now he was being blamed for not anticipating what had happened?
Monstrous! Blast the Count. But he replied calmly, “It was one of the great imponderables of war, my
lord, but we gtill hold the Intergaactic Communications Center intact. But | have lost many droids, and
can replace only afew of thoselosses from my repair shops. For every one of them wekill, they destroy
fiveor sx of my droids”

“Y ou gtarted out with amillion battle droids; throw them dl in at once and overwhelm thisrogue force.”

“My lord,” Tonith responded patiently, “I have far fewer than amillion droids now. Wave attacks are
wasteful and bad tactics. If | wereto do that I’ d be left with aseverely reduced army and no reserve.
The opposing commander is very shrewd. He keeps his lines close enough to my own that | can't bring
my heavy wegponsto bear effectively without sacrificing my own forces and weakening my own
defenses”

“Wedl must make sacrifices,” Dooku said dryly.

Tonith paused, mustering his dwindling patience. “Lord, his shipsare keeping mine at bay in orbit so |
can't rely on reinforcements from their crews, and they cannot engage the ground forces with their
onboard weapons systems. | repest, if the Republic sends reinforcements before—"

“He cannot replace hislosses at dl, can he?” Dooku smiled.

“No, my lord,” Tonith replied sharply, “but if the Republic has been derted and dispatched aforce
agang us—’

“—g0 your enemy is being worn down by attrition.”
“—and they get here before my reinforcements—"

“They will not. Keep your foe engaged. Hold your positions. Help is on the way. | have confidencein
you.” Thetransmission went dead.

Far, far away Count Dooku smiled. That Pors Tonith was afeisty one, but abit too cautious—just likea
banker, he reflected. But he wasthe right officer for the job. Things were going precisely according to
plan. It just wasn't the plan Tonith thought he was following.




Chapter 12
d 4L

Anarmy travelsonits ssomach, I’'m hereto tell you,” old Quartermaster Mess Boulanger stated, his
bright blue eyes sparkling. No one before now had ever asked him the details of hisduty asa
quartermaster officer, and since this young commander—Skywalker was his name—had inquired, old
Mess was not about to let him go without athorough lecture on what he called " the snews of war.”

Carefully, Mess caressed hislong, drooping brown mustaches and regarded Anakin baefully. He held
up abony forefinger. “Many think it’svaor, planning, the offensive spirit that wins beattles, sir, but | say,
‘Pish!’ I'll tell you what wins battles, Sir. It slogisticsl Thesnewsof war, | cdl it, Sr. Logistics! That's
thething, I'm hereto tell you. That' swhat makes armiesfunction. Well—" He made a deprecating
gesture with one hand. “—that isif they’re notdroid armies.” He spat out “ droid.”

“With them, al you need islubricants and spare parts, but!” He held up hisforefinger again. “ That's
logigtics, too! Yesdr, even with an army of machines, you' ve got to know how much lubricants, spare
parts, electronic componentsto stow in your ships! But with living beings, it' s far more complicated, far
more, I’'m hereto tell you. We re lucky thistime, sir. Clonesdl eet the same foods. But when you have
other creatures aong, well, you've got to figurein their specid diets. Very complicated, Sir. But it’ s been
done, | know theformulas...” Hisvoicetralled off asif he were contemplating those very formulas.

“Remember this—" Boulanger perked up again, dthough he looked askance at Grudo, not sure whether
he should be talking about senditive mattersin front of someone he wasn't convinced wasn't redly on a
bounty hunting misson. “COMETS-Q! Yessr, it sCOMETS-Q that gets you to the battlefield, sustains
you once you're there, and gets you home again. That’ s the combat-support branches of modern
warfare, sr: Chemical, Ordnance, Medicd, Engineer, Transportation, Signal, and Quartermaster.”

Anakin was about to ask a question when Mess suddenly added, “And that’snot al. Not at al! Do you
know, Sir, what an army consumesin just one day of heavy combat? Do you know how many caoriesan
infantry soldier burnsup in just one day’ sfighting? En?Well, | do, I'm hereto tell you, Sir! Y ou haveto
know thisif you' re going to supply your army in thefield. Y ou have to estimate casudties, too, yessir,
very important. Y ou may think that’ simpossible, the nature of combat being unpredictablein the
extreme, but it'snat, it'snot.” He nodded his head firmly so his mustaches waggled. “Before we even | eft
Coruscant, | conferred with your operations staff, and we estimated that by the third day of battle you'll
havelost ten percent of your fighting force. So we stocked enough medica and hospital suppliesto
accommodate such losses. Remember, for every one soldier killed in battle, three others are wounded!”
He held up hisforefinger again asif thiswere an immutable law of nature that permitted no argument.

“Ask him.” Boulanger gestured at Grudo, who'd sat silently throughout the lecture. “If he’ s been around
asmuch asheclams, he'll tell you.”

Grudo nodded and said, “It’ s all true.”
Boulanger bowed hishead in satisfaction.

“Quartermaster, we may have to supply Captain Slayke' s forces when we arrive on Praesitlyn. Have
you planned for that?” Anakin asked.
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“Yesdr, | have, | have! Y ou know, of course, that Praesitlyn is an uninhabited world—no forage there
for an army, none, unless you want to poison yourself on the horrid plant and insect life. It sa
quartermaster’ s nightmare, I’m hereto tell you! And yes, Captain Sayke' s command isamixed bag,
I’ve been told, humans and others, al living, breathing, eating entities who must be fed, clothed, and
quartered. So before we shipped out | took care, careful care, Sir, to stock rationsthat | knew were
palatable across the board, as it were, food that we can dl live off.

“And another thing. What does an army do with itswaste? Ahal Y es, what an army eatsisturned into
waste and you have to account for that in garrison and camp and depot! Ever consider that? No, | didn’t
think s0.”

Boulanger fdl slent again, then went on: “I have been at dl the staff meetings, you know.”

“Yes?' Anakin answered, his attention focused on the array of charts and lists and inventories that
cluttered the screensin the quartermaster’ s compartment. “What?’

“I have been at dl the staff meetings,” Boulanger repeated. “What did you think of the logistics annex |
wrote for your operations plan?’ He leaned back, crossed his hands on his potbelly, and glared defiantly
at Anakin, daring him to say anything derogatory about hiswork.

“Yes, Quartermaster, excellent work!” Anakin answered quickly. He kicked himsdlf mentally for not
having had the foresight to study the logistics annex before thisvisit. He' d given it only acursory glance
when it had been presented by hisdivisona chief of staff. And he’ d never noticed Boulanger at the
briefings

“No one ever asks me any questions about my work. That' s because they don't have to. I'm good at
what | do.”

“Y es, Quartermaster Boulanger, you are and you have and | thank you for your excellent work.” Anakin
nodded at Grudo and they both rose, shook hands with the quartermaster, and headed for their shuittle.
Anakin resolved that as soon as he got back to his quarters on theRanger , he'd call up that logistics
annex and go over it asthoroughly as he had the other parts of the plan. Once done, he'd call for
Boulanger, gt down with thelogigtician, and go over every detail with him until they werefirmly fixed in
his own mind. He would memorize how many metric tons, long or short, of supplies, fuel, and ammunition
aforce his size needed to sustain itsdlf in combat, and how many shipsit took to transport those
commoditiesto the battle-field. He had to know what was on which ships, too, in case any werelost in
the landing or fdll behind the rest of the fleet because of mechanica problems. In hismany talkswith
Hal cyon about tactics and strategy and leadership, this subject had come up frequently and the older Jedi
had emphasized itsimportance, but they had not discussed it in any detail. Anakin would now. He vowed
to discusslogistics with Halcyon as soon as he' d boned up onit.

“Don’t be the kind of commander who leaves the detailsto others,” Grudo had warned him. He
wouldn't.

“Y ou have dedlt with Captain Sayke, Grudo, tell me about him.” They werein the shuttle going back to
theRanger after their meeting with Quartermaster Boulanger. “1 would aso like to know how you came
to befriendswith Master Halcyon.”

“It would be better if you talked directly to Master Halcyon about those things,” Grudo answered.



Anakin was sllent for amoment. “1 have asked him, but he’ s been very vague about it. | know the three
of you wereinvolved in theincident on Bpfassh. I’ ve asked him, indirectly, about Sayke, but dl he
would ever say wasthat he held no grudge against him and would work with him as his comrade once
we reach Praesitlyn.”

“Yes, that'sNgaaHacyon! Farindl things.”

“I' know, Grudo. But | must work with Slayke, too. | have to know more about him, and sSince Master
Hacyon isreluctant to talk about what happened, | have to ask you.”

“Isthat an order, Sir?’ Grudo asked formdly.
“Yes” Anakin replied just asformally. “If that’sthe only way | can get you to talk, it' san order.”

“Very wel. Saykeisawarrior. A great warrior, too, not some fat-faced man with milky-smooth skin.
He savery big man. He fights with head, heart, strong right arm! He' sabeing of principle, and brave,
too. Handsome for ahuman, or so I’mtold.”

“Y ou don't haveto tell me what helooks like—I"m going to see him soon enough.”
“Maybeyou'll seehim,” Grudo said darkly, “maybe not. Everyone dies, more diein combat.”

“Y es, Grudo, as you have told me. More than once—as I’ ve seen many times for mysdlf over the past
two and ahdf years,” Anakin said sharply. “Please continue.”

Zozridor Sayke had established his reputation prior to the outbreak of the Clone Wars asthe
commander of a Republic corvette, Scarlet Thranta . His background was obscure, and it was assumed
he had worked hisway up in the navy to command his own warship through talent and ability. Profoundly
dissatisfied with the Senate’ s dilatory approach to deding with the Separatists, Slayke had decided to do
something on his own. Without orders, he' d detached hisvessd from its command and proceeded to
launch a series of stunning raids on Separatist shipping and nava forces. Hewasimmediately labeled a
pirate, and a bounty of forty-five thousand credits was put on his head.

But Sayke didn’'t see himsdf asapirate. He midtreated neither the civilians nor the military personnel he
captured during hisraids, and the proceeds from prize ships and their cargoes were evenly distributed
among his crew or donated to worthy causes. Thelast transmission he’ d sent to navy headquarters from
Scarlet Thranta set the tone for his subsequent enterprises: “While the Senate deeps, agrest evil
threatens the peace and freedom of the peoples of our galaxy. Our paliticians, who neither work nor
sacrifice, have forgotten, if they ever knew it, that freedom is not free, that the price of freedomis
congtant vigilance. We, the crew of Scarlet Thranta , are the children of your beloved Republic! We are
your sons and daughters. We are the Sons and Daughters of Freedom! Follow usl” This message
became aclarion cal for oppressed beings everywhere in the gdlaxy, and in avery short time Sayke had
put together asmall but formidable fleet that not only caused considerable embarrassment to the Republic
Senate, but served as athorn in the side of the Separatist powers, aswell.

“I know this because | waswith Captain Sayke,” Grudo said. “Y ou see, Slayke has the right personality
to command, the persondlity to lead. Soldiersfollow him.”

At loose ends, as he often was between wars, and entirely on his own at the time, Grudo had
volunteered for service with the Sons and Daughters, not out of sympathy with their political views, but
because the group wasillegal and the prospects of some good battles looked promising.



“Tdl me aout Sayke, the man,” Anakin asked.

Grudo' s snout twitched. “Captain Slayke isacommander you can talk to. Helistensto every soldier,
and there were many times | heard him tell his soldiersthat the only difference between him and them was
cere-mony, privileges of rank, you know. He said that every soldier who fightsalongsde himishis
sbling, that rank has no privilegein combat. Not with the Sons and Daughters, anyway.”

“And Hacyon?’
“He cameto arrest us”

At the specid request of the Senate, the Jedi Council had selected Jedi Master Ngaa Halcyon to
command an expedition to apprehend Slayke and bring him to Coruscant to stand tria for piracy and
treason, not necessarily in that order. To his credit, Halcyon had protested the order. In hisopinion,
Sayke was only doing what the Senate should have done on its own. When asked what he would do if
the decision were up to him, he'd answered boldly, “I’d go to hisaid.” But the Council’ s decison was
that no matter how just the cause, the thresat to the Republic could not be met by renegade captains
operating on their own without the authority of the Senate. Orders were orders, and Halcyon obeyed.

Halcyon' s ship wasPlooriod Bodkin . He shadowed Slayke' sfleet for weeks, waiting for an
opportunity to pounce on hisflagship and arrest him. He knew, rightfully, that once Slaykewasin
custody, the Sons and Daughters movement would dissolve and no longer be ableto interfere in galactic
politics. He thought Slayke had made afatal error when he dispersed hisfleet to various portsto refit and
recruit and, aboard his own flagship,Scarlet Thranta , made for Bpfassh in the Suis sector. Halcyon
followed.

“But Sayke didn’'t make amistake,” Grudo said. “Y ou see, we knew we were being followed. Sayke
also knew there was a Jedi in command of the force sent after him. How he knew this, | don’t know, but
Sayketold methat himsalf. He aso told me that those who command the Force are very dangerous, but
that he, Sayke, uses his brain, which ismore powerful than the Force.” Grudo hooted softly. “I don't
know, but that time Slayke wasright.”

“How did Sayke manage to capture Master Halcyon' s ship?’ Anakin asked. He couldn’t imagine
anyone being smart enough to sted a Jedi Master’ s ship. But Slayke had.

“That wasmy doing,” Grudo told him.

Taking refuge on the double planet Bpfassh was a brilliant move on Sayke' s part; with its complex
system of moons, sparse population, and vast wilderness areas, Bpfassh was an excellent placeto hide a
garship. Besides, the inhabitants, while not sympathetic to the Separatists, were not exactly alies of the
Republic, ether. Asfar asany of them were concerned, Slayke was a pirate, and that would assure their
dlenceif questioned by his pursuers. Sayke had no intention of disabusing them of that notion.

“It took time for Master Halcyon to find us, but he did.” Grudo tapped a suction-cup-tipped finger
againg his snout as he contemplated a spot in afar corner of the compartment. In hismind he wason
Bpfassh again, reliving the event. He sighed. “1 fought NeglaaHalcyon in persona combet. Just him and
me. It waswonderful, wonderful.” He lgpsed into a happy silence; it was some time before he continued.

Hacyon' s plan of attack had been smple and direct. Once he' d locatedScarlet Thranta , hesmply
swooped down on the camp, disembarked hisforce, and rushed the place. Sayke' s defensive plan was



also smple and direct. He had dispersed most of his crew to lose themselvesin the Bpfasshi towns and
cities, kegping with him only enough men to operate a starship—and Grudo.

The only being Halcyon found in the camp was Grudo, armed with every weapon in abounty hunter’s
armory, hooting challenges at the Jedi and hislanding party in Rodian, which few of them could
understand, but which made clear that he was not going to come aong peacefully.

“Whereis Captain Sayke?’ Halcyon had thundered.

In answer, Grudo had hurled two knivesin hisdirection. Everyone ducked except the Jedi Master. The
wesponsthunked into the ground between hislegs, aclear challenge to combat. Grudo eschewed the use
of the blasters dung on his hips and drew another pair of knives. Brandishing the wegpons, Grudo
advanced menacingly afew paces.

A lieutenant took aim at the Rodian with his blaster, but Halcyon ordered him not to fire. “I’ll take care
of this” hetold the man. He picked up the knives, tested their balance, and went out to meet Grudo in
individua combet.

“I never knew why he did that,” Grudo reminisced. “His misson wasto takeScarlet Thranta and
capture Sayke, not fight an individual combat. But fight we did, and everybody saw us. He never drew
hislightsaber. When | dropped my knives and weapons belts, so did he, and we fought hand to hand.
Ah, what awarrior! Y ou know the business about Jedi not feeling anger or hatred, but that day—ah,
Negjaa Hacyon needed afight! Hedidn't fight like aJedi at dl. It was very strange, very wonderful.”

Anakin shifted uncomfortably.

“I've never known how Sayke knew thisfight would happen,” Grudo mused. “When he left mein camp
he told me, ‘ Grudo, let no one passl’ Hetold meit was very important that | stand my ground. Hetold
me, ‘ Grudo, have no fear, the Jedi will never hurt an unarmed being.” Sooo, we fought, and what afight it
wad”

Halcyon had not wasted any time maneuvering to get a position of advantage over the Rodian; he just
waded right in, and Grudo advanced to meet him. Halcyon's party formed alarge circle, and some of
them took bets on who would win. Their attention was fully focused on the contest before them.

“Halcyon seemed unwilling to use Jedi tricks’— Anakin assumed he meant the Force—" and fought like
an ordinary warrior. So | used his momentum againgt him. Many times| flipped him to land jarringly on
the hard ground. But Halcyon sprang back up every time and came right back at me.” He hooted a soft
laugh. “Hewasfast enough to get through afew times, and he hit hard enough to bruises—including a
couple of bone bruises.”

Covered in perspiration, his clothestorn in many places where Grudo had grabbed him to throw,
Halcyon had pressed home his advantage of speed and dexterity while the Rodian, hurting from the many
blows the Jedi Master had rained upon him, managed to keep out of Halcyon's grasp. Each time one or
the other struck a blow or made athrow, Scarlet Thranta’s crew sent up aroar of approval. Soon the
ground the two fought on had been churned into amorass. Both contestants had lost any sense of time,
and asthe fight dragged on they began to stumble and miss opportunities as physical exhaustion began to
takeitstoll.

“Thefight stopped when Sayke stolePlooriod Bodkin . Y ou should have seen Halcyon's mouth drop,
like adoor opening: plop ! Everyone stared as the ship rose up on apillar of fire, getting smaller and



smaller and then disappearing. Halcyon froze, eyes on the sky. Nobody moved. | could have killed him
then, but | didn’t. | knew the fight was over, that Captain Slayke' s plan had worked. There sno honor in
killing an opponent when he' slooking away, and | respected Negjaa Halcyon for fighting like he did—he
never once called on the Force during the fight, asfar as| could tell.” He hooted softly for amoment,
then said, serious again, “1 don’t understand why he didn’t kill me after his ship wastaken, but hedidn’t.”

Sayke had disabled the drives onScarlet Thranta , leaving Halcyon and his men stranded on Bpfassh
for saveral months until arepair ship could arrive. Grudo had been taken without further struggle as
Halcyon’ s prisoner—the only quarry to show for the whole mission. Asthe weeks dragged by in
idleness, they had gotten to know each other fairly well. Findly one day Hacyon said, “ Grudo, I'm letting
you go when we get back to Coruscant. I’ d be the laughingstock of the whole galaxy if | returned from
this mission with only one prisoner. Here sthe dedl: for your freedom, you stay put until | can find some
usefor you.”

In the meantime the Senate relented on its charge of treason and piracy, and Supreme Chancellor
Palpatine, bowing to the inevitable and making the best of the Situation, commissioned Sayke to continue
raiding Separatist shipping and outposts.

“S0,” Grudo concluded, “I found rooms at the Golden Slug and there | waited until you and Halcyon
camefor me”

The shuttle had been parked in the loading bay on theRanger for sometime before Grudo finished his
gory, itspilot fuming in the cockpit.

“Strange, isn't it, how fate arranges our lives?’ Grudo pondered. “ Here we are now, very near to where
| first met Halcyon and where | last saw Captain Sayke. Two very great men, and | have been honored
to serve them both. Now, soon, we al meet again, and thistimewe redl dlies. Lifeisgood!” He paused
for amoment, then said, “1 wonder what Captain Sayke is doing down there on Praesitlyn right now.”

Chapter 13
d 4L

They could smell the battlefield before they ever got in sight of it. L’ Loxx pulled his speeder into the
shadow of arock outcropping. “Now’ swhereit redly getshairy,” hetold Erk and Odie. “ There' s about
akilometer of open terrain we ve got to crossto get to our positions. It’'s constantly under observation,
and the enemy is aways directing harassment and interdiction firesonto it. Our labor droids have built a
series of bunkers connected by deep trenches throughout the area—once we get insde our defensive
perimeter, we' Il bedl right. But it’ s that race across the open ground where you' Il haveto really beon
your toes. I’ ve done it severd times. Zig and zag alot. Follow me—I know where to cross our lines. The
chdlenge for today iswidow and the countersign isorphan , in case we get separated.”

“Whatis that smell?’ Erk asked, wrinkling hisnose.
L’Loxx smiled wryly a the pilot. “ Right, you don't have any experience with fighting up close.” It was

the disdain of the infantry soldier, who lived and fought and bled in the mud, for those who dept in beds
and fought in what foot soldiers considered clean environments. “Y ou don’t know. There are tens of
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thou-sands of troops down there, al stuck in one area, without running water. They start to smell after a
while.” Helooked away, and hisface went blank for amoment. “Besides, we haven't had time to bury
al our dead.” He shook it off and returned to the matter at hand. “Here swhat we'll do. I'll goinfirst on
Jamur’ s speeder. They' |l recognize me as friendly. Once lI’m in, you two come on the seventy-four-Zs.
You can't seeit from here, but there' s aredoubt down there that’ s got thiswhole area covered in case
the enemy flanks us and comesin from therear. I'll tell them not to fire on you, and the other outposts
will direct counterbattery fire on the enemy guns. That should distract them enough so you can get
through with no problem. Remember the passwords because theywill chalenge you. Can you handle that

Speeder there, flyboy?’

“Sarge, one of these days|’ll get you in the backseat of afighter and show you somerea handling,” Erk
sad.

L’ Loxx grinned. “I look forward to that day, Lieutenant. Onefind thing. We ve determined that
whoever’ s controlling the enemy guns only reactsto movement, so if you fal or are wounded, lie till and
you won't be atarget.”

“How long do weliethere?’ Odie asked.
“Until we come out and get you. Ready?’

Sayke sarmy had dug in dong adry riverbed that faced the plateau on which the Intergaactic
Communications Center sat. Various strongpoints connected by atrench-and-tunnel complex had been
congtructed. The remains of uncounted thousands of destroyed battle droids and war machines littered
the complex, mute evidence of the heavy fighting that had been going on. Right now the lineswere
reatively quiet. Occasondly high-energy weapons directed their beamsinto the defenses, or Sayke's
artillery lanced out at the enemy positions, but otherwise there seemed to be no movement at al.

Almost from theinstant L’ Loxx headed down the dope, high-energy ranging weapons began to take him
under fire. It took him afull thirty secondsto cross the intervening open space, zigging and zagging
without any apparent pattern, and disappear into the safety of atrench line where he was protected from

the enemy guns.

“Ohboy, ohboy,” Odie muttered, putting her speeder into gear and roaring down the dope. She made it
halfway to the trench line before the enemy opened fire, confused momentarily by the presence of one of
their own speeders crossing no-being’ s-land. Obvioudy, whoever or whatever was operating the enemy
fire-control system was dow to make the connection that the bikes couldn’t belong to their side, snce no
lone recon trooper would be making a dash for the enemy lines. At that point Sayke s own artillery
responded to the enemy fire, which had dackened considerably by the time Odie made cover.

Erk swalowed nervoudy. The pams of his hands were swesty on the speeder’ s controls. He' d quickly
learned how to operate the machine on the long trek across the desert, but what was required of him
now would be adegree of ill in riding that he wasn't sure he possessed. One mistake he wouldnot
make was to exit his position in the same place as the other two had; by now every enemy gun would be
trained on that spot. Carefully, he guided his speeder down the ridge about a hundred meters. That meant
he' d haveto aim for the trench line at an acute angle. Would the terrain look so different approaching
from that angle that he’ d miss the entrance? Would the violent maneuvering disorient him?

He gunned the speeder, cleared the ridgeline by ten meters, and dammed down on the other side with
enough forceto jar histeeth. Caught off guard, the enemy gunnersdidn’t fireat him at first, but after a
few seconds beams began lancing down dl around him, dagging the ground where they struck. Erk



Zigged and zagged, l€ft, right, right, straight ahead for afew meters; stop for aone-second count; then
sraight ahead for afew more meters, executing sharp turns every few meters. He could fed the heat of
the near hits asthe enemy gunnerstracked him. They could have laid down acurtain of fire between him
and the trench but didn’t. Instead they kept tracking him as an individua target, asif trying to score points
inagame,

Erk never saw the depression in the ground. Just as he crossed the depression’ s forward edge, a bolt
struck the speeder’ sfuel cell and it exploded in aviolent orange blossom, but he had already pitched
headlong over the controls and dammed down into the ground with enough force to knock him
unconscious. Those few seconds saved hislife because the enemy gunners, or whoever was controlling
them, seeing him lying on the ground and not moving, apparently thought he had been killed in the
explosion.

The next thing Erk knew someone was hauling him to hisfeet. “Come on! Come on!”

It was Odie. Groggily, he straddled the machine she guided him to and held on to her for hislife. The
Speeder legpt forward at top speed, dmost throwing him off. She swerved sharply to theright and again
to the | eft, the speeder cutting the turns so close that his knee dragged aong the ground. In seconds they
were insde the trench. Odie switched off her engine, and willing hands emerged from the bunkersto help
the pair off.

“Finework!” Sergeant L’ Loxx shouted. “Flyboy, | sure hope you navigate that fighter of yours better
than you did that speeder! Y ou should have amedic seeto that knee.”

Erk nodded dumbly, still dazed from being thrown. Then he gathered himself and asked, “Where sthe
adgation?’

“Fifty meters or so that way there’ saconnecting trench.” L’ Loxx pointed to theright. “ Follow it, you
can't missit.” Heturned to one of hissoldiers. “ Frak, show him the way. Wait for him and bring him
back. If the docs can’t take care of him right away and you think he' sal right, bring him back—he can
et treated later.”

While the sergeant was ingtructing Private Frak, Erk pulled himsdf to hisfeet. He looked to see how
high the lip of the trench was. Confident that he was protected from direct fire, he followed Frak down
the trench.

Odi€e' s concerned eyesfollowed Erk for amoment, then decided he was going to be dl right and asked
amoreimmediate question. “Any chance of getting something to eat?’

“That’' swhat al of uswould liketo know,” L’ Loxx answered. “What | can do is offer you aplaceto
rest out of the elements.” He showed her into asmall bunker with acot. Odie didn’t care that the cot was
filthy from the many unwashed soldiers who had dept on it—at least it was off the ground. She was
adleep as soon as she closed her eyes.

Sergeant L’ Loxx woke her an hour later. “Come on,” he said. “Captain Slayke wants to see you and the

flyboy.”

Odie sat up and rubbed her eyes. She mumbled something—the only word L’ Loxx could make out was
“Erk.”

“He sback and he' s been taken care of. Let’sgo. The captain’ swaiting for us.”



Sayke sarmy, compaosed of volunteersfrom al over the gaaxy, was a polyglot conglomeration of
species. Asfar as possible, Sayke had organized his unitsto keep individuas of a speciestogether. As
the trio negotiated the narrow trenches, at one point they squeezed past a squad of Gungan engineers
rebuilding a caved-in bunker; in another sector acompany of Bothans staffed observation posts. And
everywhere was the detritus of war: destroyed battle droids, discarded weapons, abandoned personal
items, and empty supply containers of al kindslittered the positions, engineer and |abor droids scurried
everywhere, collecting wespons and ordnance for salvaging, rebuilding damaged walls, hdping living
beings scavenge for supplies.

The command post wasin abunker deep underground. It was a hubbub of organized disorder, officers
and noncoms taking reports from the outpodts, others passing on orders, staff officers dealing with the
myriad details required to keep an army operationa in combat. At the center of it al wasthe
commanding figure of Zozridor Sayke.

Sergeant L’ Loxx gpproached the captain, came to attention, and saluted. “ Recon report, Sir,” he
announced.

“Omin, | seeyou madeit back again.” Slayke nodded for him to proceed, and L’ Loxx made hisreport,
concluding with the discovery of Erk and Odie and the trip back to their lines.

Sayke held out hishand. “Welcome to my victoriouslittle army. Do you know if there are any other
aurvivors of General Khamar’ sforce?’

“Nossir,” Erk answered. “ That doesn’t mean there aren't any, just that we didn’t see anyone else.”

Slayke shook his head. “Too bad. We could use the reinforcement, but since you' re dl there appearsto
be, you'll haveto do. You're afighter pilot, Lieutenant?1’d like to assign you to an aircraft, but we' real
out of them just now. But you, trooper, you' re recon? Reconnaissanceis my eyesand ears. | rely heavily
on trooperslike Omin here.” Odiewas surprised at how Slayke used or even knew the first names of his
soldiers. “The enemy is congtantly trying to outflank us and take out positionsfrom the rear. That’ swhy
recon troopers are so important to me. | need someone to replace Corpora Nath. He was a good man,
Jamur, but he’ s gone now. Would you be willing to take on the job?’

With Sayke standing there looking straight at her with his penetrating eyes, it was very difficult for Odie
not to shout outYessir ! but shedidn't. Instead, she said, “If you don’t mind, sir, I’ d rather stay and fight
alongside Lieutenant Erk.” She swallowed hard but couldn’t stop her face from turning red at the words.
“He sapilot, sr—he doesn’t know how to fight on the ground. He needs someone to hold his hand.”
She blushed more brightly when she realized how what she said could be taken.

Sayke raised his eyebrows, glanced at Sergeant L’ Loxx, who just gave anoncommittal shrug, and
turned to Erk.

“Um, she'smy copilot, Sir, sort of, that is,” Erk said.

“Oh?" Sayke answered. “ Come over herewith me.” He gestured at a hologram map table behind
where they stood. On it was athree-dimensional display of Slayke' stroop dispositions. “Here, thisdry
riverbed is no-being’ s-land, the dividing line between our armies. The lines are very close together there.”
He grinned wolfishly. “I had us movein so close that his shipsin orbit don't dare fire because they’ d
destroy hisown droids. That's assuming any of his ships can break contact with my fleet to pay attention
to what' s happening down here. He caught on quickly and keeps hisforcesjust as close to mine so my



ships can't fire on hisground forces.

“Thisredoubt,” he said, pointing at afortified outpogt, “isthe most advanced part of our lines. It'scalled
|zable, and it’ sthere to warn us of any changein the enemy’ s dispositions, any preparations he might be
making to attack us. About Sx hundred meters behind

|zable, but out on the flanks, are two more forts, Eliey and Kaudine. Here, where we are now, isthe
main position in our defenses. About six hundred meters behind usisthefinal redoubt, Judlie, where you
cameinto our lines. Judlie covers our rear. These five strong-points are massively dug in, and each hasa
three-axty-degreefidd of fire, fully interlocked with the fields of fire from the other postions, so if the
enemy gets through anywhere dong our linesall theforts can bring fire on him. Here, here, here, and here
areartillery postions, equally well dug in, but their guns are registered on every square meter of our own
lines, soif the enemy bresksthrough they’ Il be taken under direct fire. The redoubts are connected by a
series of tunnels and trenchesto adlow usto shift soldiers and supplies from one point to another as
needed. Thisplaceisan engineering marvel. We built it in just two days while under fire. That’ sthanksto
our engineers and hundreds of |abor droids. Engineers saved thisarmy.

“On the other sde of thisriverbed are the enemy’ s positions, occupying thislarge, flat plain. Thismesg,
back here, iswhere the Interga actic Communications Center islocated. That was the enemy’ s objective,
and I’'m sure he sholding it in considerable strength. I’ m sure that as members of Genera Khamar's
army you're familiar with how thisplaceislaid out. Whoever’ sin command over thereissmart. Hetried
gx timesto take us by storm and we beat him off each time. Not without losses on our side, but we cut
his droids down by the thousands. He took |zable twice, and we took it back from him each time. Now
he' s content to probe our lineslooking for weak spots, attempting to out-flank us, and digging tunnels.

Y es, he' sgot one going right now, at a depth of about one hundred meters, headed straight toward
|zable. When he getsthere he'll set off amountain of explosives and blow 1zable sky-high. Sowe're
digging a countermine to go under hisand blow it beforeit reaches | zable. Be interesting to see who gets
therefirgt, won't it?” Sayke grinned fiercely.

“Whet are our chances?’ Erk asked.

“Before we attacked | sent a message to Coruscant asking for help. Maybeit'll comein time, maybe
not. Until then we' re on our own, but we ve really messed up thisguy’ stimetable.” He gestured at the
enemy positions on the holomap. “My guessis he' swaiting to be reinforced, too. Whoever’ s opposing
me over there was sent here to secure the center, not garrison it, so there' s got to be alarge follow-on
force coming along soon. If it gets here before we rereinforced. ..” He shrugged.

“What are you planning to do until then, sir?” Odie asked.

“Do?Wdll, I'm going to kick them ashard as| can.” The officers standing around the map laughed.
“And you two—I can dways use apair of gunners up at 1zable. How about it?’

“Yesdr.

“Sergeant L’ Loxx, get them fed, issue them some equipment, and get them up to 1zable. They can report
to Lieutenant D’ Norefor further assgnment. Good luck.” He held out his hand and they shook.

The med they were given consisted of field combat rations designed to sustain life at a high rate of
metabolism, not to satisfy epicurean tastes. When they werefin-ished eating, L’ Loxx gave them each an
equipment belt. “They’ re gandard infantry |oad-bearing equipment harnesses, but we' ve added some
extratoolswe ve found useful in thefield. Check out the pouchesfirst chance you get and familiarize



yourself with their contents. Could save your lifein apinch.”

Lieutenant D’ Nore was a harassed Bothan struggling with the responsibility of maintaining his outpost on
100 percent dert. It was he who had led the assault party that had most recently recaptured 1zable from
the battle droids. Since then, the only deep he' d been able to get wasin brief snatches. “I’'m not letting
them retake |1zable,” hetold histwo new fighters. “Y ou'll work in an advanced listening post covering
sector five.” He didn't bother to indicate where “ sector five” in the outpost might be before he was off to
confer with the soldiersin sector three, shouting over his shoulder asheleft, “I'll talk to you two more
later. | had three people down there, but they were all wounded and evacuated. So whatever you do,
don’t fire your wegpon unless you' re attacked. | don’t want the enemy to know we' ve reoccupied the
listening post.” With that he disappeared down a communications trench.

A sergeant standing nearby said, “Come on, you two, I’ll take you down. Be sure not to expose
yourselves above the trench line, or you' |l get zapped for sure.” Crouching low, the pair followed him off
in the opposite direction from the one the lieutenant had just taken. After some twistings and turnings, the
trench ended at afortified embrasure. “ Sector five,” the ser-geant announced. Bloodstains and shreds of
clothing marked the spot where medics had treated the last crew operating the gun.

“I've never even seen aweapon like this, much lessknow how to operateit,” Erk said, looking at the
E-Web repeating blaster.

“I"ve been trained on dl types of infantry wegpons,” Odiereplied. “I’ll fire the blaster, you monitor the
power generator.” Sheturned to the sergeant. “When will we be relieved?’

“When you'rerdieved, and | don’t have any ideawhen that will be,” he answered. He handed them
each aration packet. “Make them last—they’ re dl we have left. Seep in shifts. One of you monitor the
tactical net a al times. Comm check every thirty minutes. Don't miss one. Fire your wegpon only when
you have atarget. Y ou aren’t down here to stop an assaullt, only to give usawarning if one comes and
dow them down alittle. When they start closing in, that’ sthe time to go back up that trench to the main
defensive position as quick asyou can. It’' s up to you to decide when to bug out, but don’t wait too long.
Y our communicationscal signisHope Five; the command post islzzy Sx . Synchronize your
chronos—it’ s sixteen fifteen. Check in at sixteen forty-five.” With that, he scuttled back up the
communicationstrench.

Despite her brave words, Odie hadn't trained exhaustively with the E-Web repeating blasters, and it
took her severa minutes of examination to refamiliarize hersdf with the syssem. When shefdt confident
enough, she began explaining it to Erk.

“This blaster should be connected to the other onesin the outpost by its built-in long-range secure
com-link,” she said, pointing out each component as she mentioned it. “ That meansif we come under
attack, the targeting systems on the other blasterswill automaticaly zero in to give us supporting fire and
viceversa” Sheragpidly checked the comlink. “Good, it'sworking. Everything' s still powered up, sowe
don’t have to go through that sequence—that can take up to fifteen minutes.”

“What' | thisthing do?’ Erk asked, looking at the blaster. He unfastened his equipment harnessand
tossed it in acorner.

“Might want to keep that on, Erk,” shewarned. “Y ou never know when you might need something in
there”

“Yeah, I've glanced at it—mostly groundpounder beauty aids, most of which | don’t even know how to



use. So what’ sin those pouches?’
“Neat suff. | haven't had a chance to inspect everything yet but—"

“1 want you to teach me how to use thisblaster, Odie. | don’t need dl that junk dung over meto do
that—it'll only get intheway. Y ou tell meif there' sanything hanging on herel might need, al right?’

“Sure. Wdll, thisblaster, see, it's a pretty deadly antipersonne weagpon. Its effective rangeisonly two
hundred meters, but its maximum rangeis out to haf akilometer. With theinterlocking fields of fire, |
don't think any droidswill get through. Y our job will be to monitor the power flow so the gun doesn’'t
overheat during action. If | get disabled, just switch to the power generator’ s preset mode—this switch
here. That'll prevent dangerous surges, but it also reduces the weapon’ srate of fire consderably. I'll
teach you everything you need to know about how to use it, then we can spell each other.”

“How’'dyou learn dl thisstuff?’

“Recon troopers are infantry, too,” Odie answered, “so I’ ve been trained on weapons, eveniif | don't
carry ablagter rifle”

The embrasure had been drilled out of the rock in away that allowed for plenty of overhead and flank
protection. Forward observation was through narrow dits cut in the stone. Erk peered through one of the
viewing ports. In the fading light he could still clearly make out the blasted ground between sector five
and the dry riverbed, which was littered with destroyed droids. He wondered what had happened to the
defenders of this position when it had been overrun. For thefirst time, afedling of hopelessness began to
possess him. How could anyone expect them to survive in this position?“We |l have to deep with our
headgear on,” heremarked, “sncewe |l need infrared capability onceit getsdark.”

“Right. The blaster has an infrared target acquisition system. Before it getstoo dark to see, I'll show you
some more things about it.”

The night passed quietly. The lines were probed in other sectors, resulting in intermittent blagterfire. At
those times the tactical communications net came dive with reports and orders, and both Erk and Odie
became fully dert, but once the shooting died down they took turnstrying to catch some deep. They
divided the night into two-hour watches. Odie had taught Erk enough about their wegpon that he could
operateit by himsdlf and deliver immediatefireif anything moved in their sector. Even watching through
his night-vision devices, Erk’ s eyes played tricks on him: irregular mounds seemed to moveif he stared at
them long enough. He found himself rubbing his eyes and shaking his head frequently to clear hisvision.
Hefought to stay awake. Asafighter pilot he knew very well how fatd inattention could be, but he
wasn't in a high-performance fighter now, he was sitting in adamp, rocky crypt that smelled of blood and
feces, hunger gnawed at his ssomach and made him faint, he hadn’t dept in ages, and he ached dl over.
Hisknee, in particular, throbbed painfully.

He sighed, shook himsdlf, blinked. First light would be in afew minutes, then dawn. Usudly heloved this
time of day, before the rest of the world was awake, and everything was qui€t, clean, peaceful. He
shivered. The nightsin this part of Praesitlyn were very cold and the days scorching hot. He looked down
at Odie. She had drifted off to deep as soon asit was her turn. He smiled. She could’ ve been out there
with the recon troopers, doing what she did best, riding free like the wind, but instead she had
volunteered to stay with him, and here she wasin thishole, the only thing between her and the invading
army athinwall of rock. When they got out of thismess...

Erk’ s heart fluttered. Something out there had moved! His pams on the aiming handles suddenly grew



swesaty. He nudged Odie with histoe, and she snapped awake ingtantly.

“Something' s out there,” he whispered. He wasfully aert now, asevery fiber in hisbody reacted to the
adrendine surging through him. He was surprised to hear himsdlf chuckling in anticipation. “Come on,
comeon,” he whispered, focusing the gun’s optics, impatient for the action to begin. He could see as
clearly as day through the Sghting system. Then the entire field of vision through the firing port seemed to
heave up and come at him.

“lzzy Six! 1zzy Six! Hope Five. Here they come!” he said urgently.

Erk began firing into the mass of oncoming battle droids. He was aware of Odie at his side, monitoring
the power surges asthe blaster roared.

A tiny voiceinsde hishelmet asked, “Hope Five, Izzy Six here. What isthe enemy strength? Repedt,
what isthe enemy strength? Over.”

“Thousands of them,” Erk shouted. “ Thousands!”

Chapter 14
d 4L

My Dearest..." No, that wouldn’t do, too impersonal. He started over. "My love..." No, no, too, too
ordinary. He thought uncertainly about what to say next. Try this ”1 missyou morethan | can say. My
heart is overflowing with love for you, my dearet, sweetest...* Hewroteinthisvein for awhileona
sheet of flimsiplast, then paused and reread the paragraph. No, no, no, he sounded like alovesick
adolescent! Thiswas hiswife, a Senator, a heroine, awoman who was the life mate of a Jedi Knight, or
aman who soon would be one—or dead.

Anakin Skywalker sat in his cabin on board theRanger . In afew hours hewould transfer from the
Ranger to theNedlian , a corvette accompanying the transports. Halcyon would remain on theRanger to
lead the attack while Anakin commanded the landing force. Then Halcyon and the heavy cruiserswould
smash aholein the enemy blockade, a hole through which Anakin and the ground forces would make
planetfal on Praesitlyn. They knew through | FF— identification-friend-or-foe—systems unaffected by
the communications blackout theat at |east some of Sayke' sfleet had survived the initial contact and were
dill in orbit around Praesitlyn, in contact with the remaining Separatist ships.

When Sayke had been pardoned for raising his own force to attack the Separatists and commissioned
to act on hisown as a privateer, he had been given his own set of I|FF codes. These codes contained all
the information on file about each ship in hisfleet, its name, class and armaments, ship’s complement, and
so on. Each ship had been equipped with a transponder that, when queried with the appropriate | FF
code, would respond with its proper identification, thereby establishing that it was afriendly vessd,
hopefully avoiding the kind of “friendly fire” incident that dl too frequently occurred in the heet of battle.
Halcyon was confident that once the attack commenced, Sayke' s vessels would join them, and together
they’ d overwhem the blockading force. So far the cordon placed around Sluis Van did not appear to
have been disturbed. If those ships moved to participate in the battle, things could get complicated.
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The landing zone on Praesitlyn had aready been marked out: a piece of rugged terrain behind adry
riverbed on the plain just below the plateau where the Interga actic Communications Center sat. Halcyon
had picked that spot rather than one on the plateau itself because he felt apitched battle that close to the
center would be more likely to result in its destruction and the death of the technicianswho were
presumed to be prisoners of the Separatists.

Ha cyon, Anakin, their commanders, the troops, and the crews who staffed the fleet had done al they
could to prepare for the coming battle. Now it wastimeto rest. In afew hoursthe fleet would arrive at
itsinitia point, the sector of space surrounding Praesitlyn that the captains had selected asthe areawhere
they would bring their shipsinto attack formations. The enemy fleet had to know they were coming by
now; they had been inside the dead zone where communications had been cut off with the rest of the
gaaxy for sometime. In fact, Halcyon had been in the middle of areport to the Jedi Council when the
equipment had gone dead, asure sign that they had entered the hostile zone of influence.

Anakin crumpled the flimsiplast and fed it into the shredder. He pulled out another. A Jedi did not fed
fear, despair, londliness. He knew that the coming battle would be won and that his division would acquit
itself well: Grudo had told him so many times, and Grudo knew armies and commanders. In fact, Anakin
had been a phenomendly quick study in the art of command, throwing himsdf into the task every waking
hour of each day the fleet wasin trangt. He had immersed himsdlf enthusiagtically in dl aspects of military
management, aswell. Neither did hefed despair; helooked forward to the coming battle. They had right
and justice on their Sde, and they would prevail. He eagerly anticipated meeting the legendary Captain
Sayke. And hedidn’'t fed lonely, ether. His relationship with Hacyon, who treated him like ayounger
brother, had grown even closer. And Grudo, the faithful, solid, reliable old Rodian, had stuck so closeto
him during the voyage that they had become inseparable companions.

Anakin Skywalker was no stranger to fear, pain, despair, and rage, but al that was behind him now, in
another life. He began to write again: “Y ou are with me now, my love. | fed the warmth of your bresth
on my cheek and smell the scent of your hair and clothes as you press your body closeto mine. We
faced degth together, my love, and conquered it. Tomorrow, though | face death again, your loveiswith
me and will sustain me...” Hewrote for sometime. Often on this voyage he had wished he could use his
considerable Force sengtivity to ook in on Padme. But even if he could, he knew he wouldn't: that
would be an inexcusable abuse of his powers as a Jedi, and because he had aready broken his oath by
marrying Padme, he was determined not to do it again to satisfy his persona desires. Still, ashewrote, in
hismind’ seye the walls of his spartan compartment seemed to fade away, and once again hewas
reunited with his beloved Padme by the beautiful 1ake on Naboo where they’ d consecrated their vows of
eterna love and companionship.

A lump had formed in histhroat by the time he finished theletter. He reread it. His handwriting was not
easy to decipher, but something like this could not be committed to an e ectronic medium that might be
read by someone ese. It was private in the extreme and would remain that way. He shook his head and
smiled. “I can’'t believe | wrote this.” He brushed away the tear that had formed in the corner of hiseye,
then blinked and looked around. Well, there they were again, the sted bulkheads of histiny
compartment. The gentle throbbing of theRanger’ s drives coming up through the deckplates warmed the
solesof hisfeet. Redlity.

Carefully, Anakin folded the sheet of flimsplast severa times and then sedled it tight. He wrote across
both sides, PERSONAL FOR SENATOR AMIDALA, and placed it lovingly inside his cloak. Before
he |eft for the assault, he' d leave it and his other persona thingsin the custody of the captain of the
Neelian , to be delivered in the event of his death.

Helay on hisbunk and closed his eyes, but deep just wasn't there for him now. Halcyon had agreed



that instead of taking a shuttle to theNedlian , Anakin could take his customized Ddlta-7 Aethersprite.
Wil if he couldn’t have his Padme, he' d have his starfighter and pend the next few hourstinkering with
her.

A battle fleet never degps. Crew on board the ships might deep when off their watches, but a battle fleet
isaways awake, dways dert, and on the eve of going into action soldiersdeep in shiftsa their battle
gations. A tension runs through a battle fleet so that the individua vessels and their crews are like the
components of avast living creature, a predatory animal on the verge of legping onto the prey it has
tracked through the depths of space. But in this case the prey could fight back. Perhaps even the clone
troopersfelt the tenson—not that it affected their menta states sgnificantly—and Grudo fdt it, too. For
Jedi Master Halcyon, it was afamiliar and exhilarating sensation, but nothing to lose any deep over.

Halcyon had finished hislast war council with his captains, and they had departed to their separate
commands. All wasready. Now the fina waiting had begun.

When Halcyon woke from a brief deep he sat in his quarters and wrote, “My Dearest Scerraand
vdin...” Thiswasjust the latest in a series of letters he had written to hiswife and son to be delivered in
case of his death—but hopefully in person once this expedition was over. He was writing them by hand,
to protect them from prying eyes and to keep safe—for now—the secret of hisviolation of the Jedi oath.
Finished, he folded and sedled the letter and added it to the packet he’ d been keeping, adozen lettersin
al. Thethought of hiswife and son warmed him.

He put the thought of hisloved ones out of hismind. He had endured the separation from them for so
long now that the pain had subsided into adull throb deep in hisvitals. It was no good to think of such
things. He stretched. He' d go find Anakin, give him alast-minute pep tak, bolster both their spirits. The
young Jedi was proving to be acommander in his own right. Oh, everyone knew he was brave—what
he' d done at the Battles of Geonosis and Jabim and in other desperate situations had proved that. On
Jabim he' d been personally ordered by Supreme Chancellor Papatine to leave the battlefield after more
than amonth of hard fighting, forced to leave hisfriends, to help with the evacuation. And Anakin had
obeyed the order, however reluctantly. He was no stranger to pain, degth, defeat. Heknew hehad a
destiny. He was destined to command. The young Jedi possessed a great Force senditivity; hewas
bright, bright to the point of genius. Halcyon was sure Anakin would be aMaster someday and even Sit
on the Council. And now he had demonstrated his gptitude for command, the ability to lead, that ineffable
quaity of persondity that convinces othersthat one knowswhat oneisdoing, and if they follow, they will
succeed. Observing him daily, Halcyon was sure Anakin had put his emotions behind him.

Hacyon stood. There was only one place Anakin would be at thislate hour.
“How'sit going, Angkin?’

Startled, Anakin stood up in the cockpit of his starfighter, Azure Angel 11 . “Just making some
last-minute adjustments.” He hopped down from the fighter and wiped hishandson arag. “I’m ready.”

It was quiet in the docking bay; the other machines, shuttles mostly, had been secured against the
impending action. The pair sat on some empty crates.

“Just afew hoursand we ll beinit,” Hacyon said. “Y ou have ten thousand troops under your
command. How do you fed 7’

“Ready.” Anakin dapped hisknee. “Ready.”



“Isyour amdl right?’

“Never fdt better.” Anakin flexed hisfingersto proveit. “Master Hal cyon—I’ ve been meaning to ask
you something...”

Halcyon looked closdly at Anakin. “ Sure. What isit?’

Anakin hesitated, then blurted, “ Grudo told me about your run-in with Sayke and, well, | thought I'd
ask you...” He shrugged. “Why—that is, why did you fight him that day? Not so much why did you fight
him, but why did you fight him the way you did?’

“I’ve wondered about that myself.” Halcyon took a deep breath. “I never wanted to go after Sayke,
you know. Others thought him arebel at best, apirate at worst. But | thought he was only doing what the
Republic should have been doing dl aong. | had plansto go hometo—" He caught himself. “—to vist
with friends, take arest, but the Council appointed meto lead thejudicia corvette they were sending
after Slayke, and | had to follow my orders, do my duty, do what | am sworn to do. We Jedi have no
persondl lives, no families like other people.” Hisvoice took on atone of bitternessthat surprised
Anakin. It was abit how hefelt himsef right now. Unconscioudy he touched the spot beneath his cloak
where hewas carrying the letter to Padme.

“So,” Hacyon continued, “when we got to the clearing where Sayke' s ship had landed | knew hewas
not aboard, and | half suspected that Grudo standing there with his knives was part of somekind of
diversonary scheme. At thetime | thought it was designed to draw me away from the woods where
Sayke and his crew were hiding.” He laughed harshly. “But at that point | just didn’'t care,” he said with
feding.

Anakin was taken aback by the emotion in the Jedi Master’ svoice.
“Anakin, can| trust you?' Halcyon blurted then.

The Jedi Master sounded terribly serious, and his eyes looked shadowed by sadness. Anakin wanted to
tdl him,Of course you can trust me , but suddenly he didn’t know if that was areassurance that was his
togive. “Goon,” hesaid uncertainly.

After amoment, Halcyon continued. *Y ou know the reason we Jedi aren’t supposed to have any
emotiona connectionswith other people, don't you?” Anakin didn’t answer: the question wasrhetorical.
“It’' s because emotions cloud a Jedi’ s judgment, makeit difficult for him to see hisduty, to do the hard
and difficult things he' ssworn to do. Well, | failed thetest.”

NeaaHa cyon told Anakin about hiswife and son.

At first Anakin couldn’t speak, could only gape mutely at the man who had become amentor. Halcyon
chuckled and tapped Anakin under the jaw.

“Dropped so fast | thought you' d didocated it,” he said. He sighed. “ So thereit is. You' rethe only one
who knows. Areyou going to tell the Jedi Council when we get back?’

Anakin didn’t know what to say. “No,” he croaked, trying to control hisvoice. “1 suspect Y oda aready
knows, or guesses. Not much getsby him.” Then guilt and honesty overcame him. “Besides, if | report
you, you can retdiate by reporting me,” he said dl inarush. And then he told Halcyon about his marriage
to Padme.



It was Nglaa Halcyon' sturn to gape. When he could talk again he said, “Married? You?’ He shook his
head wonderingly. “ So you married her when you went to Naboo together, didn’'t you?” he said dowly.
“And even Obi-Wan doesn’t know?’

Anakin reddened asthe shame of hislierose up fromits hiding place deep in his heart. “1t has been. ..
difficult,” he admitted. “ Obi-Wan ismy Master—and my friend. | hate lying to him!”

Hacyon just nodded. “1 know, | know. We have gone againgt everything we have ever been taught—
againg what it meansto beaJedi...” Hisvoicetrailed off.

“But it doesn't fed wrong!” Anakin burst out. “I mean—the dishonesty, yes, but not the love! Not the
caring! | fed nolessaJedi for my love of Padme!”

“I, too, have struggled with that.” Halcyon frowned. “1 wonder sometimesif Y oda does know about
me— about us. But if that’ s the case, then why did the Council pick meto lead this expedition? And why
did they dlow meto take you as my second in command, when they knew it would throw us
together—two who share such a secret? It’ s not because we were the only Jedi available. There were
others at the Temple—or they could have recalled some from other commands. So why do it thisway?’
Helooked at Anakin, and his shoulders straightened. “I'll tell you what | think. | think we re being given
achanceto prove oursalves— they as much astold methat. And I’ ve come to think this assignment may
be more of atria even than that.” He seemed to be about to say something more, then clamped his
mouth shut and stood up. “It’ s about time for you to shove off, young friend.” He stood. “ Time to show
them all what we' re made of.”

“l guess 0.” Anakin dso stood, and asthey shook hands warmly, he wondered what greater trid the
Council might haveinmind.

Chapter 15
d 4

Attack! Attack! Attack!* Tonith pounded the control pand. ” Attack al along theline! Throw in as many
battle droids as we need to break their defenses! We' ve dready captured their forward bastion; presson
now, presson!*

Tonith had established his command post near the communications center on the plateau that overlooked
the battlefield. This gave him acommanding view of what was going on, whileit placed him and his saff
far enough behind the linesto avoid serious danger from thefighting.

“But Admira,” B’wuf, the senior control technician protested, “we ve dready |ost upward of one
hundred thousand droidsin our previous attacks. And we' ve taken the forward bastion twice before and
lost it twice. Our losses have been enormous. I'm sorry, Sir, but | serioudy advise that our better course
isto hold theline here until we re reinforced, and then overwhelm them with sheer numbers.”

“My dear B'wuf, assetsthat just Sit in the bank only earn interest. Y ou must invest to make afortune.”
He regarded the controller carefully. B'wuf had the annoy-ing habit of speaking in adow drawl, asif
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awayslooking for just theright words to express himsdlf, asif hewas afraid of saying the wrong thing
and getting himsdf into trouble. In Tonith’ s experience, hewastypica of the technical breed, out of his
depth when dedling with anything in the red world of business affairs. Thisman would givein when he
should stand firm, and he d stand firm when he should give in. Tonith had dedlt with hiskind before, but
despite his shortcomings he had his uses.

“|—" B’wuf began.

Tonith cut him short. “Do you own these battle droids? Did you pay for them? Y ou’ re acting asiif

they’ re your own persona property. They' re assets, my dear B'wuf, assetsin an active market and
worthless unlessinvested wisdly, do you understand? It' s my job to make that investment and yoursto
obey my orders. To theletter, B’wuf, to the letter. Now—" Tonith noticed that the entire control center
staff had stopped work and was listening to them. “Y ou, get back to work!”

As one, the technicians spun back to their consoles. Tonith turned back to B’ wuf. “We are being
reinforced very shortly. When they arrive | want this situation cleared up. Keep your infantry moving
forward, closely supported by armor and artillery—"

“But gr, our air assetswere severdly depleted in the battle with General Khamar’ sarmy. Y ou know
successispossble only if guaranteed by, well, full employment and integration of arms.”

“They don’t have any air assets, ether!” Tonith clutched his hands together in frustration.

“But gr, our flest—"

“Our fleet isusdless. Our shipswatch theirs and none dare engage the others, because if just afew are
logt, the balance of power will swing to one side or the other; and none dare cometo our aid here,
becauseif any are taken out of orbit, the other side has an advantage. Blasted credit pinchers,” he swore.
“So none can interfere, we' re on our own until reinforced. When reinforcements arrive, their shipswill
overwhdmwhat’ sleft of the enemy flegt—"

“But S, we have ships blockading Sluis Van. They could lay mines and come hereto—"

“We don't need them. Now get—"

“But gir, for every one of them wekill, they knock out hundreds of our droids!” B’wuf protested, his
face coloring.

“Wéll, do the math! How many of the enemy are there? How many of our droids? Once we crack their
defenses, their casudties will increase, and when they're at |ast routed, we' Il wipe them out to the last
fighter. Now hop toit!”

“But, Admird...” B’wuf drawled.

“Blast it, stop arguing with me!” At the end of his patience, Tonith sgnaled for two guard droidsto
approach. “B’wuf, see that corner over there? Sit down there. You,” he said, turning to the droids. “If he
moves, kill him.”

“Y essr. How much movement beforewekill him?”

Tonith shook hishead in desperation. “If hetriesto, oh, get up, kill him. Otherwise| don’t careif he



scratches hisback dl day long. Oh, and B’ wuf, while you' re over there, keep your blasted mouth shuit.
Now move.”

White-faced, B’ wuf trudged over to the corner and sat down. The two droids placed themselves
directly infront of him. Sowly, B’wuf raised ahand to his head and scratched. Nothing happened. He
sghed.

Tonith strode into the center of the control room. “Y ou heard my orders. Carry them out. As of right
now | am taking personal control of al operations. Now press on, press on! Never mind casudlties. A
little more effort and we'll crack their lines. Victory isamost ours!”

A serving droid rolled up with apot of tea. Eagerly, Tonith poured. “ A spot of tea, anyone?’ he asked,
holding out the pot to the technicians at their arrays. Everyone pretended to be busy. “Very well.” Tonith
shrugged and sipped from his cup. He grinned. Histeeth were as purple as ever.

“Eeeeyaaaaaa! Get some, get some! Comeon, get somel” Erk ydled, firing indiscriminately through the
bunker ports. He couldn’t miss. Every shot disintegrated an infantry battle droid. But they kept on
coming, rank after rank. Artillery lanced into them, but they just closed ranks and marched forward, firing
at the muzzle flashes ahead of them, laying down awithering field of fire asthey advanced.

“Erk! We haveto go! They're overrunning us,” Odie screamed, but Erk just shook his head asif she
were an annoying insect and kept on firing. He had never seen such atarget-rich environment, and it
drove himinto afrenzy of wild destruction.

She seized him by the shoulder and tried to pull him away from the blaster. He bounced her off with his
hip and kept firing.

She could see hundreds of droids surging around their bunker. “ They’ re flanking us! Get off that blaster
and get your belt on. We ve got to get out of here,” she shouted. Scrabbling noises came from the
bunker entrance. Odie snatched up her wegpon and ran to the entrance just in time. Two droids came
clanking down the short steps; she blasted them both. Erk never noticed. He yelled and cursed and fired
and fired and fired.

“Tank droids,” Odie shrieked. “Tank droidsl” She could see two of them through the firing ports,
lumbering along behind the infantry. The tank droids— “crawlers,” because they moved so dowly over
the surface of the ground—were heavily armored, fully automated tracked weagpons platforms used to
support infantry in combat. Their two synchronized forward-mounted blaster cannons had a 180-degree
arc of fire and were used with deadly effect on troop concentrations, vehicles, and bunker complexes.
Dorsd anti-aircraft weapons and grenade launchers supplemented the cannons. Ideally they were
employed in echelon, like a set of Sairs, asthey moved forward, the machines farther back protecting the
flanks of the onesfarther forward.

The ground shook beneath the tank droids as they rolled toward the bunker.

Odie could see the energy bolts of Sayke s artillery being deflected off the behemoths. “ Ceasefire,” she
ydled, beating her fists on his helmet as hard as she could—but he remained imperviousto her warnings.
Hefired on the nearest tank droid. Immediately its blaster module swiveled in the direction of the bunker,
but before it could unleash adevagtating bolt, the ground behind it erupted upward and flipped it forward
to land on its back on top of the bunker.

The countermine Slayke had ordered dug beneath the Separatist mine had intersected its target and gone



off just in timeto break the tank droid charge.
The last thing Odie heard before everything went dark was someone screaming.

Saykelooked at his gaff officers. “ Timeisvery short,” he began. “1 shouldn’t waste it on peeches.
You al know what to do; we planned for alast stand from the beginning.” He paused. “Wéll, thisisit,”
he told them, but it was obviousto them dl that their situation was desperate. |zable, Eliey, and Kaudine
had fallen, and the forward artillery had been withdrawn, aong with the survivors of the overrun outposts,
to aline centered on Judlie, behind the main command post. Thiswas the plan that had been prepared
even before Sayke had landed on Praesitlyn. The enemy had temporarily hated their assault to straighten
their line and bring up reinforcements.

“That' sthe only break we'regoing to get,” Sayke said. “We Il havetimeto form alast line of defense at
Judlie. Withdraw your remaining forces thereimmediately.” He grabbed his blaster and turned away from
the chart table.

He stopped and turned back to his officers. “We dl knew this might happen when we intervened. I'm
sorry it did. | thought Coruscant would come to our aid. Maybe they’ re on the way. No matter. We're
here, they aren’t. When help does arrive we' || have worn these nerfs down to the point whereasingle
Jedi Padawan will be able to kick them to pieces.” He paused. “ Surrender is no option for us, not against
thisarmy, we all know that.” There was one more thing he had to say to his comrades. “If we' ve got to
die, thisisasgood aplace asany. | am proud to have had the privilege of leading you, of sharing your
hardships and your friendship, and | am blessed to have people like you accompany me into the next
world. Let’snot go essy.”

The dozen officers gathered around the chart table snapped to attention, raised their right fists, and
shouted, “ Oooorahhh!”

Erk dowly became aware of an enormous pressure squeezing down on him. He opened his eyes, but
couldn’t see anything. Was it was pitch dark, or had he been blinded? Fighting panic, he managed with
difficulty to free hisarm from the debris pinning it to the bunker floor and brought hiswrist in front of his
eyes. His chrono glowed comfortingly in the dark and he sighed in relief—he hadn’t lost hissight. It was
difficult to breathe with that weight pressing down on him. He moved, and the load shifted and groaned.
It was Odie—she dipped off to one sde, and the two or three large rock fragments that had been
pinning her onto him rolled to the floor.

“Oof.” He could breathe again.
Odie groaned. “ Th-thanksfor getting uskilled,” she gasped at last.

At firgt Erk didn’t know what she meant. Then: “Oh, yeah. | got alot of them, didn’'t 17’ Heflexed his
amsand legs and sat up. Despite multiple bruises and contusions he was dtill in fighting order. He felt
around in the dark, found Odie, and lifted her by her armpits. “Where are you hurt?

“Uhn. | have abig, er, fedslike abig bruise on my hip. Otherwise—" Sheran ahand through her hair
and over her head. “—I think I’'m dl right.” What fdlt like blood crusted one side of her face. With her
fingers she could fed abig gash on that side of her head. “We mudt’ ve lain herefor awhile,” she said,
experimentally fegling the gash. “ The blood’ s clotted.” She felt around her equipment belt and unhooked
the glow rod fastened to it. She pressed the activation stud, and the bunker filled with blessed bright light.
That was the good news. The bad news was that the blast had caved in the front of the bunker and
loosened ahuge dab of rock in the ceiling that had broken into two fragmentswhen it fell, imprisoning the



pair indde a space that tapered, like arocky tent, to about two meters high and three meterswide at the
floor. Odie pressed ahand against the rock. “It' sas solid as—rock,” shesaid. “We' relucky it didn’t fall
right on top of us, or we would have been squashed.” She pressed her hands against one dab and
pushed. “It seems solid enough now, though. Must be gravity and resistance are keeping them upright.”

“WEell, we're not squashed. We have air, and we' re secure and comfortable in thisrocky bower,” Erk
commented wryly.

“Seems we re spending alot of time underground together recently.”

“Yeah. That' sthe only way | can manage to find some time alone with you. How long will that glow rod
lest?

Odie shrugged. “It runs on power cells. | recharged it maybe ten days ago, and | don't think I’ ve used it
much since. | should be good for seventy-five or a hundred hours.”

“WE I be out of herelong before then.” He picked up his helmet and tried to put it on. No good: when it
had been knocked off his head, debris had smashed it. He shook it experimentally, then turned to Odie.
“Try yours”

“lwould, if I could find it.” Shelooked around the confined space. “It’s probably under that rock
somewhere. Fine. We re without communications with the command post. If it still exigts.”

“It does. Count oniit. All right, you' ve kept me in suspense long enough. What' s your plan for getting us
out of here?’

She sniffed. “Well, we both start whistling as loud as we can, and when we reach the right pitch of
sympethetic vibration the rock will just crack open and we Il emerge into the sunlight, like insects coming
out of achrysdis”

Erk stared at her for amoment and then broke into laughter. She joined him. They laughed until the dust
floating in the air made them cough.

“I"'m scared,” Odie confessed after awhile. “We re trapped in here for good, aren’t we?’

Erk didn't answer immediately. She had expressed hisown fears. “Wdll, | guessweare seded in here”
he said after adight pause, as he pressed ahand againgt the rock dab.

“The Republic never did send anyone, did they?’ Odie asked, not redly expecting an answer.
“They sure weren't here when we needed them.”

“We'regoing to diein here, aren't we?’

“Surelookslikeit.” With asigh, he reached down and took her hand.

“Wel die of thirst before we starve, won't we? To think of al we camethrough to end it like this” She
couldn’'t keep the bitter taste of despair out of her voice. She turned the glow rod off to preserveits

power.

Hours passed in the darkness. They whiled away the time reminiscing about better times, friendsand



relaives, music they liked, their homes, fine medsthey’ d eaten. Erk was the more experienced in the
world through histravels, and he was agood raconteur: he made Odie laugh with hiswild tales. They ate
the remainder of the smdll alotment of rations the sergeant had given them when he’ d dropped them at
the bunker. At least they each till had afull canteen of water.

They were quiet for atime after they ate and quenched their thirst. Then Erk drew Odie closer to him
and kissed her. They held each other tightly, until fear and exhaustion overcame them and they fell adeep
in each other’ sarms.

When Erk awoke at last his chrono told him it waslate a night. He swalowed amouthful of water from
his canteen, then nudged Odie awake. “We missed supper,” hetold her. She sat up and ran her hands
through her hair. “Odie, | am not going to diein here! Y ou hear me? We are not going to diein here!”

“How arewe going to avoid it?’ Odie pressed her hand againgt the rock. As before, it was till solid to
the touch.

“| don't know, but we will!”

Daylight was fading fast now. With the exception of just afew wegpons—no morethan a
battery—S ayke' sheavy artillery pieces had al been knocked out. Hisaircraft had al long ago been
destroyed; he didn’'t even have ashuittle craft to get back up to what was | €eft of hisfleet in orbit, not that
anybody was thinking of going anywhere. The enemy’ stroops had paused after taking over the forward
positionsin Sayke sdefensveline, ostensibly to consolidate their position and shorten their linesfor the
find attack and to bring up reinforcements for the find, overwhelming push. It could be only minutes
away now. That wasthe only break Slayke had been given since the assault began. It would give him the
time he needed to prepare for alast stand.

Sayke sat with his eyes glued to the optics that gave him a 360-degree surveillance of theterrain in front
of Judlie

“Sir, hereare our digpositions.”

A saff officer handed him adisplay, and he glanced at it quickly. “Tell dl commandersto hold their
postionsat dl costs. But tel them | give the ranking soldier in each unit permission to disperse before
being overrun. If there’ sany chance for our troops to scatter and escapeinto the desert, they cantry it.
Makethat clear.” The officer saluted and turned to the communications console.

Slayke thought they’ d only die out in the desert, but even so, he consoled himsdlf, they might liveawhile
longer.

A long, ralling artillery barrage began to envelop their positions, shaking the ground around them.

“When that stops, they’ll be coming,” Sayke said to his command staff. “\When they overrun us, anyone
who wantsto try can attempt a breakout. No way am | going to Stay here and fry.”

The optics were no use now; the ground between the two armies was being churned and battered into
dust, making it impossible to see anything. He turned to his staff. Their cheeks and eyes were hollow and
their faces drained of blood, but each il attended to duty, sometalking to the infantry and artillery units,
others checking weapons, equipment, water, and rations. Dust from near hits hung suspended in the
close, humid air around them; an enormous blast shook the bunker and some officer shouted, “Missed
again!” and severd of them laughed. Someone coughed. The officers muttered among themselves, going



through the motions of leading an army that virtualy no longer existed.

An enormous ripping, tearing roar engulfed them, distant and muted &t first, but risng quickly toa
deafening crescendo so profound it made their guts vibrate. It was clearly coming from somewhere
behind them. Sayke pounded afist into hisforehead. Nobody had any doubt what it meant: it wastheir
desth knell.

“He' sbeen reinforced!” Slayke said. “Grab your wegpons and equipment.”

“Lay on!” an officer shouted asthe staff scrambled for the bunker exit. “ At least we' ll diefighting!”

Slaykeraised ablaster rifle over hishead. “Follow me!” he ordered.

Chapter 16
d 4L

Anakin paced the bridge of theNedlian , clenching and unclenching hisfists as he observed the battle
cruisers deploy into attack formation. “I should be out there with them,” he muttered.

“No, you belong here,” Grudo answered. “ That’ sthe plan; everyone agreed to it—youagreed.
Commanders, too, must follow orders. Once the battle plan is gpproved, everyone must follow hisor her
orders. That way, everything works according to the plan. Please, Sit. Y ou’ re making the crew